

Perinatal mental health and inequality

Edited by

Karen Tabb, Heidemarie Kaiser Laurent, Sandraluz Lara-Cinisomo, Amelia Gavin and Crystal Clark

Published in Frontiers in Psychiatry Frontiers in Public Health





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed

in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-670-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-670-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Perinatal mental health and inequality

Topic editors

Karen Tabb — University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States Heidemarie Kaiser Laurent — The Pennsylvania State University (PSU), United States Sandraluz Lara-Cinisomo — University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States Amelia Gavin — University of Washington, United States Crystal Clark — Northwestern University, United States

Citation

Tabb, K., Laurent, H. K., Lara-Cinisomo, S., Gavin, A., Clark, C., eds. (2023). *Perinatal mental health and inequality*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-670-6



Table of contents

04 Living With Parents-In-Law Increased the Risk of Postpartum Depression in Chinese Women

> Songxu Peng, Xin Lai, Jun Qiu, Yukai Du, Jing Yang, Ying Bai, Yanhong Jia, Liping Meng, Kewei Wang and Xiangyang Zhang

- 12 Scaling Up Patient-Centered Psychological Treatments for Perinatal Depression in the Wake of a Global Pandemic Daisy R. Singla, Samantha Meltzer-Brody, Katarina Savel and Richard K. Silver
- 17 Quality of Life in Mothers With Perinatal Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Jiaying Li, Juan Yin, Ahmed Waqas, Zeyu Huang, Hongji Zhang, Manging Chen, Yufei Guo, Atif Rahman, Lei Yang and Xiaomei Li
- 26 Cultural Adaptation of the Mothers and Babies Intervention for Use in Tribal Communities

Erin A. Ward, Ethleen Iron Cloud-Two Dogs, Emma E. Gier, Linda Littlefield and S. Darius Tandon

35 Contributions of COVID-19 Pandemic-Related Stressors to Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Mental Health During Pregnancy

> Lyndsay A. Avalos, Nerissa Nance, Yeyi Zhu, Lisa A. Croen, Kelly C. Young-Wolff, Ousseny Zerbo, Monique M. Hedderson, Assiamira Ferrara, Jennifer L. Ames and Sylvia E. Badon

- 47 Psychological Interventions for Prenatal Anxiety in Latinas and Black Women: A Scoping Review and Recommendations Carolyn Ponting, Guido G. Urizar jr. and Christine Dunkel Schetter
- 58 Home Visiting as an Equitable Intervention for Perinatal Depression: A Scoping Review Karen M. Tabb, Brandie Bentley, Maria Pineros Leano,

Shannon D. Simonovich, Nichole Nidey, Kate Ross, Wen-hao David Huang and Hsiang Huang

66 Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Suicidal Ideation Among Brazilian Pregnant Women: A Population-Based Study

> Alexandre Faisal-Cury, Daniel Maurício Oliveira Rodrigues, Alicia Matijasevich, Fernanda Tarpinian and Karen Tabb

- 76 Black Perinatal Mental Health: Prioritizing Maternal Mental Health to Optimize Infant Health and Wellness Tracey Estriplet, Isabel Morgan, Kelly Davis, Joia Crear Perry and Kay Matthews
- 84 Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated With Postpartum Depressive Symptoms Among Women in Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR

Amkha Xayyabouapha, Vanphanom Sychareun, Bui Thi Tu Quyen, Manivone Thikeo and Jo Durham

91 Faith Practices Reduce Perinatal Anxiety and Depression in Muslim Women: A Mixed-Methods Scoping Review

Shannon D. Simonovich, Nadia Quad, Zehra Kanji and Karen M. Tabb





Living With Parents-In-Law Increased the Risk of Postpartum Depression in Chinese Women

Songxu Peng¹, Xin Lai¹, Jun Qiu², Yukai Du³, Jing Yang⁴, Ying Bai⁴, Yanhong Jia⁴, Liping Meng^{4*}, Kewei Wang^{2*} and Xiangyang Zhang^{5*}

¹ Department of Maternal and Child Health, Xiangya School of Public Health, Central South University, Changsha, China, ² Department of Children's Intensive Research Center, Hunan Children's Hospital, Changsha, China, ³ Department of Maternal and Child Health, School of Public Health, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, ⁴ Department of Public Health, Baoan Maternal and Child Health Hospital, Jinan University, Shenzhen, China, ⁵ CAS Key Laboratory of Mental Health, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandraluz Lara-Cinisomo, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Miao Qu, Capital Medical University, China Soonhyung Kwon, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

*Correspondence:

Liping Meng mlpyy@163.com Kewei Wang wangkw78@163.com Xiangyang Zhang zhangxy@psych.ac.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 05 July 2021 Accepted: 02 December 2021 Published: 20 December 2021

Citation:

Peng S, Lai X, Qiu J, Du Y, Yang J, Bai Y, Jia Y, Meng L, Wang K and Zhang X (2021) Living With Parents-In-Law Increased the Risk of Postpartum Depression in Chinese Women. Front. Psychiatry 12:736306. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.736306 **Background:** A variety of psychological and socioeconomic factors contribute to the development of postpartum depression (PPD). However, the relationship between maternal living arrangements and PPD is unclear.

Objective: To assess the relationship between maternal living arrangements and PPD in Chinese population.

Methods: A cross-sectional survey was conducted among puerperal women delivered in Baoan Maternal and Child Health Hospital in Shenzhen, China. The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) was used to assess PPD. A score of \geq 10 was used as the threshold for postpartum depression.

Results: A total of 4,813 women were recruited, of whom 2,535 (52.7%) lived only with their husbands, 664 (13.8%) lived with their parents, and 1,614 (33.5%) lived with their parents-in-law. Compared with women who lived with husbands, puerperal women who lived with their parents-in-law were more likely to be positive for PPD screening (14.1 vs. 10.5%, P < 0.001). After adjusting for other influencing factors, living with parents-in-law was significantly associated with the risk of PPD (OR = 1.38, 95% Cl, 1.12–1.70). Additionally, stratification analyses showed that the association between living with parents-in-law and the presence of PPD was more significant in women with anxiety during pregnancy (P for interaction <0.05).

Conclusions and Relevance: Our data confirms that the maternal living arrangements affect the risk of PPD, especially among women with anxiety during pregnancy. Therefore, more targeted preventive measures should be taken for postpartum depression in women who live with their parents-in-law.

Keywords: postpartum depression, living arrangements, interaction, parents-in-law, risk

4

INTRODUCTION

Postpartum depression (PPD) is a common perinatal complication, affecting 0.5–60% of women worldwide (1, 2). A recent systematic review reported that pooled prevalence of PPD in China was 15% (3). There is accumulating evidence that PPD increases the risk of death for mothers and children (4). Mothers with PPD tend to have a poor marital relationship and impaired social function (5, 6). Previous studies have shown that maternal PPD can impair the cognitive, emotional, and physical development of offspring in infancy, childhood and even adolescence (7–9). Findings from published studies have identified several risk factors associated with PPD, including lack of social support, adverse childhood experiences, stressful life events, unsatisfactory marital relationship, and fetal or neonatal health problems (10–14). It has been hypothesized that there may be underlying biological mechanisms behind these associations.

Personal living arrangements are viewed as an important factor affecting health (15-17). However, previous studies mainly focused on the health problems of the elderly (18, 19). Among older adults, living together is a protective factor for physical and mental health due to daily care and emotional support, which may have the same effect in maternal groups. But few studies have focused with interest on the relationship between living arrangements and the health of puerperal women. In China, multi-generation families used to be the main living arrangement, and puerperal women were usually looked after by their parents-in-law (20). As a result, puerperal women may obtain more family support, which may buffer the risk of PPD. In Chinese traditional culture, offspring are expected to obey their parents, and daughter-in-law are even expected to be submissive in a shared living environment (21-23). However, with economic development and alterations in social factors including the increase in the level of education and the spread of scientific knowledge of parenting, significant changes have taken place among women in the puerperium (24). Hence, living together can easily lead to family conflicts and adversely affect maternal mental health due to the differences in thinking and parenting concepts between older parents and younger mothers. It is therefore a key question as to whether such living arrangements may exacerbate or buffer the risk of PPD in these puerperal women.

A preliminary investigation by Honjo et al. (25) used a national cohort study database to assess the association between co-resident family members and PPD risk and ultimately reported a positive association between living with parents-inlaw and PPD risk. However, this study failed to adjust for prenatal emotional factors known to influence PPD, including depression and anxiety during pregnancy. Another cross-sectional study from China found that living with in-laws was associated with an increased risk of PPD (20). However, this study did not explore whether this association was modified by other factors. Furthermore, a Pakistani study yielded inconsistent results with a reduced risk of PPD among women in the puerperium who lived with their in-laws (26). Therefore, this association between maternal living arrangements and PPD remains to be verified.

As China's two-child policy opens up and more mothers begin to have children, they may face cohabitation between

mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law. Hence, understanding this relationship is essential for targeting interventions that will reach the most vulnerable in China and other Asian countries where most puerperal women live in multi-generational families. Therefore, we performed this cross-sectional survey to investigate the relationship between maternal living arrangements and the risk of PPD among Chinese women, and explore whether this association was modified by other factors.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This cross-sectional survey was conducted at Baoan Maternity and Child Health Hospital in Shenzhen, China from January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016. The Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (EPDS) was used to screen all women who gave birth in this hospital and returned to the hospital for routine follow-up 6 weeks after delivery. A total of 5,756 women were invited to participate in this study. Of them, 5,043 (87.6%) women agreed to fill out the questionnaire through face-to-face interviews. Subsequently, 230 participants were excluded due to incomplete data on living conditions or PPD. Finally, this study included 4,813 participants.

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Committee of Baoan Maternity and Child Health Hospital, Jinan University. The methodology followed the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects provided written informed consent forms for participation.

Measures

Maternal Living Arrangement

Information about the maternal living arrangements was obtained by asking the following question: Who did you live with after childbirth? In the current study, the living arrangements were divided into three categories: living only with husband, living with parents, and living with parents-in-law.

Screening for Postpartum Depression

The Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (EPDS) was used to assess postpartum depression. EPDS consists of 10 items, each with a score of 0–3. The total score ranges from 0 to 30, the higher the score, the greater the risk of PPD. The EPDS has been translated and validated in many countries, with various cut-off points during the postnatal period, such as Turkey (12.5) (27), Malta (11.5) (28), Spain (10.5) (29), and India (8.5) (30). In 1998, Lee et al. translated and validated the Chinese version of the EPDS and identified 9/10 as the optimal cut-off for the study population. Using this cut-off value, the sensitivity of the scale was 82% and the specificity was 86% (31). In this study, a score \geq 10 was considered an indicator of PPD, which was consistent with previous study (32). The Cronbach's alpha value of this study was 0.826.

Assessment of Covariates

A self-designed questionnaire was used to collect sociodemographic data such as age, education level, employment status, and reproductive history, as well as psychiatric history. Also, we collected pregnancy-related data including gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), depression and anxiety during pregnancy, pregnancy-induced hypertension (PIH), stressful life events, mode of delivery, gestational age, birth weight, fetal sex, malformation, and feeding pattern. We then checked the accuracy of these data based on the participants' medical records.

Statistical Analysis

The continuous variables were expressed as means \pm standard deviations (SDs), and the categorical data was present as numbers and proportion (%). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to examine the differences between continuous variables, and chisquared tests were used to compare the categorical data. PPD was considered a dependent variable (dummy code, $0 = n_0$, 1 = yes), and several logistic regression models were used to estimate the odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) between maternal living arrangements and PPD risk. Subgroup analyses were performed stratified by age (<35, \geq 35 years), education level (junior or below, senior middle school, college, or university), employment status (full-time, selfemployed, housewife, other), primipara (yes, no), GDM (yes, no), depression during pregnancy (yes, no), anxiety during pregnancy (yes, no), stressful life events (yes, no), male infant (yes, no), cesarean delivery (yes, no), preterm birth (yes, no), low birth weight (yes, no), and feeding pattern at 6 weeks (exclusive, partial, formula only). The multiplicative interaction was tested by a likelihood ratio test in logistic regression model to assess the interaction between other variables and living arrangements. The statistical significance was evaluated at the level of 5% (two-tailed test). Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 18.0 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Sociodemographic and Pregnancy-Related Characteristics of Participants

Of the 4,813 puerperal women enrolled in this study, 559 (11.6%) were considered to have PPD. The average age of the participants was 29 years, with an interquartile range from 27 to 32 years old. According to the puerperal women's living arrangements, we divided these women into three groups: (1) living only with their husband; (2) living with their parents; and (3) living with their parents-in-law. The numbers of women in these three groups were 2,535 (52.7%), 664 (13.8%), and 1,614 (33.5%), respectively, and the corresponding prevalence of PPD was 10.5, 9.8, and 14.1%, respectively (shown in **Figure 1**). The prevalence of PPD was significantly different between women living only with husbands and women living with parents-in-law (P < 0.001). However, there was no significant difference in the prevalence of PPD between women living with parents and women living only with husbands (P > 0.05).

Table 1showsthedemographiccharacteristicsandpregnancy-related factorsofthethreegroups. Womenlivingwiththeirparents-in-lawwereyoungerandhadlowerratesofprimiparaandcesareansectionthanwomenintheothertwogroups.Inaddition,thereweresignificantdifferencesineducationlevel,employmentstatus,andbreastfeeding



status at 6 weeks among the three groups. However, other demographic characteristics or pregnancy-related factors did not show significant differences among the groups, in terms of past psychiatric history, family history of mental illness, GDM, PIH, depression, and anxiety during pregnancy, stressful life events, male infant, preterm birth, low birth weight, and malformation.

Living Arrangement and PPD Risk

The results of the unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression analyses are listed in Table 2. We used four logistic regression models to control for the confounders of PPD. Model 1 (the unadjusted model) showed that women who lived with their parents-in-law (OR = 1.40; 95% CI, 1.16-1.70) had a higher risk of developing PPD than women who lived only with their husbands. Model 2 indicated that women living with their parents-in-law (OR = 1.38; 95% CI, 1.14-1.67) had an increased risk of developing PPD after adjusting for age, education, employment status, past, and family history of mental illness. In previous studies (33, 34), these covariates have been reported to be associated with the PPD risk. In Model 3, we adjusted for the effects of parity, GDM, PIH, depression and anxiety during pregnancy, and stressful life events on outcome variable, and we observed that women who lived with their parents-inlaw had a significantly higher risk of developing PPD (OR = 1.40; 95% CI, 1.14-1.72) than those who only lived with their husbands. Finally, in Model 4, we made additional adjustments for the infant sex, mode of delivery, preterm birth, low birth weight, malformation, and feeding pattern at 6 weeks, which were also risk factors for PPD. The ORs remained statistically significant, with a value of 1.38 (95% CI, 1.12-1.70) for women who lived with parents-in-law compared with women who only lived with their husbands. However, in the 4 models, there was no significant difference in the risk of PPD between women who lived with their parents and those who lived only with husbands.

TABLE 1 | Social-demographic characteristics according to PPD status of women.

Characteristics	Living only with husband	Living with parents	Living with parents-in-law	P-value
	(<i>n</i> = 2,535)	(<i>n</i> = 664)	(<i>n</i> = 1,614)	
Age at birth (years)	29.78 ± 4.29	29.88 ± 4.30	28.65 ± 4.06	<0.001
Education age	13.61 ±2.70	14.16 ± 2.56	14.01 ± 2.51	<0.001
Education level				<0.001
Junior middle school or less	313 (12.3%)	62 (9.3%)	154 (9.5%)	
Senior middle school	782 (30.8%)	161 (24.2%)	426 (26.4%)	
College or university	1,440 (56.8%)	441 (66.4%)	1,034 (64.1%)	
Employment status				0.001
Full-time employed	1,437 (56.7%)	385 (58.0%)	976 (60.5%)	
Self-employed	399 (15.7%)	111 (16.7%)	196 (12.1%)	
Housewife	263 (10.4%)	47 (7.1%)	140 (8.7%)	
Other	436 (17.2%)	121 (18.2%)	302 (18.2%)	
Past psychiatric history	24 (0.9%)	7 (1.1%)	7 (0.4%)	0.135
Family history of mental illness	37 (1.5%)	5 (0.8%)	27 (1.7%)	0.242
Primipara	1,167 (46.0%)	292 (44.0%)	637 (39.5%)	<0.001
Gestational diabetes mellitus	185 (7.3%)	44 (6.6%)	117 (7.2%)	0.832
Pregnancy-induced hypertension	105 (4.1%)	20 (3.0%)	47 (2.9%)	0.081
Depression during pregnancy	178 (7.0%)	46 (6.9%)	135 (8.4%)	0.236
Anxiety during pregnancy	420 (16.6%)	107 (16.1%)	284 (17.6%)	0.594
Stressful life events	97 (3.8%)	28 (4.2%)	72 (4.5%)	0.594
Male infant	1,342 (52.9%)	352 (53.0%)	854 (52.9%)	0.999
Cesarean delivery	884 (34.9%)	232 (34.9%)	489 (30.3%)	0.006
Gestational weeks	38.87 ±1.59	38.79 ± 1.82	38.88 ± 1.63	0.456
Preterm birth	145 (5.7%)	43 (6.5%)	86 (5.3%)	0.560
Birth weight	3219.02 ±467.26	3215.21 ± 492.76	3208.20 ± 464.89	0.770
Low birth weight	125 (4.9%)	38 (5.7%)	78 (4.8%)	0.655
Malformation	56 (2.2%)	10 (1.5%)	31 (1.9%)	0.490
Breastfeeding status at 6 weeks				<0.001
Exclusive	1,640 (64.7%)	368 (55.4%)	938 (58.1%)	
Partial	773 (30.5%)	252 (38.0%)	571 (35.4%)	
Formula only	122 (4.8%)	44 (6.6%)	105 (6.5%)	

TABLE 2 | OR (95% CI) of postpartum depression according to puerperal women's living situation.

Characteristics	Living only with husband	Living with parents	P-value	Living with parents-in-law	P-value
No. of participants	2,535	664	-	1,614	_
Model 1	Ref.	0.93 (0.70-1.23)	0.596	1.40 (1.16–1.70)	< 0.001
Model 2	Ref.	0.96 (0.72-1.28)	0.763	1.38 (1.14–1.67)	0.001
Model 3	Ref.	0.97 (0.72-1.32)	0.868	1.40 (1.14–1.72)	0.001
Model 4	Ref.	0.95 (0.70–1.29)	0.739	1.38 (1.12–1.70)	0.002

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval.

Model 1: unadjusted.

Model 2: adjusted for age, education level, employment status, past psychiatric history, family history of mental illness.

Model 3: adjusted for covariates in model 2 and parity, GDM, PIH, depression during pregnancy, anxiety during pregnancy, stressful life events.

Model 4: adjusted for covariates in model 3 and infant gender, mode of delivery, preterm birth, low birth weight, malformation, feeding method at 6 weeks.

Interaction of Other Variables and Living Arrangement

Stratification analyses revealed that the association between living with parents-in-law and the presence of PPD was

more significant in women with anxiety during pregnancy (P for interaction <0.05). No interaction was observed between livingwith parents-in-law and the presence of PPD in women with any other variables (P for interaction >0.05) (**Figure 2**).

PPD	OR(95% CI) <i>P</i> for interaction
Overall H	1.38(1.12-1.70)
Age	0.76
<35	1.39(1.12-1.74)
>35	1.62(0.78-3.44)
Education level	0.90
Junior middle school or less	1.48(0.74-2.97)
Senior middle school	1.42(0.97-2.08)
College or university	1.34(1.03-1.76)
Employment status	0.68
Full-time employed	1.49(1.15-1.95)
Self-employed	1.09(0.62-1.93)
Housewife	1.18(0.61-2.30)
Other	1.41(0.75-2.64)
Primipara	0.84
Yes	1.30(0.92-1.84)
No	1.42(1.10-1.85)
GDM	0.62
Yes	1.22(0.55-2.73)
No	1.42(1.15-1.77)
Depression during pregnancy	0.70
Yes	1.55(0.95-2.55)
	1.36(1.08-1.71)
	0.02
Anxiety during pregnancy	
Yes	1.90(1.34-2.67)
	1.17(0.90-1.52)
Stressful life events	0.58
Yes	1.22(0.46-3.24)
No Hand	1.38(1.11-1.70)
Male infant	0.64
Yes	1.49(1.12-1.99)
No	1.30(0.96-1.75)
Caesarean delivery	0.96
Yes	1.37(0.94-1.99)
No H	1.41(1.10-1.81)
Preterm birth	0.56
Yes	1.20(0.49-2.94)
No Hereit	1.43(1.15-1.77)
Low birth weight	0.45
Yes	1.91(0.70-5.22)
No Herei	1.37(1.11-1.70)
Breastfeeding status at 6 weeks	0.12
Exclusive	1.60(1.22-2.09)
Partial	1.13(0.80-1.60)
Formula only	1.02(0.33-3.13)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
0.0 1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0	5.0 6.0

FIGURE 2 Adjusted odds ratios for prevalence of PPD stratified by age, education, employment, parity, GDM, depression during pregnancy, anxiety during pregnancy, stressful life events, infant gender, mode of delivery, preterm birth, low birth weight, feeding method at 6 weeks. Analyses are adjusted for age, education, employment, past psychiatric history, family history of mental illness, parity, GDM, PIH, depression during pregnancy, anxiety during pregnancy, stressful life events, infant gender, mode of delivery, preterm birth, low birth weight, feeding method at 6 weeks.

DISCUSSION

This study showed that women living with their parentsin-law were younger, and had fewer childbirth experiences, lower cesarean section rate, a higher education level, employment rate, and formula feeding rate. In addition, our study suggested that maternal living arrangements were associated with the risk of PPD. Women who lived with their parents-in-law had an increased risk of developing PPD, independent of other PPD risk factors. However, these women living with their parents did not show an increased risk of PPD.

Our study showed that living with parents-in-law was associated with a higher risk of PPD in puerperal women, which is consistent with previous studies (20, 25). The preliminary investigation conducted by Wang et al. indicated that mothers living with their parents-in-law had an additional risk for PPD in the Chinese population, with an OR value of 2.48 (95% CI: 1.20, 5.15) (20). Additionally, a large-scale cohort study in Japan found that puerperal women who did not live with their parents-in-law had a lower risk of PPD compared with those who lived with these family members (25), suggesting that co-residency with parents-in-law may damage postpartum mental status. However, a study in Nepal focused on similar areas reported that postpartum depression was associated with living in nuclear families, and puerperal women living in nuclear families had an increased risk of PPD than women living in extended families (OR 48.5) (35). However, the reliability of their results is limited due to the small sample size.

Previous surveys have shown that disharmony between mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law increases the risk of PPD among Chinese women (32, 36). In China, the contradiction between mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law is very common, especially those who live together. In the traditional concept, daughters-in-law should respect their elders and obey the wills of the elders. However, the new generation of women have received more education and have different thoughts and concepts. For those who take care of their children, new mothers may stand up for what they believe is right, which may be against the wills of their elders. Traditional concepts are challenged by modern thinking patterns, which leads to intense in-law conflicts within the families, partly explaining why living with parents-in-law increases the risk of PPD risk in puerperal women.

We observed an interaction between living with parentsin-law and anxiety during pregnancy in the presence of PPD. The relationship between living with their parents-inlaw and the presence of PPD was more obvious among anxious mothers. To the best of our knowledge, no evidence is available for the interaction between living with parentsin-law and anxiety during pregnancy on the risk of PPD. However, it has been noticed that anxiety during pregnancy is associated with a poor marital relationship (37), which is identified to be a typical risk factor for PPD. Additionally, anxiety can easily lead to tension and irritability (38), which can lead to bad interpersonal relationships among women. Therefore, we speculate that women who experience anxiety during pregnancy are more likely to have poor family relationships, including marital relationships and in-law relationships, resulting in a higher risk of PPD for women who live with their parents-in-law.

LIMITATIONS

There is no doubt that this study has several limitations. First, our study was cross-sectional in design, and we could not infer the causal relationship between living with parentsin-law and the risk of PPD. Therefore, a cohort study is needed to verify this causal relationship. Second, we did not collect data on the relationship between mothers-inlaw and daughters-in-law, which prevents us from exploring whether living with parents-in-law affects the risk of PPD in puerperal women because of an unsatisfactory relationship between mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law. Third, EPDS is only a tool for screening PPD, not a diagnostic tool. Further diagnosis requires the professional judgment by a psychiatrist.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, our study demonstrated that living with their parents-in-law was associated with the risk of PPD among Chinese puerperal women. Furthermore, anxiety during pregnancy may mediate the relationship between living with parents-in-law and PPD. The effect of maternal living arrangements on PPD should be taken into consideration to prevent PPD. Further studies are needed to explore specific mechanisms underlying this association.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Committee of Baoan Maternity and Child Health Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SP did the statistical analysis and drafted the initial manuscript. XL, JQ, and YD contributed to assist with data collection and revised the manuscript. JY, YB, and YJ took part in the sample collection. LM, KW, and XZ contributed to the critical revision of the article. All authors contributed significantly to this work and have approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank our colleagues in collaborated hospitals who contributed to data collection.

REFERENCES

- Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. *Obstet Gynecol* 106(5 Pt 1). (2005) 1071–83. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597.31630.db
- Norhayati MN, Hazlina NH, Asrenee AR, Emilin WM. Magnitude and risk factors for postpartum symptoms: a literature review. J Affect Disord. (2015) 175:34–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.041
- Nisar A, Yin J, Waqas A, Bai X, Wang D, Rahman A, et al. Prevalence of perinatal depression and its determinants in Mainland China: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:1022– 37. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.046
- Gelaye B, Rondon MB, Araya R, Williams MA. Epidemiology of maternal depression, risk factors, and child outcomes in lowincome and middle-income countries. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2016) 3:973–82. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30284-X
- Gutierrez-Lobos K, Scherer M, Anderer P, Katschnig H. The influence of age on the female/male ratio of treated incidence rates in depression. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2002) 2:3. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-2-3
- Posmontier B. Functional status outcomes in mothers with and without postpartum depression. J Midwifery Womens Health. (2008) 53:310– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2008.02.016
- Verbeek T, Bockting CL, van Pampus MG, Ormel J, Meijer JL, Hartman CA, et al. Postpartum depression predicts offspring mental health problems in adolescence independently of parental lifetime psychopathology. J Affect Disord. (2012) 136:948–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011. 08.035
- Closa-Monasterolo R, Gispert-Llaurado M, Canals J, Luque V, Zaragoza-Jordana M, Koletzko B, et al. The effect of postpartum depression and current mental health problems of the mother on child behaviour at eight years. *Matern Child Health J*. (2017) 21:1563–72. doi: 10.1007/s10995-017-2288-x
- Abdollahi F, Zarghami M. Effect of postpartum depression on women's mental and physical health four years after childbirth. *East Mediterr Health J.* (2018) 24:1002–9. doi: 10.26719/2018.24. 10.1002
- O'Hara MW. Postpartum depression: what we know. J Clin Psychol. (2009) 65:1258–69. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20644
- 11. Helle N, Barkmann C, Bartz-Seel J, Diehl T, Ehrhardt S, Hendel A, et al. Very low birth-weight as a risk factor for postpartum depression four to six weeks postbirth in mothers and fathers: Cross-sectional results from a controlled multicentre cohort study. *J Affect Disord.* (2015) 180:154–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.04.001
- Qobadi M, Collier C, Zhang L. The effect of stressful life events on postpartum depression: findings from the 2009-2011 mississippi pregnancy risk assessment monitoring system. *Matern Child Health J.* (2016) 20(Suppl 1):164–72. doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-2028-7
- de Paula Eduardo JAF, de Rezende MG, Menezes PR, Del-Ben CM. Preterm birth as a risk factor for postpartum depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Affect Disord. (2019) 259:392–403. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.08.069
- Zhang S, Wang L, Yang T, Chen L, Qiu X, Wang T, et al. Maternal violence experiences and risk of postpartum depression: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2019) 55:90–101. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018. 10.005
- 15. Chiu CT. Living arrangements and disability-free life PLoS ONE. (2019)expectancy in the United States. 14:e0211894. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211894
- Hu Y, Ruiz M, Bobak M, Martikainen P. Do multigenerational living arrangements influence depressive symptoms in mid-late life? Crossnational findings from China and England. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:584– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.142
- Roystonn K, Abdin E, Shahwan S, Zhang Y, Sambasivam R, Vaingankar JA, et al. Living arrangements and cognitive abilities of communitydwelling older adults in Singapore. *Psychogeriatrics*. (2020) 20:625– 35. doi: 10.1111/psyg.12532
- An JY, An K, O'Connor L, Wexler S. Life satisfaction, selfesteem, and perceived health status among elder Korean

women: focus on living arrangements. J Transcult Nurs. (2008) 19:151–60. doi: 10.1177/1043659607313070

- Zhou Z, Mao F, Ma J, Hao S, Qian ZM, Elder K, et al. A Longitudinal analysis of the association between living arrangements and health among older adults in China. *Res Aging.* (2018) 40:72–97. doi: 10.1177/0164027516 680854
- Wang YY, Li H, Wang YJ, Wang H, Zhang YR, Gong L, et al. Living with parents or with parents-in-law and postpartum depression: a preliminary investigation in China. J Affect Disord. (2017) 218:335– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.04.052
- Wang SY, Jiang XY, Jan WC, Chen CH. A comparative study of postnatal depression and its predictors in Taiwan and mainland China. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2003) 189:1407–12. doi: 10.1067/S0002-9378(03)0 0673-2
- Lee DT, Yip AS, Leung TY, Chung TK. Ethnoepidemiology of postnatal depression. Prospective multivariate study of sociocultural risk factors in a Chinese population in Hong Kong. Br J Psychiatry. (2004) 184:34– 40. doi: 10.1192/bjp.184.1.34
- Cheng ST, Chan AC. Filial piety and psychological well-being in well older Chinese. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. (2006) 61:P262– 269. doi: 10.1093/geronb/61.5.P262
- Leung SK, Arthur D, Martinson IM. Perceived stress and support of the Chinese postpartum ritual "doing the month". *Health Care Women Int.* (2005) 26:212–24. doi: 10.1080/07399330590917771
- 25. Honjo K, Kimura T, Baba S, Ikehara S, Kitano N, Sato T, et al. Association between family members and risk of postpartum depression in Japan: Does "who they live with" matter? *Japan Environ Children's Study. Soc Sci Med.* (2018) 217:65–72. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2018. 09.043
- Rahman A, Iqbal Z, Harrington R. Life events, social support and depression in childbirth: perspectives from a rural community in the developing world. *Psychol Med.* (2003) 33:1161–7. doi: 10.1017/S00332917030 08286
- Aydin N, Inandi T, Yigit A, Hodoglugil NN. Validation of the Turkish version of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale among women within their first postpartum year. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2004) 39:483– 6. doi: 10.1007/s00127-004-0770-4
- Felice E, Saliba J, Grech V, Cox J. Validation of the Maltese version of the Edinburgh postnatal depression scale. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2006) 9:75–80. doi: 10.1007/s00737-005-0099-3
- Garcia-Esteve L, Ascaso C, Ojuel J, Navarro P. Validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) in Spanish mothers. J Affect Disord. (2003) 75:71–6. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(02)00020-4
- Vengadavaradan A, Bharadwaj B, Sathynarayanan G, Durairaj J, Rajaa S. Translation, validation and factor structure of the Tamil version of the Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire (PBQ-T). Asian J Psychiatr. (2019) 40:62– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2019.01.018
- Lee DT, Yip SK, Chiu HF, Leung TY, Chan KP, Chau IO, et al. Detecting postnatal depression in Chinese women. Validation of the Chinese version of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. *Br J Psychiatry*. (1998) 172:433– 7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.172.5.433
- Xiong R, Deng A, Wan B, Liu Y. Prevalence and factors associated with postpartum depression in women from single-child families. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2018) 141:194–9. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12461
- Miyake Y, Tanaka K, Sasaki S, Hirota Y. Employment, income, and education and risk of postpartum depression: the Osaka Maternal and Child Health Study. J Affect Disord. (2011) 130:133–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010. 10.024
- 34. Guintivano J, Sullivan PF, Stuebe AM, Penders T, Thorp J, Rubinow DR, et al. Adverse life events, psychiatric history, and biological predictors of postpartum depression in an ethnically diverse sample of postpartum women. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:1190–200. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717 002641
- 35. Khadka R, Hong SA, Chang YS. Prevalence and determinants of poor sleep quality and depression among postpartum women: a communitybased study in Ramechhap district, Nepal. Int Health. (2019) 12:125– 31. doi: 10.1093/inthealth/ihz032

- Deng AW, Xiong RB, Jiang TT, Luo YP, Chen WZ. Prevalence and risk factors of postpartum depression in a population-based sample of women in Tangxia Community, Guangzhou. Asian Pac J Trop Med. (2014) 7:244– 9. doi: 10.1016/S1995-7645(14)60030-4
- Gourounti K, Anagnostopoulos F, Sandall J. Poor marital support associate with anxiety and worries during pregnancy in Greek pregnant women. *Midwifery.* (2014) 30:628–35. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2013. 10.008
- Tyrer P, Baldwin D. Generalised anxiety disorder. Lancet. (2006) 368:2156– 66. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69865-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Peng, Lai, Qiu, Du, Yang, Bai, Jia, Meng, Wang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Scaling Up Patient-Centered Psychological Treatments for Perinatal Depression in the Wake of a Global Pandemic

Daisy R. Singla 1,2,3*, Samantha Meltzer-Brody⁴, Katarina Savel² and Richard K. Silver⁵

¹ Campbell Family Mental Health Research Institute, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, Toronto, ON, Canada, ² Lunenfeld Tanenbaum Research Institute, Sinai Health, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Department of Psychiatry, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ⁵ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, North Shore University Health System, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

There is a call to action to reduce the public health burden of perinatal depression worldwide. The COVID-19 pandemic has further highlighted significant gaps in perinatal mental health care, especially among women who identify as Black, Indigenous, People of Color (BIPOC). While psychotherapeutic (cognitive, behavioral and interpersonal) interventions are endorsed for perinatal mood disorders, barriers to access and uptake contribute to inequitable access to treatment at the population level. To effectively address these barriers and increase the scalability of psychotherapy among perinatal women, we suggest four pragmatic questions to be answered from a patient-centered lens; namely, "who," "what," "how," and "when." Promising avenues include task-sharing among mental health non-specialists, an emphasis on culturally sensitive care, web-based delivery of psychotherapy with some caveats, and a lifespan approach to perinatal mental health. Innovative research efforts are seeking to validate these approaches in diverse contexts across North America and the UK, lending optimism toward scalable and long-term solutions for equitable perinatal mental health care.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karen Tabb, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by: Emma Motrico, Loyola Andalusia University, Spain

> ***Correspondence:** Daisy R. Singla daisy.singla@utoronto.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 November 2021 Accepted: 31 December 2021 Published: 07 February 2022

Citation:

Singla DR, Meltzer-Brody S, Savel K and Silver RK (2022) Scaling Up Patient-Centered Psychological Treatments for Perinatal Depression in the Wake of a Global Pandemic. Front. Psychiatry 12:826019. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.826019 Keywords: task sharing, perinatal depression, health equity, telemedicine, psychotherapy

INTRODUCTION

The past 2 years have highlighted that barriers and mental health problems are exacerbated for perinatal populations during COVID (1, 2), and even more so for women of color (3, 4). Perinatal (pregnant and postpartum) women face major psychological stressors that put them at higher risk of developing common mental health disorders, such as depression and anxiety (5). Yet limited access to and uptake of traditional mental healthcare has resulted in inequitable access to treatment, especially given the COVID-19 pandemic.

Cognitive, behavioral and interpersonal therapies are all effective in addressing perinatal depression and comorbid anxiety. The US Preventive Services Task Force (UTPSTF) made headlines in 2019 by endorsing evidence-based psychotherapy as a preventative strategy for women at-risk for perinatal mood disorders (6). While the UTPSTF endorsement of psychotherapies for perinatal mood disorders was a welcome public health development, adoption of this recommendation poses significant challenges to our current models for delivering these

interventions at the population level. In the USA and Canada, as few as 20% of women have access to minimally-adequate treatments for depression including psychotherapy (6), and other substantive barriers to treatment include transportation, childcare obligations, and mental health stigma. Proven treatment strategies that are available are currently compromised by a critical shortage of mental health professionals and a lack of patient-centered, culturally-sensitive care. Furthermore, there is a substantial gap in the existing literature on delivery of psychotherapies, including a dearth of large-scale studies, limited evaluation of the implementation of proven technological innovations and a lack of individually-tailored intervention trials (7).

Overcoming this dilemma requires innovative solutions to address four salient questions; namely, "who," "what," "how," and "when" evidence-based psychotherapies can be delivered from a patient-centered lens. Answers to these questions will go a long way toward a solution to this pressing public health issue that has been made worse by the pandemic.

Who

There will never be enough specialist providers to address the treatment gap for perinatal depression and anxiety. One innovation to improve access to care is task sharing-the rational redistribution of tasks (8) to train non (mental health) specialist providers (NSPs) to deliver psychotherapy with appropriate levels of supervision. NSPs are individuals with no specialized degree in mental health and range from community health workers, peers and lay counselors, to midwives, teachers, and nurses. The specific type of NSP depends on the context. In the past three decades, task sharing has gained a growing popularity worldwide with applications for perinatal mental health specifically in low- and middle-income countries (9), as well as high-income countries, such as the USA and Canada (10). NSP-delivered mental health interventions were shown to be effective across the globe, targeting primary care attendees, with a range of depressive symptoms, including those at high-risk based on self-report measures. Notably, these populations were ethnically diverse, including low-income and minority groups as well as urban populations. Further research is required to test models including other key family members, including partners and children. Both have been successfully integrated within NSPdelivered interventions in low-resource settings in India (11), Pakistan (12), and Uganda (13).

A key question is overcoming professional guilds to best address how to implement this model within pragmatic contexts and whether they are sustainable (14). Evidence is also lacking as to whether specialists and non-specialists are comparable in resolving perinatal depressive symptoms when delivering *identical* treatment. The opportunity to train and leverage a cadre of capable paraprofessionals, some of whom are already embedded in the existing obstetrical care team, has significant implications for access, feasibility and cost of treatment.

What

While psychotherapies are generally effective across cultural groups and problem areas (15), engagement remains significantly

lower among BIPOC (Black, Indigenous, Persons of Color) perinatal women compared to their white counterparts (16). BIPOC women are less likely to access and continue mental health services (17, 18) due to racialized barriers that include experiences of discrimination and racial micro-aggression, mistrust of healthcare providers, and reduced quality of services (18–20). In a recent study of 30 perinatal women from the United States, greater attention to cultural factors and social determinants of health was highly recommended (21). An explicit focus on culturally-sensitive and patient-centered care for BIPOC perinatal women is needed.

One solution that some evidence-based psychotherapies offer is to facilitate an idiosyncratic and process-oriented model. By idiosyncratic, the therapy provider collaboratively explores and often maps the patient's individual context, individual values as well as goals and behaviors to guide the content of the conversation while expressing a supportive and empathic stance (22). Furthermore, and to better understand the context in which the patient's symptoms occur, providers are encouraged to explicitly ask their patients whether background or identity make a difference to or intersect with their problem. This individualized approach is ultimately guided by a patientcentered approach that promotes partnership between patient and provider, rather than hierarchy. In addition, process oriented models emphasize the dynamics of the interaction occurring between the provider and the patient (15). These models take into account how cultural meaning is ascribed to treatment contexts rather than how culture matters for different groups (23, 24). For example, in his "shifting cultural lens" model, Lopez et al. (23) suggests that cultural competency involves the ability of the provider to move between two cultural perspectives in understanding the culturally-based meaning of clients from diverse cultural backgrounds (24). Promoting a process-based approach to culturally-sensitive psychotherapy may be key to facilitating a health equity model.

How

Until recently, mental healthcare was typically delivered faceto-face and at a time and place that were most suitable for the provider. These delivery formats pose particular challenges to people from lower social classes and ethnic minorities (25), and perinatal BIPOC women are no exception. An emphasis on digital platforms to increase access to care is common, was raised by USPSTF, and has arguably revolutionized mental healthcare over the past 2 years of the pandemic.

The COVID-19 crisis has highlighted the essential and revolutionized role of telehealth and digital tools to offer direct-to-patient care that minimizes barriers (26). Evolving evidence that has grown over the pandemic due to widespread adoption of telepsychiatry, has shown that delivery of the same treatment through a digital platform can be as effective as in-person treatment, but preferred by patients and with more durable outcomes (27). Telemedicine and web-based interventions may offer a promising alternative for perinatal patients in terms of flexibility, efficiency, and cost, potentially increasing the accessibility and scalability of treatment (28). Remote psychotherapy can also be offered in patient-centered settings and schedules (i.e., at home and during weekends), while practical barriers (i.e., wait times and costs for parking or transportation) can be minimized, including for perinatal populations (29). There nonetheless remain questions that are critical to examine from a health equity lens. For instance, there may be some perinatal patients who may prefer or benefit more from in-person care because their home situation does not offer the needed privacy or safety to attend psychotherapy sessions. These potential barriers may be amplified for those who have multiple children, spouses working from home during the pandemic, or who are subject to intimate partner violence. Given the need for equitable care for perinatal populations, it is critical, ethical and timely to examine who may benefit more from in-person treatment compared to telemedicine.

When

Although the USPSTF pointed out that the majority of effective psychotherapies were provided to women across the perinatal timeframe, a question remains as to whether the beneficial effects of delivering counseling to mothers during pregnancy are durable in the same women after delivery. This question takes on additional relevance since depressive symptoms that begin antenatally may worsen postpartum if left untreated (30). It has been demonstrated that when patients are screened serially, women who screen positive for depression during pregnancy are not the same women who subsequently screen positive after delivery. One interpretation is that antenatal interventions may have a lasting effect (31), such that effective interventions during pregnancy could impact postpartum depression, achieving a "multiplier effect" toward symptom resolution. Furthermore, there remain questions about considering perinatal mental health from a lifespan approach, including from a preconception conceptual framework. There is growing evidence to suggest that perinatal mental disorders are often preceded by mental health problems that begin before pregnancy, including in adolescence or young adulthood, and these maternal preconception disorders are associated with adverse effects for the mother, infant and child (32, 33). Likewise, equipping adolescents and youth-arguably the most vulnerable with long-term consequences (34)-with the needed tools may help facilitate a preventive approach to best cope with common symptoms of depression, anxiety and distress (35). A strong emphasis in this movement is self-care, including the application of evidence-based techniques such as relaxation and mindfulness, activity scheduling and structuring, and socially connecting to promote psychological wellbeing.

DISCUSSION

Research Applications

Answers to these pragmatic questions may be on the horizon. Responsive to the call for creative solutions, relevant research is just now being undertaken to address the who, what, how, and when. Many of these elements of care form the aims of a recently funded Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute study—a large-scale, non-inferiority randomized controlled trial¹ (RCT) of both pregnant and postpartum women, comparing two delivery modes of a brief, evidence-based, behavioral activation intervention for depressive symptoms (telemedicine vs. inperson) provided by two different delivery agents (mental health specialists vs. trained non-mental health professionals). This study is exploring "what works for whom," by examining who may benefit more from in-person psychotherapy compared to telemedicine. This multi-site, pragmatic trial is being implemented across real-world, primary care settings in Toronto, Canada; Chapel Hill, North Carolina; and Chicago, Illinois (36).

In addition, a National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) funded trial is exploring the how and who with technology; in fact, this study's intervention is administered without direct involvement of any mental health professionals. This webdelivered product called MomMoodBooster (MMB)², employs cognitive behavioral therapy-guided multimedia modeling and engaging activities and has already demonstrated efficacy in postpartum women (37). Using MMB adapted for delivery to the patients' smart phone, an RCT is being conducted to compare MMB to usual care during pregnancy and in the postpartum period, with specific content tailored to each timeframe. In essence, this is a sophisticated self-help program designed to enable depressed women to identify patterns in their thoughts in order to develop personal action plans that lead to helpful changes and reduced symptoms. This study responds to the "how" with technology and the "who," by empowering patients themselves as the treating agents.

Another NIMH-funded RCT³ (35) is designed to examine the effectiveness of a group telehealth counseling intervention to reduce depressive symptoms among diverse ethnic groups of pregnant and postpartum women. Peer-supported group care has been determined to be effective more generally during pregnancy, especially among women with limited social and economic resources. Finally, a large trial focused on BIPOC women will be implemented across the USA to compare the effects of one psychotherapeutic intervention delivered through self-help, by a nurse, and treatment as usual (38). The study will include pregnant women and will examine the potential comparable effects of these groups to both prevent and potentially reduce perinatal depressive symptoms over time.

Examining these questions hold the promise for new models of care. If effective, these innovations could be highly scalable and incorporated into larger, stepped care systems to improve access to "personalized" counseling interventions.

Clinical Applications

While we await the completion of the aforementioned trials, we must also implement existing evidence-based care more effectively and comprehensively at the regional level, as has

¹https://www.pcori.org/research-results/2018/scaling-psychological-treatmentsperinatal-depression-and-anxiety-symptoms

²https://projectreporter.nih.gov/project_info_description.cfm?aid=9622062& icde=43391628&ddparam=&ddvalue=&ddsub=&cr=2&csb=default&cs=ASC& pball=

³https://projectreporter.nih.gov/project_info_description.cfm?aid=9660031& icde=43398087&ddparam=&ddvalue=&ddsub=&cr=1&csb=FY&cs=DESC&pball

been accomplished clinically in the UK (39). The Improving Access to Psychological Treatments (IAPT) program in the UK is a scalable model of evidence-based psychological treatments for depression and anxiety. Annually, over 1 million patients are provided for, 98% of whom are monitored in terms of a rigorous and automated monitoring system. Further, the program has demonstrated rigorous cost-effectiveness across the country (39). Within IAPT, there has been a focus on scaling up treatments for patients with perinatal depression. Specific efforts have demonstrated promising results for the effectiveness of partnerships to ultimately facilitate access to psychological interventions (40). Strategies included developing an integrated pathway from the antenatal clinic to IAPT, increasing public and healthcare professionals' awareness about the interventions, and providing training to Health Visitors (community public health nurses, registered midwives or nurses). What was most notable was the increase in self-referrals from perinatal women following partnerships, suggesting women were better able and empowered to access the needed support.

SUMMARY

As the COVID-19 pandemic highlights the gaps in our healthcare systems and transitions mental health care delivery into a virtual reality, ongoing research is needed to inform key users on what works among pregnant and postpartum women. More research is required to incorporate significant others, determine what works for whom, whether there are certain subgroups who benefit more from digital interventions and how they can be scaled from a health equity perspective. There is a clarion call to action to reduce the public health burden of perinatal depression throughout North America. We are encouraged by innovations for delivering psychological treatment to perinatal women and we are optimistic that scalable and long-term solutions may be just around the corner.

REFERENCES

- 1. Iyengar U, Jaiprakash B, Haitsuka H, Kim S. One year into the pandemic: a systematic review of perinatal mental health outcomes during COVID-19. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:674194. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.674194
- Chmielewska B, Barratt I, Townsend R, Kalafat E, van der Meulen J, Gurol-Urganci I, et al. Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2021) 9:e759–72. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(21)00079-6
- 3. Purtle J. COVID-19 and mental health equity in the United States. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2020) 55:969–71. doi: 10.1007/s00127-020-01896-8
- Condon EM, Dettmer AM, Gee DG, Hagan C, Lee KS, Mayes LC, et al. Commentary: COVID-19 and mental health equity in the United States. *Front Sociol.* (2020) 5:584390. doi: 10.3389/fsoc.2020.584390
- Racine N, Hetherington E, McArthur BA, McDonald S, Edwards S, Tough S, et al. Maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada: a longitudinal analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:405–15. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00074-2
- 6. Thornicroft G, Chatterji S, Evans-Lacko S, Gruber M, Sampson N, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, et al. Undertreatment of people with

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DS drafted the initial version of this manuscript with significant contributions from SM-B, KS, and RS. All authors have critically reviewed this manuscript and provided consent for publication. The authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded as a Pragmatic Clinical Study (PCS) by the Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI), PCS-2018C1-10621, and the National Institute for Mental Health (NIMH), 2R22 MH109191-02. DRS is also partially supported by an Academic Scholars Award from the Department of Psychiatry at the University of Toronto. The funders were not involved in the design of the study and is not involved in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, nor in writing the current manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the women who have participated in these studies and who we have the privilege to serve in the current study context. The authors would also like to thank the larger SUMMIT team including the treatment providers, clinical and research staff and a range of stakeholders who have informed the development and implementation of the SUMMIT trial.

major depressive disorder in 21 countries. Br J Psychiatry. (2017) 210:119–24. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.188078

- Curry SJ, Krist AH, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Caughey AB, Davidson KW, et al. Interventions to prevent perinatal depression: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. *JAMA*. (2019) 321:580– 7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.0007
- 8. World Health Organization. Update of the Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) Guidelines for Mental, Neurological and Substance Use Disorders, 2015. World Health Organization (2015).
- Singla DR, Kohrt BA, Murray LK, Anand A, Chorpita BF, Patel V. Psychological treatments for the world: lessons from lowand middle-income countries. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2017) 13:149–81. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045217
- Singla DR, Lawson A, Kohrt BA, Jung JW, Meng Z, Ratjen C, et al. Implementation and effectiveness of nonspecialist-delivered interventions for perinatal mental health in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2021) 78:498–509. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.4556
- 11. Patel V, Weobong B, Weiss HA, Anand A, Bhat B, Katti B, et al. The Healthy Activity Program (HAP), a lay counsellordelivered brief psychological treatment for severe depression, in

primary care in India: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. (2017) 389:176-85. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31589-6

- Rahman A, Malik A, Sikander S, Roberts C, Creed F. Cognitive behaviour therapy-based intervention by community health workers for mothers with depression and their infants in rural Pakistan: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2008) 372:902–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61400-2
- Singla DR, Kumbakumba E, Aboud FE. Effects of a parenting intervention to address maternal psychological wellbeing and child development and growth in rural Uganda: a community-based, cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2015) 3:e458–69. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(15)00099-6
- O'Hara MW. Peer-delivered psychotherapy for postpartum depression: has its time come? J Clin Psychiatry. (2021) 83:21com14209. doi: 10.4088/JCP.21com14209
- Huey Jr SJ, Tilley JL, Jones EO, Smith CA. The contribution of cultural competence to evidence-based care for ethnically diverse populations. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2014) 10:305– 38. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032813-153729
- Dagher RK, Pérez-Stable EJ, James RS. Socioeconomic and racial/ethnic disparities in postpartum consultation for mental health concerns among US mothers. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. (2021) 24:781–91. doi: 10.1007/s00737-021-01132-5
- Salameh TN, Hall LA, Crawford TN, Staten RR, Hall MT. Racial/ethnic differences in mental health treatment among a national sample of pregnant women with mental health and/or substance use disorders in the United States. J Psychosom Res. (2019) 121:74–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2019.03.015
- Wang E, Glazer KB, Sofaer S, Balbierz A, Howell EA. Racial and ethnic disparities in severe maternal morbidity: a qualitative study of women's experiences of peripartum care. Womens Health Issues. (2021) 31:75– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2020.09.002
- Watson H, Harrop D, Walton E, Young A, Soltani H. A systematic review of ethnic minority women's experiences of perinatal mental health conditions and services in Europe. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0210587. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210587
- Mukherjee S, Trepka MJ, Pierre-Victor D, Bahelah R, Avent T. Racial/ethnic disparities in antenatal depression in the united states: a systematic review. *Matern Child Health J.* (2016) 20:1780–97. doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-1989-x
- Iturralde E, Hsiao CA, Nkemere L, Kubo A, Sterling SA, Flanagan T, et al. Engagement in perinatal depression treatment: a qualitative study of barriers across and within racial/ethnic groups. *BMC Pregn Childb*. (2021) 21:512. doi: 10.1186/s12884-021-03969-1
- Gerger H, Nascimento AF, Locher C, Gaab J, Trachsel M. What are the key characteristics of a 'good'psychotherapy? Calling for ethical patient involvement. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:406. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00406
- López SR, Ribas AC, Sheinbaum T, Santos MM, Benalcázar A, Garro L, et al. Defining and assessing key behavioral indicators of the Shifting Cultural Lenses model of cultural competence. *Transcult Psychiatry.* (2020) 57:594– 609. doi: 10.1177/1363461520909599
- Santos MM, Nagy GA, Kanter JW, López SR. Applying a process-oriented model of cultural competence to behavioral activation for depression. *Cogn Behav Pract.* (2021) 28:127–270. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2020.11.007
- Hasnain-Wynia R, Baker DW, Nerenz D, Feinglass J, Beal AC, Landrum MB, et al. Disparities in health care are driven by where minority patients seek care: examination of the hospital quality alliance measures. *Arch Intern Med.* (2007) 167:1233–9. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.12.1233
- Smith AC, Thomas E, Snoswell CL, Haydon H, Mehrotra A, Clemensen J, et al. Telehealth for global emergencies: implications for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). J Telemed Telec. (2020) 26:309–13. doi: 10.1177/1357633X20916567
- Andersson G. Internet-delivered psychological treatments. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2016) 12:157–79. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093006
- Gude J, Subhedar RV, Zhang MH, Jain P, Bhela J, Bangash F, et al. Emerging needs and viability of telepsychiatry during and post COVID-19 era: a literature review. *Cureus*. (2021) 13:e16974. doi: 10.7759/cureus.16974

- Saad A, Magwood O, Aubry T, Alkhateeb Q, Hashmi SS, Hakim J, et al. Mobile interventions targeting common mental disorders among pregnant and postpartum women: an equity-focused systematic review. *PLoS ONE*. (2021) 16:e0259474. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259474
- Wisner KL, Sit DK, McShea MC, Rizzo DM, Zoretich RA, Hughes CL, et al. Onset timing, thoughts of self-harm, and diagnoses in postpartum women with screen-positive depression findings. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2013) 70:490–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.87
- Kim JJ, Gordon TE, La Porte LM, Adams M, Kuendig JM, Silver RK. The utility of maternal depression screening in the third trimester. *Am J Obstetr Gynecol.* (2008) 199:509. e1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008.04.018
- Spry E, Moreno-Betancur M, Becker D, Romaniuk H, Carlin JB, Molyneaux E, et al. Maternal mental health and infant emotional reactivity: a 20-year twocohort study of preconception and perinatal exposures. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 50:827–37. doi: 10.1017/S0033291719000709
- Wilson C, Howard LM, Reynolds RM, Simonoff E, Ismail K. Preconception health. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:2266–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32199-8
- Reinert M, Fritze D, Nguyen T. The State of Mental Health in America 2022. Alexandria, VA: Mental Health America (2021). Available online at: https://mhanational.org/sites/default/files/2022%20State%20of%20Mental %20Health%20in%20America.pdf
- Underwood JM, Brener N, Thornton J, Harris WA, Bryan LN, Shanklin SL, et al. Overview and methods for the youth risk behavior surveillance system—United States, 2019. *MMWR Suppl.* (2020) 69:1–10. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.su6901a1
- 36. Singla DR, Meltzer-Brody SE, Silver RK, Vigod SN, Kim JJ, La Porte LM, et al. Scaling Up Maternal Mental healthcare by Increasing access to Treatment (SUMMIT) through non-specialist providers and telemedicine: a study protocol for a non-inferiority randomized controlled trial. *Trials.* (2021) 22:186. doi: 10.1186/s13063-021-05075-1
- Danaher BG, Milgrom J, Seeley JR, Stuart S, Schembri C, Tyler MS, et al. MomMoodBooster web-based intervention for postpartum depression: feasibility trial results. J Med Internet Res. (2013) 15:e242. doi: 10.2196/jmir.2876
- Kinser P, Jallo N, Huberty J, Jones E, Thacker L, Moyer S, et al. Study protocol for a multisite randomized controlled trial of an internet and mobile-based intervention for preventing and reducing perinatal depressive symptoms. *Res Nurs Health.* (2021) 44:13–23. doi: 10.1002/nur.22092
- Clark DM. Realizing the mass public benefit of evidence-based psychological therapies: the IAPT program. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2018)14:159– 83. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084833
- Patel R, Ezzamel S, Horley N. Improving access to cognitive behavioural therapy groups for postnatal women following partnership work: a service evaluation. Adv Mental Health. (2020) 19:127–38. doi: 10.1080/18387357.2020.1761263

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Singla, Meltzer-Brody, Savel and Silver. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Quality of Life in Mothers With Perinatal Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Jiaying Li¹, Juan Yin², Ahmed Waqas³, Zeyu Huang¹, Hongji Zhang¹, Manqing Chen¹, Yufei Guo¹, Atif Rahman³, Lei Yang¹ and Xiaomei Li^{1*}

¹ School of Nursing, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ² School of Nursing, Dalian University, Dalian, China, ³ Institute of Population Health, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom

Background: The prevalence of perinatal depression is high and its adverse effects on mothers and infants are extensive. Several studies have explored the relationship between perinatal depression and health-related quality of life (HRQoL), but little is known about the nature and magnitude of this effect. The objectives of this study were to evaluate the HRQoL of mothers with perinatal depression and compare the HRQoL of depressed mothers with that of non-depressed mothers.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karen Tabb, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Tom Kelsey, University of St Andrews, United Kingdom Amelia Gavin, University of Washington, United States

*Correspondence: Xiaomei Li roselee8825@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 July 2021 Accepted: 21 January 2022 Published: 15 February 2022

Citation:

Li J, Yin J, Waqas A, Huang Z, Zhang H, Chen M, Guo Y, Rahman A, Yang L and Li X (2022) Quality of Life in Mothers With Perinatal Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Psychiatry 13:734836. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.734836 **Methods:** A systematic review was performed according to the PRISMA guidelines. PubMed, EMBASE, Scopus, PsycINFO, Web of Science, Cochrane Central Register, the China National Knowledge Infrastructure, the VIP Database, and the Wan Fang Database were searched. The retrieval time was from the establishment of the database to July 2020. A series of meta-analyses were run for each outcome pertaining to HRQoL submeasures. Subgroup analyses were conducted based on country income category and time period.

Results: Of 7,945 studies identified, 12 articles were included in the meta-analysis, providing HRQoL data for 4,392 mothers. Compared with non-depressed mothers, mothers with perinatal depression reported significantly poor scores across all the quality-of-life domains. Mixed-effects analysis showed that there was no difference in the HRQoL scores of mothers with antepartum and postpartum depression. Mothers with perinatal depression in higher-income countries reported higher disability on role-physical (p = 0.02) and social functioning domains (p = 0.001) than those from lower-income countries.

Limitations: Due to insufficient data, no regression analysis was performed. The inability to accurately determine the difference in HRQoL between antepartum and postpartum depression was because of the restriction of the included studies. Moreover, most of the included studies were conducted in middle-income countries and may have an impact on the applicability of the results. Subgroup analyses are observational and not based on random comparisons. The results of subgroup analyses should be interpreted with caution.

Conclusion: HRQoL is compromised in mothers with perinatal depression. Continuous efforts are required to improve the HRQoL of perinatal depressed mothers.

Systematic Review Registration: CRD42020199488.

Keywords: health-related quality of life, quality of life, perinatal depression, postpartum depression, antepartum depression

17

INTRODUCTION

Perinatal depression occurs during pregnancy or within 1 year after delivery (1) with its prevalence estimated at 10–15% in high-income countries (HIC) and 15–25% in low and middle-income countries (LMICs) (2–4). During the perinatal period, many biochemical, physiological and anatomical changes occur in the mother's body (5). These changes lead to depression and other negative emotions, which are harmful to the physical and mental health of perinatal mothers (6), thus affecting their health-related quality of life (HRQoL). Therefore, HRQoL has become an important indicator of perinatal health evaluation (7).

Perinatal depression is associated with an array of adverse effects both in mothers and children. Among pregnant and postpartum mothers, perinatal depression is related to reduced social support and self-care, increased substance use, work-related dysfunction, malnutrition, and other obstetric complications (8–10). Among children born to perinatal depressed mothers, there is a higher likelihood of developing physical development problems, including premature birth and low birth weight, low immunization rates, high incidence of infectious diseases (e.g., diarrhea), as well as cognitive and socioemotional development problems, such as cognitive delay, negative child temperament, oppositional behavior, and attention deficit symptoms (11–14).

Previous literature has shown an indirect relationship between quality of life and perinatal depression. However, there is a paucity of literature on different constructs and domains of quality of life that are the most adversely affected. Therefore, the aims of this systematic review were to evaluate the HRQoL of mothers with perinatal depression and compare the HRQoL of depressed mothers with that of non-depressed mothers. This review is intended to fill the gap of previous studies, clarify and quantify the impact of perinatal depression on quality of life.

METHODS

This systematic review used PRISMA guidelines for conducting and reporting systematic reviews (15), and the protocol for this review was prospectively registered on PROSPERO (CRD42020199488, 17 August 2020). We systematically searched nine international and Chinese electronic databases to retrieve relevant articles: PubMed, EMBASE, Scopus, PsycINFO, Web of Science, Cochrane Central Register, the China National Knowledge Infrastructure, the VIP Database for Chinese Technical Periodicals, and the Wan Fang Database for Chinese Periodicals, key search terms included "Perinatal," "Depression" and "Health-related quality of life," from the inception of databases through July 2020. The complete search strategy was shown in **Appendix 1**.

The most commonly used HRQoL scales during the perinatal period include the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36-Item / 12-Item Health Survey (SF-36 and SF-12) and the World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment-bref (WHOQOL-BREF). SF-36 has 36 items, measuring eight domains of health concepts, namely physical functioning, role-physical, bodily pain, general health, vitality, role-emotional, social functioning and mental health. The scores of the above eight subscales are further classified into two categories: physical component score (PCS) and mental component score (MCS). The higher the score (from 0 to 100), the better the HRQoL (16). SF-12 is a validated abbreviated version of the 36-item Survey. WHOQOL-BREF produces scores in four domains pertaining to HRQoL: physical health, psychological, social relationships and environment. The potential range of scores for all domains is 4-20, higher scores indicate better quality of life (17).

For review, we included cross-sectional and longitudinal (retrospective and prospective) studies which reported on different aspects of quality of life among mothers with perinatal depression. We defined the perinatal period as starting from pregnancy to 1 year after delivery and perinatal depression was defined according to diagnostic interview based on clinical criteria (e.g., DSM-5 or ICD-11), or as a score above a cut-off on a self-rating depression scale (e.g., PHQ-9, SDS, HAMD, etc.). For measurement of quality-of-life outcomes, we considered all those studies that used a validated self-report scale such as but not limited to SF-36 and WHOQOL-BREF. The exclusion criteria included studies focusing on participants with comorbid physical diseases or medical conditions (e.g., gestational diabetes mellitus, hypertension, etc.). We also excluded those studies that report only a part or subscale score of a validated measure of HRQoL. We also excluded articles published in languages other than English or Chinese; Books, book sections, patents, qualitative studies, review articles, conference abstracts and protocol.

After removing duplicate articles using EndNote, two reviewers (MC and YG) independently screened the titles and abstracts for eligibility, followed by the full-text screening. Finally, the list of articles for inclusion was cross-checked between authors, and any discrepancies were resolved by a senior reviewer (JL).

DATA EXTRACTION AND META-ANALYSIS

Two authors extracted the data from studies, using a piloted excel sheet, working independently from each other. General information of publications and research design were extracted, including study design, country of study, geographical scope (urban, rural or semi-urban), setting of study (hospital, community, etc.), comparison groups (if any), year of publication, and the outcome measures including the type of diagnostic or screening instruments utilized to ascertain perinatal depression and measures for HRQoL. Quantitative data for meta-analysis to evaluate and compare HRQoL such as sample size, scores of depression in each group, each and total

Abbreviations: HRQoL, health-related quality of life; HIC, high-income countries; LMICs, low and middle-income countries; MIC, middle-income countries; SF-36/12, The Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36/12-Item Health Survey; WHOQOL-BREF, World Health Organization Quality of Life assessmentbref; PCS, physical component score; MCS, mental component score; DSM-5, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition; ICD-11, International Classification of Diseases-11; SDS, Self-Rating Depression Scale; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Scale; PHQ-9, The Patient Health Questionnaire.



HRQoL scores of each group at different periods. The data were cross-checked between the two authors (JL and HZ) and any inconsistencies were resolved through discussion with a third author (JY).

The methodological quality of each article was evaluated independently by two reviewers (JL and ZH) and any discrepancies were resolved by a third reviewer (JY). Based on the types of included studies, different quality assessment tools were selected. For cohort and case-control studies, the risk of bias was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa quality assessment scale (18). Studies with scores of five points or more were considered to be of moderate to good study quality (19). For cross-sectional studies, the quality was assessed using a checklist from the Joanna Briggs Institute (20). A series of meta-analyses were run for each outcome pertaining to the quality-of-life sub-measures. Mean (SD) related to the quality-of-life sub-measures were extracted for healthy mothers and mothers with perinatal depression. These quantitative data were used to calculate correlation coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals and then pooled using the random effects with DerSimonian & Laird method. Random effects were employed throughout the analyses due to expected clinical and statistical heterogeneity. This inconsistency across studies was quantified using the I^2 statistic considered significant at 40%. Sensitivity analyses using the knockout approach were performed to check the contribution of individual studies to the pooled effect size. Publication bias was assessed by visualizing Begg's funnel plot and statistically using Egger's regression statistic considered significant at p > 0.1. If significant publication was evident, Duval & Tweedie's trim and fill method was used to impute studies to yield effect sizes adjusted for the publication bias.

Subgroup differences based on country income category and time period (antepartum vs. postpartum) were run using mixedeffects analyses. Meta-regression analyses were not run due to a lack of statistical power, owing to the fewer number of studies reporting each outcome.

RESULT

A total of 7,943 articles were identified after systematically searching 9 databases. Another 2 articles met the inclusion criteria through the screening of bibliography from included articles. After removal of books, book sections, patents (104) and duplicate articles (2,695), a further 4,984 articles were excluded through screening of title and abstract. This led to 162 articles entering the full-text search stage. At this stage, a further 150 articles were excluded. Finally, 12 articles were included in this review (**Figure 1**).

For quality assessment, after preliminary assessment by two independent reviewers, the agreement between items was 97.3%, all differences were resolved in the consensus meeting with the senior author (**Appendix 2**). The scores of the three case-control and cohort studies were all 8, indicating a low risk of bias (21–23). When assessing cross-sectional studies, three items were ignored by more than two studies: the clear definition of inclusion criteria and the identification/treatment of confounding factors, which may lead to research bias in these aspects.

Quality of life was assessed in a total of 4,392 perinatal mothers, including 1,151 pregnant or postpartum mothers with depression and 3,241 healthy controls. Of the 12 studies included, 9 were cross-sectional studies, while the rests were case-control and cohort studies. The included studies were carried out in six countries, including China, Iran, America, France, Nigeria and Canada. Among these, 5 studies were conducted antenatally and 7 in the postpartum period. Among the 12 studies examining HRQoL, 11 studies used SF-36 and only 1 study utilized WHOQOL-BREF (**Table 1**).

The outcomes pertaining to bodily pain, general health, mental health, physical functioning, role emotional and role physical and vitality were reported as an outcome in ten studies with a cumulative sample size of 3,686 mothers. The outcomes pertaining to social functioning were reported in 11 studies (n = 4217) and physical component score (PCS) and mental component score (MCS) in six studies each (n = 2063).

All outcomes revealed substantial heterogeneity except bodily pain, general health and physical functioning. Mothers with perinatal depression reported significantly poor scores across all the quality-of-life outcomes (**Figure 2**). Mothers with depression reported greater problems with MCS (r = -0.60, p < 0.001); mental health (r = -0.42, p < 0.001); social functioning (r = -0.30, p < 0.001) and vitality (r = -0.34, P < 0.001) and role-emotional (r = -0.31, p < 0.001). These correlations suggested moderate strength of effect sizes. While outcomes related to

physical health yielded weaker associations including bodily pain (r = -0.18, *p* = 0.006); general health (r = -0.29, *p* < 0.001); PCS (r = -0.22, *p* = 0.009); physical functioning (r = -0.15, *p* = 0.024), role-physical (r = -0.22, *p* = 0.001).

Publication bias was noted only in reporting of general health (p = 0.07), physical functioning (p = 0.01), role-physical (p = 0.07) and social functioning (p = 0.02). Funnel plots for all domains of quality of life can be seen in **Appendix 3**. Duval and Tweedie's trim and fill method yielded an adjusted correlation of -0.12 for physical functioning and -0.31 for social functioning.

According to different time periods, mixed-effects analyses showed no statistically significant subgroup differences in effect sizes on the different quality of life domains. Several statistical subgroup differences were noted based on income groups of countries. Mothers with perinatal depression in higher-income countries reported higher disability on role-physical and social functioning domains than their counterparts (**Tables 2, 3**).

For case-control and cohort studies, Abbaszadeh et al. (23) and Sadat et al. (21) gained full scores (9). Qiu et al. (22) yielded a score of 8, bias was observed to be due to the representativeness of the cases. For cross-sectional studies, biases mainly stemmed from the unspecific description of inclusion criteria, study subjects and the setting, and the improper identification and handling of confounding factors.

In total, 3 studies described factors associated with depressed mothers' HRQoL (24–26). Two studies assessed whether the gender of the child had an impact on HRQoL scores. Tychey et al. found that the baby's gender (having a boy) significantly reduced the quality of life. While Tungchama et al. found that that the baby's gender and spouse's expected gender of the infant were not associated with HRQoL scores.

Two studies investigated the impact of complications and mode of delivery on HRQoL. The results of one study showed that complications during pregnancy and delivery by cesarean were related to worse mental health status (24). Another study found that these two variables can reduce scores for social relationships and physical health domains, respectively (26). Costa et al. reported an association between greater cardiovascular fitness and better physical health status. The study also found lower physical health scores in multiparous mothers. As for the age of the study participants, one study found worse mental health scores in mothers younger than 35 (26). One study reported that poor sleep quality, poor social support and life stress can damage mental health (24).

DISCUSSION

This systematic review indicates that compared with nondepressed mothers, pregnant and postpartum mothers with perinatal depression have lower HRQoL scores, highlighting the profound impact of perinatal depression on their quality of life. This negative impact of depressive symptoms stays consistent across the antepartum or postpartum period. Mothers from the Western nations show more impairment in social functioning and role-physical domains of HRQoL than their counterparts.

TABLE 1 | Studies characteristics (N = 12).

References	Design	Subject	Sample size	Age (Mean \pm SD) years	Time	Country	Scale	Sampling method
Li et al. (44)	CS	Depressed (EPDS≥9.5); Non-depressed (EPDS<9.5)	181; 273	28.5	Antepartum	China	SF-36	Non-randomized
Chen (45)	CS	Depressed (EPDS>9.5); Non-depressed (EPD≤9.5)	119; 181	18–40	Antepartum	China	SF-36	Non-randomized
Da Costa et al. (24)	CS	Depressed (EPDS≥10); Canadian norm	78; 198	19–43 (33.17 ± 4.56); 25–34	Postpartum	Canada	SF-36	Non-randomized
de Tychey et al. (25)	CS	Severe depressed (EPDS≥12); Mild depressed (8≤EPDS<12); Non-depressed (EPDS<8)	, ,	19–40 (29 ± 5)	Postpartum	France	SF-36	Non-randomized
Sadat et al. (21)	Cohort	Depressed (EPDS≥13); Non-depressed (EPDS<13)	75; 246	NR	Postpartum	Iran	SF-36	Randomized
Nicholson et al. (46)	CS	Depressed (CES-D≥16); Non-depressed (CES-D <16)	27; 148	$27.3 \pm 6.4;$ 28.8 ± 6.5	Antepartum	America	SF-36	Non-randomized
Abbaszadeh et al. (23)	Case-control	Depressed (BDI>9); Non-depressed (BDI ≤16)	112; 353	$25.40 \pm 4.63;$ 25.32 ± 4.41	Antepartum	Iran	SF-36	Non-randomized
Qiu (22)	Case-control	Depressed (EPDS>12); Non-depressed (EPDS≤12)	70; 70	20-41 (25.1 ± 8.3); 20-40 (25.3 ± 8.5)	Postpartum	China	SF-36	Non-randomized
Hu and Lu (47)	CS	Depressed (EPDS≥13); Non-depressed (EPDS<13)	126; 851	17-42(28.32 ± 4.37)	Postpartum	China	SF-36	Non-randomized
Zhang et al. (48)	CS	Depressed (EPDS>12); Non-depressed (EPD≤12)	169; 250	$2044~(29.9\pm3.9)$	Postpartum	China	SF-36	Non-randomized
Tsai (49)	CS	Depressed (EPDS≥13); Non-depressed (EPDS<13)	21; 132	32.6 ± 3.18	Antepartum	China Taiwan	SF-36	Non-randomized
Tungchama et al. (26)	CS	Depressed (EPDS≥12 and diagnosed by DSM-IV); Non-depressed (EPDS<12)	116; 415	18–45 (26.84 ± 5.6)	Postpartum	Nigeria	WHOQOL-BREF	Non-randomized

CS, Cross-sectional; EPDS, The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; CES-D, The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition; NR, Not reported; SF-36, The Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36-Item Health Survey; WHOQOL-BREF, World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment-bref.

Li et al.

Group by	Statistics for each study			Sample size		Correlation and 95% CI	
Outcome	Correlation	Lower limit	Upper limit	p-Value	Depressed	Healthy	
Bodily pain	-0.184	-0.308	-0.053	0.006	1008	2678	
General health	-0.292	-0.408	-0.167	0.000	1008	2678	
MCS(Mental component score)	-0.596	-0.694	-0.475	0.000	626	1437	
Mental health	-0.417	-0.520	-0.302	0.000	1008	2678	
PCS(Physical component score)	-0.222	-0.376	-0.055	0.009	626	1437	
Physical functioning	-0.151	-0.277	-0.020	0.024	1008	2678	
Role-Emotional	-0.312	-0.425	-0.188	0.000	1008	2678	
Role-Physical	-0.222	-0.343	-0.093	0.001	1008	2678	
Social functioning	-0.304	-0.414	-0.186	0.000	1124	3093	
Vitality	-0.341	-0.452	-0.220	0.000	1008	2678	
							-1.00 -0.50 0.00 0.50 1.00
							Negative Positive
IGURE 2 Forest plot.							

TABLE 2 | Subgroup analyses using mixed-effects according to time period (N = 11).

Domain	Subcategory	Number of studies	Effect size (95% CI)	l ²	Q value (p)
Bodily pain	Antepartum	4	-0.21 (-0.26 -0.16)	90.5%	1.8 (0.18)
	Postpartum	6	-0.16 (-0.20 -0.12)	73.3%	
General health	Antepartum	4	-0.28 (-0.32 -0.23)	0%	0.18 (0.67)
	Postpartum	6	-0.30 (-0.37 -0.22)	72.29%	
MCS	Antepartum	2	-0.84 (-0.98-0.003)	99.73%	1.65 (0.20)
	Postpartum	4	-0.39 (-0.47 -0.31)	66.51%	
Mental health	Antepartum	4	-0.48 (-0.54 -0.42)	51.69%	3.93 (0.05)
	Postpartum	6	-0.37 (-0.46 -0.27)	85.59%	
PCS	Antepartum	2	-0.18 (-0.25 -0.12)	0%	0.43 (0.52)
	Postpartum	4	-0.24 (-0.39 -0.08)	89.53%	
Physical health	Antepartum	4	-0.14 (-0.20 -0.09)	0%	0.03 (0.86)
	Postpartum	6	-0.14 (-0.18 -0.09)	12.87%	
Role-emotional	Antepartum	4	-0.31 (-0.44 -0.17)	87.87%	0.001 (0.98)
	Postpartum	5	-0.31 (-0.40 -0.21)	83.29%	
Role-physical	Antepartum	4	-0.23 (-0.35 -0.12)	80.58%	0.13 (0.72)
	Postpartum	6	-0.21 (-0.29 -0.12)	78.27%	
Social functioning	Antepartum	4	-0.28 (-0.33 -0.24)	0%	0.26 (0.61)
Ū.	Postpartum	7	-0.31 (-0.38 -0.23)	77.59%	
Vitality	Antepartum	4	-0.33 (-0.38 -0.29)	2.86%	0.03 (0.87)
	Postpartum	6	-0.34 (-0.44 -0.24)	86.82%	

MCS, Mental component score; PCS, Physical component score.

There are several reasons for mothers with perinatal depression to have a poor HRQoL. First of all, Studies have found that there are abnormalities in the Hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis in patients with depression (27, 28). The activated HPA axis can not only regulate the body's peripheral functions such as metabolism and immunity but also play a linking role between stress and brain function (29, 30). Similarly, perinatal depression is also related to the excessive activation of the HPA axis, which may lead to alterations in the mother's physical and psychological functions, thereby affecting the quality of life (31, 32). Another possible explanation for the lower quality of life scores in mothers with perinatal depression may be the chronic nature of the disease. In most poor-resource settings, due to human resource constraints and ill-equipped medical systems, perinatal depression is largely undiagnosed and untreated, and as many as 90% of mothers with perinatal depression are not treated (33). Untreated depression usually

Domain	Subcategory	Number of studies	Effect size (95% CI)	l ²	Q value (p)
Bodily pain	HIC	2	-0.18 (-0.30 -0.06)	43.90%	0 (0.10)
	MIC	8	-0.18 (-0.21 -0.15)	0%	
General health	HIC	2	-0.29 (-0.43 -0.15)	64.24%	0.01 (0.91)
	MIC	8	-0.28 (-0.33 -0.23)		
MCS	HIC	2	-0.46 (-0.53 -0.39)	0	0.43 (0.51)
	MIC	4	-0.65 (-0.92-0.03)	99.7%	
Mental health	HIC	2	-0.47 (-0.54 -0.40)	0%	1.71 (0.19)
	MIC	8	-0.41 (-0.48 -0.32)	86.88%	
PCS	HIC	2	-0.15 (-0.23 -0.05)	0%	1.84 (0.17)
	MIC	4	-0.26 (-0.25 -0.10)	89.05%	
Physical health	HIC	2	-0.19 (-028 -0.10)	0%	1.68 (0.20)
	MIC	8	-0.13 (-016 -0.10)	0%	
Role-emotional	HIC	2	-0.33 (-0.44 -0.21)	51.79%	0.14 (0.71)
	MIC	8	-0.31 (-0.39 -0.22)	86.48%	
Role-physical	HIC	2	-0.32 (-0.40 -0.24)	0%	5.07 (0.02)*
	MIC	8	-0.19 (-0.26 -0.12)	76.68%	
Social functioning	HIC	2	-0.42(-0.49 -0.34)	0%	11.35 (0.001)*
	MIC	9	-0.27 (-0.31 -0.23)	41.64%	
Vitality	HIC	2	-0.45 (-0.58 -0.29)	76.07%	2.76 (0.10)
	MIC	8	-0.31 (-0.37 -0.25)	67.28%	

*Significantly difference, MCS, Mental component score; PCS, Physical component score; HIC, High-income countries; MIC, Middle-income countries.

becomes chronic and has a negative impact on the quality of life (34, 35).

Although mothers with perinatal depression reported significantly poor scores across all the quality-of-life outcomes, mental health appeared to be more affected by depression. For the MCS domain, a much lower score is indicative of frequent mental distress, as well as social and role disabilities due to emotional problems (36). It reminds family members and medical staff to provide mothers with more spiritual and life support, to help mothers recognize and overcome their unhealthy emotions, so as to improve the quality of life (37).

We found that there are differences in role-physical and social functioning between HIC and middle-income countries (MIC), with the lower scores reported in HIC. This result is inconsistent with the research result done by Lagadec et al., whose research believes that the absence of economic problems is strongly related to a better quality of life (38). However, in addition to economic reasons, the family system may also have an impact. Mothers in Eastern cultures tend to have tighter family connections, and most mothers and young children live in multi-generational family systems. Other family members (such as experienced grandmothers) are often involved in maternal care as well as infant feeding (39). Senior and more experienced women often play a vigorous role in caring for mothers, enabling them to be in better physical condition to perform work and other daily activities, that is, to function in better physical roles. Moreover, mothers generally report that when they are doing housework, taking care of their children, being physically and mentally unwell, grandmothers will participate and support them, alleviate their physical and emotional problems, which enable them to perform better social functions (40). Apart from the explanations above, these differences may also be explained by regional differences in living conditions, public health systems and perceptions of depression (41).

STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first systematic review to investigate HRQoL in mothers with perinatal depression. Through the inclusion of various types of research, sufficient data has been obtained for meta-analysis. However, our research has some limitations. Due to the small number and high heterogeneity of included studies, no regression analyses were carried out. And there was no longitudinal study continuously investigating the postpartum condition of mothers with antepartum depression. Therefore, we could not draw an accurate conclusion about the difference in the quality of life of depressed mothers before and after childbirth. In addition, most of the included studies were conducted in MIC, and economic level affects the quality of life (38), so the applicability of the results needs to be considered. Finally, the insights from the subgroup analyses should be interpreted with caution, due to the observational nature of this evidence.

Owing to the significant adverse effects of perinatal depression on mother's quality of life, it is necessary to improve the screening and treatment capabilities for perinatal depression. We, therefore, recommend the use of depression screening and HRQoL instruments in both research and clinical settings to detect perinatal depression and assess the HRQoL of mothers with perinatal depression. Besides, antepartum depression is a key risk factor for postpartum depression, leading to the persistence of depressive symptoms during the perinatal period (42, 43). So, studies are needed to continuously and actively assess depression and HRQoL before and after childbirth. Ultimately, findings pertaining to cultural differences in exhibiting different impairments in quality of life can also help in the design of more targeted and personalized interventions.

CONCLUSION

This systematic review and meta-analysis reveal poorer HRQoL of mothers with perinatal depression as compared with non-depressed mothers, suggesting that perinatal depression has a significant adverse effect on HRQoL.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL, JY, LY, AR, and XL: conception and design. JL, ZH, HZ, MC, and YG: collection and assembly of data. AW, JL, and JY:

REFERENCES

- Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2005) 106:1071–83. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597.31630.db
- Fisher J, Cabral de Mello M, Patel V, Rahman A, Tran T, Holton S, et al. Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in low- and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Bull World Health Organ*. (2012) 90:139G-49. doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.091850
- Gelaye B, Rondon MB, Araya R, Williams MA. Epidemiology of maternal depression, risk factors, and child outcomes in lowincome and middle-income countries. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2016) 3:973–82. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30284-X
- Woody CA, Ferrari AJ, Siskind DJ, Whiteford HA, Harris MG. A systematic review and meta-regression of the prevalence and incidence of perinatal depression. J Affect Disord. (2017) 219:86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.05.003
- Gary CF, Leveno KJ, Bloom SL, Hauth JC, Rose DJ, Spong CY. McGraw Hill Medical. 23rd ed. New York: Williams Obstetrics (2010).
- 6. Guan SZ, Fu YJ, Zhao F, Liu HY, Chen XH, Qi FQ, et al. The mechanism of enriched environment repairing the learning and memory impairment in offspring of prenatal stress by regulating the expression of activity-regulated cytoskeletal-associated and insulin-like growth factor-2 in hippocampus. *Environ Health Prev Med.* (2021) 26:8. doi: 10.1186/s12199-020-00929-7
- Wang P, Liou SR, Cheng CY. Prediction of maternal quality of life on preterm birth and low birthweight: a longitudinal study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2013) 13:124. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-13-124
- Lutsiv O, McKinney B, Foster G, Taylor VH, Pullenayegum E, McDonald SD. Pregnancy complications associated with the co-prevalence of excess maternal weight and depression. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:1710–6. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.119
- Bitew T, Hanlon C, Kebede E, Honikman S, Fekadu A. Antenatal depressive symptoms and perinatal complications: a prospective study in rural Ethiopia. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2017) 17:301. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1462-4

data analysis and interpretation. JL: substantial contributions to the first draft of the article. JL, AW, XL, and JY: work on the revised version of the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by Interdisciplinary and Industry Fund, University of Liverpool, Cost Center JXR13462. The funder of the study had no role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to thank the University of Liverpool for funding this study. The author would also like to thank the staff at the School of Nursing, Xi'an Jiaotong University, for their assistance and support during the study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.734836/full#supplementary-material

- Kurki T, Hiilesmaa V, Raitasalo R, Mattila H, Ylikorkala O. Depression and anxiety in early pregnancy and risk for preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2000) 95:487–90. doi: 10.1097/00006250-200004000-00003
- Patton GC, Romaniuk H, Spry E, Coffey C, Olsson C, Doyle LW, et al. Prediction of perinatal depression from adolescence and before conception (VIHCS): 20-year prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2015) 386:875–83. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62248-0
- Beijers R, Jansen J, Riksen-Walraven M, de Weerth C. Maternal prenatal anxiety and stress predict infant illnesses and health complaints. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:e401–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3226
- Kingston D, Tough S, Whitfield H. Prenatal and postpartum maternal psychological distress and infant development: a systematic review. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2012) 43:683–714. doi: 10.1007/s10578-012-0291-4
- Herba CM, Glover V, Ramchandani PG, Rondon MB. Maternal depression and mental health in early childhood: an examination of underlying mechanisms in low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:983–92. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30148-1
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Ware JE Jr. SF-36 Health Survey: Manual and Interpretation Guide. Boston, MA: The Health Institute (1993).
- The WHOQOL. Group. Development of the World Health Organization WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment. *Psychol Med.* (1998) 28:551– 8. doi: 10.1017/S0033291798006667
- Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses. Available online at: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_ epidemiology/oxford.asp (accessed September 29, 2020).
- Luchini C, Stubbs B, Solmi M, Veronese N. Assessing the quality of studies in meta-analyses: advantages and limitations of the Newcastle Ottawa Scale. *World J Meta Analysis.* (2017) 5:80–4. doi: 10.13105/wjma.v5.i4.80

- Moola S, Munn Z, Tufanaru C, Aromataris E, Sears K, Sfetcu R, et al. *Chapter* 7: Systematic Reviews of Etiology and Risk: JBI. (2020). Available online at: https://wiki.jbi.global/display/MANUAL/Chapter+7%3A+Systematic+ reviews+of+etiology+and+risk (accessed September 29, 2020).
- Sadat Z, Abedzadeh-Kalahroudi M, Kafaei Atrian M, Karimian Z, Sooki Z. The Impact of postpartum depression on quality of life in women after child's birth. *Iran Red Crescent Med J.* (2014) 16:e14995. doi: 10.5812/ircmj. 14995
- 22. Qiu XY. Investigation and analysis on the quality of life of 70 mothers with depression. *Med Theor Prac.* (2015) 28:823–24. doi: 10.19381/j.issn.1001-7585.2015.06.080
- Abbaszadeh F, Kafaei Atrian M, Masoudi Alavi N, Bagheri A, Sadat Z, Karimian Z. Relationship between quality of life and depression in pregnant women. *Nurs Midwifery Stud.* (2013) 2:193–7. doi: 10.5812/nms.8518
- Da Costa D, Dritsa M, Rippen N, Lowensteyn I, Khalife S. Health-related quality of life in postpartum depressed women. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2006) 9:95–102. doi: 10.1007/s00737-005-0108-6
- de Tychey C, Briancon S, Lighezzolo J, Spitz E, Kabuth B, de Luigi V, et al. Quality of life, postnatal depression and baby gender. J Clin Nurs. (2008) 17:312–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01911.x
- 26. Tungchama F, Piwuna C, Armiya'u A, Maigari Y, Davou F, Goar S, et al. Independent socio-demographic and clinical correlates associated with the perception of quality of life of women with postpartum depressionin North-central, Nigeria. *Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract.* (2017) 21:292–301. doi: 10.1080/13651501.2017.1312459
- Knorr U, Vinberg M, Kessing LV, Wetterslev J. Salivary cortisol in depressed patients versus control persons: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2010) 35:1275– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.04.001
- Dienes KA, Hazel NA, Hammen CL. Cortisol secretion in depressed, and at-risk adults. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2013) 38:927–40. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.09.019
- Pariante CM, Lightman SL. The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. *Trends Neurosci.* (2008) 31:464–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2008.06.006
- McEwen BS. Glucocorticoids, depression, and mood disorders: structural remodeling in the brain. *Metabolism*. (2005) 54(5 Suppl. 1):20-3. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2005.01.008
- O'Connor TG, Tang W, Gilchrist MA, Moynihan JA, Pressman EK, Blackmore ER. Diurnal cortisol patterns and psychiatric symptoms in pregnancy: short-term longitudinal study. *Biol Psychol.* (2014) 96:35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013. 11.002
- 32. O'Keane V, Lightman S, Patrick K, Marsh M, Papadopoulos AS, Pawlby S, et al. Changes in the maternal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis during the early puerperium may be related to the postpartum 'blues'. *J Neuroendocrinol.* (2011) 23:1149–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2011.02139.x
- Eaton J, McCay L, Semrau M, Chatterjee S, Baingana F, Araya R, et al. Scale up of services for mental health in low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet.* (2011) 378:1592–603. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60891-X
- Fiske A, Wetherell JL, Gatz M. Depression in older adults. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2009) 5:363–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.032408. 153621
- 35. Chapman DP, Perry GS, Strine TW. The vital link between chronic disease and depressive disorders. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2005) 2:A14.
- 36. La Torre G, Sestili C, Mannocci A, Sinopoli A, De Paolis M, De Francesco S, et al. Association between work related stress and health related quality of life: the impact of socio-demographic variables. a cross sectional study in a region of Central Italy. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2018) 15:159. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15010159

- World Health Organization. *Thinking Healthy A Manual for Psychological Management of Perinatal Depression*. (2015). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-MSD-MER-15.1 (accessed February 15, 2021).
- Lagadec N, Steinecker M, Kapassi A, Magnier AM, Chastang J, Robert S, et al. Factors influencing the quality of life of pregnant women: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. (2018) 18:455. doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-2087-4
- Aubel J. The role and influence of grandmothers on child nutrition: culturally designated advisors and caregivers. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2012) 8:19–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8709.2011.00333.x
- Chung EO, Hagaman A, LeMasters K, Andrabi N, Baranov V, Bates LM, et al. The contribution of grandmother involvement to child growth and development: an observational study in rural Pakistan. *BMJ Glob Health*. (2020) 5:e002181. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2019-002181
- Cadigan RJ, Skinner D. Symptoms of depression and their management among low-income African-American and white mothers in the rural South. *Ethn Health.* (2015) 20:293–308. doi: 10.1080/13557858.2014.921889
- Milgrom J, Gemmill AW, Bilszta JL, Hayes B, Barnett B, Brooks J, et al. Antenatal risk factors for postnatal depression: a large prospective study. J Affect Disord. (2008) 108:147–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.10.014
- Cheng CY, Chou YH, Chang CH, Liou SR. Trends of perinatal stress, anxiety, and depression and their prediction on postpartum depression. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:9307. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18179307
- 44. Li J, Mao J, Du Y, Morris JL, Gong G, Xiong X. Health-related quality of life among pregnant women with and without depression in Hubei, China. *Maternal Child Health J.* (2012) 16:1355–63. doi: 10.1007/s10995-011-0900-z
- Chen J. Survey of pregnant women health-related quality of life and influencing factors. *China Modern Doctor*. (2013) 51:8–11.
- 46. Nicholson WK, Setse R, Hill-Briggs F, Cooper LA, Strobino D, Powe NR. Depressive symptoms and health-related quality of life in early pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2006) 107:798–806. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000204190.96352.05
- Hu XH, Lu J. Investigation of quality of life and related factors of postpartum hospital stay. J Qilu Nursing. (2017) 23:23–6. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1006-7256.2017.21.009
- Zhang ZH, Liu WW, Yue C. Quality of life in postpartum women and the associated factors: a survey in a community in Beijing. *Chin J Health Manage*. (2008) 2:288–91. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1674-0815.2008.05.011
- Tsai SY. Relationship of perceived job strain and workplace support to antenatal depressive symptoms among pregnant employees in Taiwan. *Women Health.* (2019) 59:55–67. doi: 10.1080/03630242.2018.1434590

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Li, Yin, Waqas, Huang, Zhang, Chen, Guo, Rahman, Yang and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cultural Adaptation of the Mothers and Babies Intervention for Use in Tribal Communities

Erin A. Ward^{1*}, *Ethleen Iron Cloud-Two Dogs*², *Emma E. Gier*¹, *Linda Littlefield*³ and *S. Darius Tandon*¹

¹ Center for Community Health, Institute for Public Health and Medicine, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Oglala Lakota Cultural Consultant, Porcupine, SD, United States, ³ Great Plains Healthy Start, Great Plains Tribal Leaders' Health Board, Rapid City, SD, United States

Objective: While one in five women may experience mood and anxiety disorders during pregnancy and postpartum, Indigenous identity increases that risk by 62%, especially among younger Indigenous women. The need for evidence-based perinatal mental health interventions that provide culturally relevant well-being perspectives and practices is critical to improving maternal, child, and community outcomes for Indigenous peoples, and reducing health inequities.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karen Tabb, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Catherine Monk, Columbia University, United States Vanessa Hiratsuka, University of Alaska Anchorage, United States

*Correspondence:

Erin A. Ward erin.ward1@northwestern.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 November 2021 Accepted: 21 January 2022 Published: 17 February 2022

Citation:

Ward EA, Iron Cloud-Two Dogs E, Gier EE, Littlefield L and Tandon SD (2022) Cultural Adaptation of the Mothers and Babies Intervention for Use in Tribal Communities. Front. Psychiatry 13:807432. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.807432 **Methods:** Through a collaboration between community maternal and child health professionals, intervention researchers, and a cultural consultant, our workgroup developed cultural adaptations to Mothers and Babies, an evidence-based perinatal depression prevention intervention. Applying a cultural interface model, the workgroup identified existing intervention content for surface adaptations, as well as deep, conceptual adaptations to incorporate traditional teachings into this evidence-based intervention.

Results: This collaboration developed a culturally adapted facilitator manual for intervention providers, including guidance for implementation and further adaptation to represent local tribal culture, and a culturally adapted participant workbook for Indigenous perinatal women that reflects cultural teachings and traditional practices to promote well-being for mother and baby.

Implications: Committing to a culturally respectful process to adapt Mothers and Babies is likely to increase the reach of the intervention into Indigenous communities, reengage communities with cultural practice, improve health outcomes among parents, children, and the next generation's elders, and reduce disparities among Indigenous groups. Replication of this community-engaged process can further the science and understanding of cultural adaptations to evidence-based interventions, while also further reducing health inequities. Future steps include evaluating implementation of the culturally adapted intervention among tribal home visiting organizations.

Keywords: pregnancy, postpartum, mental health, depression, indigenous communities, mental health intervention, cultural adaptation, Lakota

INTRODUCTION

A collaborative group of stakeholders including a Lakota elder cultural consultant, maternal and child health professionals in Tribal communities, and perinatal mental health intervention researchers, developed a cultural adaptation of an evidence-based perinatal depression prevention intervention for use in Tribal communities. This adaptation aims to support intergenerational mental health by building resilience through cultural restoration, to better address health disparities experienced by American Indian families and communities.

BACKGROUND

Across the United States (US), 573 federally recognized Tribes represent diverse American Indian communities in urban settings and on designated reservations that are typically rural (Bureau of Indian Affairs) (1). Indigenous peoples in the US carry historical traumas and face ongoing currentday stressors. The collective history of forced displacement, attempted genocide, colonization, and dismantling of traditional family structures and cultural foundation, or "cultural assault," has left multi-dimensional and generational lasting effects (1-3). Ongoing systemic oppression, high rates of intimate partner violence, poverty, lack of resources, and substance use create an environment ripe for increased and disproportionate risk of mental illness (4). A systematic review demonstrated that Indigenous people are at increased risk for depression, anxiety, and substance use disorders during the perinatal period, in comparison to other racial and ethnic groups (5). Moreover, intergenerational transmission of toxic stress resulting from historical trauma can perpetuate trauma reactions and further disrupt healthy bonding and parenting (2).

The effects from historical trauma contribute to contemporary traumatic experiences and exposures (6, 7). Whitbeck et al. (8) identified that anger and depression among American Indian parents was linked to experiences of multigenerational loss. This historical loss is compounded by contemporary loss that American Indians suffer (9), including having the third highest infant mortality rate in the US of any racial group (10). These risk factors are further exacerbated by under-resourced health care in American Indian communities, wherein the per person patient care allocation via the Indian Health Service (IHS) is approximately one-third of per person spending, nationally, among all other communities (1, 11). Moreover, while numerous validation studies have been conducted in other cultures, further work remains in developing efficacious culturally relevant perinatal depression screening tools and methods for American Indian people (4, 5, 12, 13).

Numerous barriers to accessing care include: stigma and fear of being perceived as incapable, concerns about privacy, mistrust of service providers, and lack of transportation, financial resources, and social support (1, 14, 15). Mental health care providers of Indigenous identities are underrepresented in the field, disallowing cultural congruency between provider and patient which is of known benefit (1, 16). Untreated perinatal depression can lead to adverse outcomes for parent and child. Parents who are depressed are more likely to engage in highrisk behaviors like substance use, are less likely to attend prenatal or well child visits and are more likely to suffer from future depressive episodes (17). Children of parents with depression may experience a range of negative outcomes including developmental delays, cognitive impairments, and attachment insecurity, along with increased risk for developing mental health issues (4, 18, 19).

A study of 30 American Indian teen mothers (20) found that all the women reported childhoods filled with stress which led to increased chaos in their lives. In other studies, maternal stress and risk factors including adverse experiences has shown a deleterious impact on children's social-emotional well-being (21-23). Additionally, American Indian women suffer risk factors including diabetes, tobacco use, low socioeconomic status, childhood physical abuse, rape, domestic violence, and low maternal age which contribute to preterm birth, with potential damaging consequences for child development (24). Disparities persist in the areas of health, economic, social, and education for American Indians and the intergenerational impact of historical trauma and systemic oppression as a contributing factor is an ongoing research agenda (25). The forced removal of American Indian children into boarding schools systematically stripped parents' rights to parent, a message that their families are not appropriate to raise children, with far-reaching effects on subsequent generations (2). Furthermore, American Indians have a disproportionately rate of abused children--14.8%-while accounting for 2% of the US population (26). The Child Welfare League of America (27) reported that 46% of the children in outof-home care in South Dakota were American Indian children.

Despite the massive historical traumatic events and current challenges experienced by American Indians, the dynamic of resilience cannot be ignored. Elders in one study identified individual, family, and community constructs that promote resilience as connectedness, culture, and spirituality (28); furthermore, as Tolliver-Lynn et al. (29) relate, "many protective characteristics that promote resilience are deeply embedded in traditional AI/AN culture" (29). Elders in another study asserted that healing from said historical traumas involves reclamation of one's culture (9, 30). In this paper, we will describe the process of culturally adapting an evidence-based perinatal depression prevention intervention, to begin to address some of these inequities through the reclamation of cultural and spiritual wellness practices within the context of parenting.

Opportunity for Community Impact

The Great Plains Tribal Leaders' Health Board—who serve 18 Great Plains Tribal communities—received funding to support the maternal and child health of families living on or near the Rosebud Indian Reservation, South Dakota (Project LAUNCH: Linking Actions for Unmet Needs in Children's Health). A core strategy included professional development for maternal and child health outreach workers. Mothers and Babies (MB), an evidence-based perinatal depression prevention intervention frequently used in home visiting, was selected for provider training and implementation in the Great Plains Tribal communities.

MB is an evidence-based perinatal depression prevention intervention, based on foundations of cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) and attachment theory, that provides a toolkit of cognitive, behavioral, social, and mindfulness approaches to effectively respond to stress while pregnant, preparing for, and parenting a baby or young child (31, 32). MB uses a psychoeducational approach to increase engagement in pleasant activities, promote helpful thoughts and reduce unhelpful thoughts, and strengthen social support and communication with one's social network and community. MB can be implemented as a group intervention (33-37) or individually (38, 39). Each core module (Pleasant Activities, Thoughts, and Contact with Others) is introduced by a character vignette with two pregnant/postpartum people, illustrating the connection with their mood (see Table 1). MB can be implemented by providers from various educational and professional backgrounds, in settings where pregnant people and new parents access services and has been recommended by the US Preventive Services Task Force (40, 41). MB is being scaled across the US in home visiting and other maternal and child health settings, using a four-stage process including pre-training conversations, training, implementation consultation, followed by implementation evaluation and maintenance.

Impetus for Cultural Adaptation

The inception of this cultural adaptation began during a live-virtual MB intervention training. Training participants included Great Plains maternal and child health leadership and supervisors, infant mental health consultant, and direct service staff. During the training, several examples within the MB manuals were identified as incongruous with typical resources and experiences among reservation communities; participants discussed benefits of incorporating traditional teachings and culturally appropriate images and examples into the MB intervention to support Native American families. An interdisciplinary team was later engaged to conduct the process of cultural adaptations to the MB intervention manuals.

METHODS

Science of Adaptation

Evidence Based Interventions (EBI) are often designed and scaled to reduce health disparities, but tend to be tested within one community, precipitating the need for improved contextual, and cultural fit as they are replicated and scaled (42). MB is an example of an EBI that has demonstrated effectiveness in reducing depressive symptoms and major depressive episodes among perinatal people and has been tested in diverse racial and ethnic populations. However, its reach within Indigenous communities has been limited, due in part to the need for culturally appropriate adaptations to ensure fit, acceptability, adoption, and positive impact.

Cultural adaptation is "the systematic modification of an evidence-based treatment (EBT) or intervention protocol to consider language, culture, and context in such a way that it is compatible with the client's cultural patterns, TABLE 1 | Mothers and babies intervention content.

MB module	MB session	Participant worksheet
Introductory	Introduction to	1.1 Stressors that can affect the mother-baby relationship
	mothers and babies	1.2 How the Mothers and Babies course can help you
		1.3 What is mindfulness and breath awareness
		1.4 Your mood and your personal reality
		1.5 Quick mood scale
Pleasant	Session 2:	2.1 Violet and Mary's days
activities	Pleasant	2.2 Pleasant activities list
	activities and mood	2.3 Mindfulness practice—Body scan
	mood	2.4 What do you like to do?
	Session 3:	3.1 Overcoming obstacles
	Pleasant	3.2 Make a personal commitment
	activities with baby	3.3 Personal commitment calendar
	baby	3.4 How do babies learn?
		3.5 From birth to 1: Some things babies like to do
		3.6 Mindfulness practice—Walking meditation
		3.7 Quick mood scale and pleasant activities
Thoughts	Session 4: Thoughts and how they affect mood	4.1 What are thoughts?
		4.2 Violet and Mary's days
		4.3 Mindfulness practice—Leaves on a Stream
		4.4 Helpful thoughts and unhelpful thoughts
	Session 5:	5.1 Unhelpful thought patterns and challenging
	Identifying and	them
	modifying unhelpful thoughts Session 6: Relationship between mood,	5.2 Ways to change unhelpful thoughts
		5.3 Stopping unhelpful thoughts
		6.1 Thoughts about being a mother
		6.2 Thinking about your baby's future
	thoughts, and	6.3 Thinking about your future
	the future	6.4 Quick Mood Scale and Thoughts
Contact with	Session 7:	7.1 Relationship between mood and contact with
others	Contact with	others
	other people and mood	7.2 Violet and Mary's days
		7.3 Mindfulness practice—Web of life
		7.4 Quick mood scale and contact with people
	Session 8:	8.1 The people in my life
	Social support for parent and	8.2 People in my life and the ways they support me
	child	8.3 Role changes and disagreements
		8.4 People who provide support for me and my baby
	Session 9:	9.1 Communication styles and your mood
	Communication style and mood	9.2 Getting your needs met

meanings, and values" (43). EBIs serve diverse populations in ever-changing contexts, with adaptation allowing service providers greater ownership over the content and bringing families' culture and expertise to the forefront. Adapting an intervention with community members promotes likelihood that its implementation will be sustained (44).

There are key elements of an EBI that should be maintained, including the pedagogy of the intervention (45, 46). MB's



core components are CBT and attachment theory: regardless of adaptation, participants should receive and emerge with the same skills and knowledge (47). Participant responsiveness is another a key component of fidelity, making adaptations crucial to maintaining participant engagement (47). Making "fidelity-consistent" adaptations while maintaining these core elements can ultimately impact the reach and effectiveness of the intervention across settings, changing contexts, and over time (48).

There are various types of adaptations that fall into "surface level" or "deep" adaptations (49). Surface level adaptations attempt to match intervention materials to the observable characteristics of a population, like ensuring the people in images represent those being served and incorporating elements of music, language, food, and clothing into materials. Deep adaptations incorporate cultural, social, historical, environmental, psychological, and spiritual factors that can influence the health of the population (50, 51). Our work included both surface-level and deep adaptations to MB.

Process of Development and Workgroup Structure

The cultural adaptation process was conducted by a collaborative group of key stakeholders representing maternal and child health service providers, Lakota cultural expertise, and MB intervention researchers. Workgroup participants from the maternal and child health team included a program director, manager, supervisor, and staff member, all of whom had attended MB training, and some of whom were implementing MB or supervising implementation. An elder of the Oglala Sioux Tribe with expertise providing cultural consultation and training in areas of mental health and youth and family well-being, guided the process to incorporate traditional teachings into the MB intervention and manuals. Several members of the MB team with expertise in MB intervention development, implementation, and effectiveness research participated in the adaptation process.

Program managers and staff from GPTLHB reviewed the MB participant and facilitator manuals to identify areas where cultural adaptation was needed, including artwork, images, design elements, and cultural and spiritually grounded content. Family-facing materials were prioritized to ground

the adaptations within the participant experience. The next phase of adaptations was guided by the cultural consultant, who shared traditional teachings with the group as we learned and discussed how to integrate core concepts and practices to promote connectedness with Lakota culture (see **Figure 1** for timeline). Throughout the collaborative process we discussed ways to incorporate cultural components into the cognitive, behavioral, and attachment foundations of the MB intervention.

Adaptations were focused on representation of the Lakota people, who are part of the Oceti Sakowin (Seven Council Fires). The workgroup allowed space and time to process the intersection of scientific knowledge with Indigenous knowledge in determining how best to integrate the two for optimal fit and impact, navigating through a "cultural interface" (52). The workgroup attended to the challenges of creating cultural congruence by reflecting the core values we promote in the intervention. Our process reflected humility among those who were learning about Lakota beliefs and traditions, respect and honor for elders and service providers who shared traditional knowledge and experiences, wisdom guiding preservation of the core MB intervention to maintain its fidelity as well as relatability for both providers and participants, compassion for American Indian children, families and communities, generosity of time, effort, and expertise, and openness throughout the iterative process to reach consensus on every adaptation.

Cultural Context Informing Adaptation

Traditionally and historically, Lakota people believe in the sacredness of life. A prime example of this was how Lakota children were viewed—as gifts from the Creator and as the life blood of the future of the people. Thus, every opportunity to enhance their growth—physically, mentally, emotionally, and spiritually—was taken as a responsibility to support them in reaching their full potential and fulfill their purpose in life. Lakota people refer to the unborn child as "*hoksi nagi*" (spirit infant) because it is believed that the child exists as a spirit being prior to being born to the earth. The mother was protected by the extended family thereby protecting the hoksi nagi. Once the hoksi nagi came to the physical realm of the earth, then they traveled through four stages of life called "Oinajin Topa" and

within those four stages there were seven transitions that each individual made.

Each of the seven transitions had teachings, protocols, and ceremonies that corresponded to the age range within each stage. For example, the Hoksicila (infant) stage began with a grandmother welcoming the infant to the world, bestowing a blessing on the infant, giving thanks to the Creator for the gift, and making a prediction for the life of the infant as they make the journey through each stage. The Wakanyeja (as a sacred being or child) was treated as sacred, never being hit and always spoken to gently, which was a reflection of the belief of their sacredness. Conduct toward the child was governed by the belief that the child's spirit could turn around and return to the spirit world at any time. The epistemology, or ways of knowing, of the Lakota people included great reverence for "allegiance to higher spiritual powers" (53). The belief that those higher spiritual powers could influence the journey of the child on earth or contribute to an untimely return to the spirit world was given great credence. Unfortunately, the disconnection of many Lakota people from their cultural and spiritual lifeways has resulted in some children no longer being treated as sacred beings. The disproportionately high rates of abuse and family separation among American Indian children illustrate the glaring departure from the concept of children as gifts from the Creator to be treated as sacred and shows the need to reconnect to that concept (10).

How do we reconnect to the conceptual understanding that children are sacred and the relationship between the mother and her baby requires ongoing support? The cultural adaptation of MB aimed to underscore the need for that reconnection. While it was the Lakota worldview, belief system and ancestral teachings that informed the cultural adaptation, it was understood there is a great diversity among American Indians so key constructs that spoke to universally held beliefs were highlighted; first and foremost, "children are sacred" has been a common belief among many, if not all, American Indian tribal nations. Warne (54) posits that strengthening cultural values is an important strategy to reducing health disparities, while highlighting the critical factor of the impact that family health has on child health. The cultural adaptation of MB weaves activities throughout that strengthen the bond between the mother and her culture, thereby strengthening the bond between the mother and her baby. The cultural adaptation of MB was a deliberate and thoughtful effort toward cultural grounding of the material, always with the sacredness of children in the forefront and Lakota cultural ancestral teachings as the foundation.

RESULTS

Description of Adaptations

After thorough review of the participant and facilitator manuals by the entire workgroup, various changes were made to both manuals, inclusive of surface- and deep-level adaptations. Adaptations began with the participant manual given that these materials are family-facing. Adaptations were then made to the facilitator guide to reflect changes in the participant guide, and to provide further resources and support for service providers when delivering the adapted curriculum (see **Table 2** for description).

Surface-level adaptations consisted of revised color scheme, cover artwork depicting a star quilt, photos, and illustrations depicting Indigenous peoples, clothing, activities, and culture, and Lakota language for key concepts (e.g., sacred laws, kinship terms). For example, in the original MB participant manual, a seesaw depicts the imbalance that stress causes in our lives, vs. the balance that is created when we utilize the cognitivebehavioral skills learned in MB. This seesaw was replaced with a tipping and then balanced canoe. Three vignettes introduce each core CBT module through the stories of Violet and Mary's days. These were reimagined as Dawn and Sunset-names reflecting the connection with the natural world common among Lakota people. We worked with an artist of Colombian and Honduran native descent, to create appropriate illustrations. Pleasant activity examples were changed to be more culturally appropriate, such as attending a pow wow, harvesting herbs, and beading. Each of these elements were selected after deliberation and consensus among workgroup members, using an iterative process.

Deep-level adaptations incorporated important spiritual elements, ancestral teachings, and cultural values. In the first MB session, as participants are introduced to stressors that can affect the mother-baby relationship, they are also introduced to the Lakota worldview of governance of self, family, and community referred to as Woop'e Sakowin (Seven Sacred Laws)-compassion, generosity, humility, fortitude, respect and honor, bravery, and wisdom. An additional worksheet addressing strengths that can affect the mother-baby relationship encourages participants to identify strengths they already have. Examples such as "wocekiye" (sending voice to Creator) and "wotakuye" (strong kinship system) are included to support the process of identifying with culturally-based strengths and values. As participants are introduced to their personal reality-a term used to encompass both inner and outer experiences in relation to cognitive-behavioral theory-a lens toward the Lakota worldview "woiwanke" is used to frame concepts. A medicine wheel or sacred circle is used to depict the relationship between our inner and outer realities, and our mood. The Lakota worldview includes "nagi" or spirit within one's inner reality, encouraging participants to strengthen the core part of their being-their spirit. Each of these elements are revisited throughout the curriculum to reinforce that spirituality and the seven sacred laws are fundamental elements of reducing stress, improving mental health, and building a healthy mother-baby relationship.

A small medicine wheel icon is used throughout the facilitator manual to indicate where adaptations have been made and places that further adaptations can be made to meet the needs of a particular community. Several appendices were added to the facilitator guide with further cultural teachings and practices such as "How to Make a Wokpan" (spirit toolkit), a kinship chart, and a spiritual calendar.

Description of Products

Fully adapted participant and facilitator MB manuals for use in tribal communities are available for access *via* the MB website¹. Adaptation guidance is provided through facilitation

¹mothersandbabiesprogram.org

TABLE 2 | Adaptations.

Manual	Section	Type of adaptation	Adaptation description
Both Throughout		Surface-level:	Color scheme changed throughout entire participant and facilitator manual, beading motif added throughout Language – Lakota words included <i>throughout</i> both manuals (i.e., Ina Na Hoksicila Woonspe = The Mother and Babies Course) (those that have deep spirit and cultural roots have been included below, all language changes have not been listed due to sheer amount)
			Culturally appropriate illustrations: imagery changed throughout manuals to be representative of native peoples (individual changes of this type are not all listed below due to sheer amount)
Both	Cover	Surface-level and Deep:	Culturally appropriate illustration – cover art changed to artwork of a Lakota star quilt on both manuals
Participant Introduction, Session 1	Surface-level:	1.1: tailoring content —"too much work" changed to "employment issues; and "household chores" changed to, "lack of safe, adequate, and stable housing," "problems with your partner or others" changed to 'relationship issues"	
			1.4: culturally appropriate illustration - seesaw changed to tipping canoe
			1.5: tailoring content - slight modification to streamline "what is mindfulness?" content
		Deep:	1.2: new worksheet added "Strengths that can affect the mother-baby relationship"
			1.3: new worksheet added "Woope Sakowin Seven Sacred Laws"
			1.5: tailoring content —cultural references added linking mindfulness to seven sacred laws (i.e., "inila"-being still, calm, quiet; "ksapa" being aware/alert)
			1.6: tailoring content-Lakota worldview and medicine wheel included to incorporate spirit into inner reality
Participant	Pleasant Activities, Session 2	Surface-level:	2.1: culturally appropriate illustration, tailoring content —Dawn and Sunset vignette, pleasant activity = making wojapi
			2.2: culturally appropriate illustration, tailoring content—pleasant activities list changed to include culturally appropriate activities, illustration of native family added
			2.3: illustration illustration changed to tree local to Lakota region
		Deep:	2.3: culturally appropriate illustration – tree has been adorned with prayer tobacco tie offerings (used during Sun Dance)
Participant	Pleasant Activities, Session 3	Surface-level:	3.1: culturally appropriate illustration, tailoring content—"obstacles" changed to "challenges," illustration of woman climbing stairs changed to person at fork in road in nature
Participant	articipant Thoughts, Session 4	Deep:	4.1: tailoring content —Thought bubble changed from "Pregnancy and having a new baby are special times in my life" to "A new baby is a blessing from the Creator"
			4.3: tailoring content - instructions changed to "Use the mind's eye"
		Surface-level:	4.2: culturally appropriate illustration - Dawn and Sunset vignette
			4.3: photograph – photograph of maple leaves (local to Lakota region)
Participant	Thoughts,	Surface level:	5.3: illustration - illustration changed to tree local to Lakota region
	Session 5	Deep:	5.3: culturally appropriate illustration - tree has been adorned with prayer ties (used during Sun Dance)
Participant	Thoughts, Session 6	Deep:	6.2: tailoring content and imagery—Thinking about baby's future reimagined as concentric circles and a progression over the first 5 years of child's life
Participant	Session 6	Surface-level:	6.3: culturally appropriate illustration and tailoring content: Example and corresponding illustrations changed to "I want to have my own home" and "I will connect with housing resources in my community"
Participant	Contact With Others, Session 7	Surface-level:	7.2: culturally appropriate illustration and tailoring content—Dawn and sunset vignette, activity changed from shopping to taking a walk
Participant	Session 7	Deep:	7.3: tailoring content —spirit and cultural elements incorporated into mindfulness practice (i.e., "Reach up to ANPE WI (Sun). Envision the WICAHPI OYATE (the Star Nation) and UNCI MAKA (Grandmother Earth). Remember you are a part of the MAKA SITOMNI (Universe) and were sent from the NAGI YATA (Spirit World) a a blessing to the people and this earth")
Participant	Contact With Others, Session 8	Deep:	8.1: tailoring content and imagery—"The People In My Life" graphic reimagined as a circle of kinship incorporating visual elements from the seven sacred laws
Facilitator	Throughout		Instructions changed to incorporate Seven Sacred Laws, Sacred Circle Within Me and all other new addition
			Medicine wheel icon used throughout to demonstrate when an adaptation was made and/or where a facilitator can make further adaptations to meet the needs of their community
Facilitator	Appendices		Appendices added at end of facilitator manual including: (a) Cultural Adaptation Process and Workgroup Members, (b) Glossary, (c) Seven Sacred Laws (extra worksheet for printing), (d) Sacred Circle Within Me (extra worksheet for printing), (e) How To Make A Wokpan (Spirit Toolkit), (f) Kinship Chart, (g) Oglala Lakota Spirit Calendar, (h) Adaptation Guidance, and (i) Additional Resources

tips within MB sessions referencing cultural resources and approaches, as well as an adaptation guide in the appendix to provide context and guidance for making further fidelityconsistent cultural adaptations. The adaptation guide includes: (1) "green light" adaptations-safe, encouraged, and fidelity consistent, to fit the culture and context; (2) "yellow light" adaptations-changes that should be made with caution, consulting an expert is encouraged; and (3) "red light" adaptations-fidelity inconsistent changes that would weaken or remove key components of the intervention and would therefore compromise intervention fidelity and efficacy. While this adaptation was developed with and for members of the Lakota Tribe, we believe that these culturally adapted MB manuals will be useful in other tribal communities as well, with further adaptation encouraged to ensure cultural fit, acceptability, and sustainable implementation.

Dissemination

Since the completing this cultural adaptation, we have cofacilitated a presentation with the US Health Resources and Services Administration, to which Tribal Maternal, Infant and Early Childhood Home Visiting Program grantees were invited, sharing background on MB, the cultural adaptation process, and examples of adapted content. We then facilitated a MB training for a group of service providers from organizations serving Indigenous populations in North Dakota, South Dakota and Michigan. A home visiting program in South Dakota translated the Lakota language into Dakota, to fit their community. Maternal and child health leadership in Vermont are discussing next steps in adapting MB for the Abenaki families they serve, and other home visiting networks serving American Indian families and communities have expressed interest in being trained in the culturally adapted manuals. This early interest and uptake is a testament to the purpose and the process for which our workgroup advocated.

DISCUSSION

If successful, adapted EBIs can have profound impact by improving reach, effectiveness, and health equity for marginalized populations. This cultural adaptation of MB has the potential for significant impact and is well-positioned to improve access to mental health resources as it can be implemented by paraprofessionals (39, 41). Moving tasks, as appropriate, to staff with lesser training, ("task-shifting") (55), can empower Indigenous paraprofessionals who are familiar with the spirituality, kinship patterns, language, and historical collective trauma to provide their participants with tools and skills to address their mental health. This adapted version of MB has the potential to reduce depressive symptoms, improve mother–baby attachment, reinvigorate engagement with spirit and cultural practices, and promote overall well-being of Indigenous families.

This adaptation process, grounded in humility and compassion, may be replicated by future scholars in collaboration with community members as they wish to adapt EBIs for varying populations and contexts. To prepare for these adaptations, researchers and intervention developers can proactively identify thematic elements in an EBI that must remain in order to maintain fidelity. Cultural adaptations must be led by members of the community. We encourage scholars and researchers engaging in this process to do so with intention, openness, compassion, and a focus on health equity.

Evaluation

This work is intended to enhance the acceptability, reach, and uptake of the MB intervention, to improve mental health outcomes of parents and children through an adapted EBI that prioritizes cultural restoration alongside cognitivebehavioral skills. The use of hybrid effectiveness-implementation research designs (56) can guide aspects of both intervention implementation and effectiveness evaluation. We will evaluate the acceptability, feasibility, and fidelity of the adapted manuals through yearly implementation surveys, developed to guide scaling among tribal communities and through tribal home visiting. Additional implementation metrics include qualitative research with service providers and participants, to learn more about intervention and adaptation acceptability, skill utilization, participant responsiveness, and provider recommendations. We will collaborate with Indigenous communities to develop culturally relevant measures and acceptable methods to evaluate the implementation and impact of the culturally adapted intervention, to promote acceptability and effectiveness of the research process as well (57).

Future Directions

There is need for further funding for development and evaluation of culturally-normed EBIs in Tribal communities, further cultural adaptation of EBIs, as well as development of EBIs specifically for and with Indigenous populations across healthcare and service systems.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

We would like to thank the following funders for their support for this cultural adaptation: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration Grant #1 H79 SM080173-01 to the Great Plains Tribal Leaders' Health Board; Perigee Fund grant to the Northwestern University Mothers and Babies Program (PI: SD Tandon).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank and acknowledge the cultural adaptation workgroup participants for their

REFERENCES

- O'Keefe VM, Cwik MF, Haroz EE, Barlow A. Increasing culturally responsive care and mental health equity with Indigenous community mental health workers. *Psychol Serv.* (2021) 18:84–92. doi: 10.1037/ser0000358
- Evans-Campbell T. Historical trauma in American Indian/Native Alaska communities: a multilevel framework for exploring impacts on individuals, families, and communities. *J Interpers Violence*. (2008) 23:316–38. doi: 10.1177/0886260507312290
- Evans-Campbell T, Walters KL, Pearson CR, Campbell CD. Indian boarding school experience, substance use, and mental health among urban two-spirit American Indian/Alaska natives. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*. (2012) 38:421–7. doi: 10.3109/00952990.2012.701358
- Bowen A, Duncan V, Peacock S, Bowen R, Schwartz L, Campbell D, et al. Mood and anxiety problems in perinatal Indigenous women in Australia, New Zealand, Canada, and the United States: a critical review of the literature. *Transcult Psychiatry*. (2014) 51:93–111. doi: 10.1177/1363461513501712
- Owais S, Faltyn M, Johnson AVD, Gabel C, Downey B, Kates N, et al. The perinatal mental health of Indigenous women: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2020) 65:149–63. doi: 10.1177/0706743719877029
- Beals J, Belcourt-Dittloff A, Garroutte EM, Croy C, Jervis LL, Whitesell NR, et al. Trauma and conditional risk of posttraumatic stress disorder in two American Indian reservation communities. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2013) 48:895–905. doi: 10.1007/s00127-012-0615-5
- 7. Nicolai SS, Saus M. Acknowledging the past while looking to the future: conceptualizing indigenous child trauma. *Child Welfare*. (2013) 92:55–74.
- Whitbeck LB, Adams GW, Hoyt DR, Chen X. Conceptualizing and measuring historical trauma among American Indian people. *Am J Community Psychol.* (2004) 33:119–30. doi: 10.1023/B:AJCP.0000027000.77357.31
- Brave Heart MYH, Chase J, Elkins J, Altschul DB. Historical trauma among Indigenous Peoples of the Americas: concepts, research, clinical considerations. J Psychoactive Drugs. (2011) 43:282–90. doi: 10.1080/02791072.2011.628913
- Ely D, Driscoll AK. Infant mortality in the United States, 2018: data from the period linked birth/infant death file. *Natl Vital Stat Rep.* (2020) 69:1–18. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr69/NVSR-69-7-508.pdf (accessed January 10, 2022).
- National Congress of American Indians. *Health Care: Reducing Disparities in the Federal Health Care Budget*. (2019). Retrieved from: https://www.ncai.org/ 07_NCAI-FY20-Healthcare.pdf (accessed January 10, 2022).
- Chan AW, Reid C, Skeffington P, Marriott R. A systematic review of EPDS cultural suitability with Indigenous mothers: a global perspective. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2021) 24:353–65. doi: 10.1007/s00737-020-01084-2
- Heck JL. Screening for postpartum depression in American Indian/Alaska Native women: a comparison of two instruments. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* (2018) 25:74–102. doi: 10.5820/aian.2502.2018.74
- Duran B, Oetzel J, Lucero J, Jiang Y, Novins DK, Manson S, et al. Obstacles for rural American Indians seeking alcohol, drug, or mental health treatment. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2005) 73:819–29. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.73.5.819
- Johnson CV, Bartgis J, Worley JA, Hellman CM, Burkhart R. Urban Indian voices: a community-based participatory research health and needs assessment. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* (2010) 17:49–70. doi: 10.5820/aian.1701.2010.49
- Aronson BD, Johnson-Jennings M, Kading ML, Smith RC, Walls ML. Mental health service and provider preference among American Indians with type 2 diabetes. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* (2016) 23:1–23. doi: 10.5820/aian.2301.2016.1
- 17. Slomian J, Honvo G, Emonts P, Reginster JY, Bruyère O. Consequences of maternal postpartum depression: a systematic review of maternal and

contributions throughout the adaptation process: EI, LL, Jennilea Steffens, Terri Rattler, Christy Hacker, Amanda Bannan, EW, EG, Jaime Hamil, Cristina Barkowski, Jessica Ogwumike.

infant outcomes. Womens Health (Lond). (2019) 15:1745506519844044. doi: 10.1177/1745506519844044

- Gotlib IH, Goodman SH, Humphreys KL. Studying the intergenerational transmission of risk for depression: current status and future directions. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (2020) 29:174–9. doi: 10.1177/0963721420901590
- Sliwerski A, Kossakowska K, Jarecka K, Switalska J, Bielawska-Batorowicz E. The effect of maternal depression on infant attachment: a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:2675. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17082675
- Palacios J, Kennedy HP. Reflections of Native American teen mothers. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. (2010) 39:425–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2010.01149.x
- Frankel KA, Croy CD, Kubicek LF, Emde RN, Mitchell CM, Spicer P. Toddler socioemotional behavior in a northern plains Indian tribe: associations with maternal psychosocial well-being. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2014) 35:10–20. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21422
- Sarche MC, Croy CD, Crow CB, Mitchell CM, Spicer P. Maternal correlates of 2-year-old American Indian children's social-emotional development in a Northern Plains tribe. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2009) 30:321–40. doi: 10.1002/imhj.20217
- Wurster HE, Sarche M, Trucksess C, Morse B, Biringen Z. Parents' adverse childhood experiences and parent-child emotional availability in an American Indian community: relations with young children's social-emotional development. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2020) 32:425–36. doi: 10.1017/S095457941900018X
- Raglan GB, Lannon SM, Jones KM, Schulkin J. Racial and ethnic disparities in preterm birth among American Indian and Alaska Native women. *Matern Child Health J.* (2016) 20:16–24. doi: 10.1007/s10995-015-1803-1
- Walters KL, Mohammed SA, Evans-Campbell T, Beltrán RE, Chae DH, Duran B. BODIES DON'T JUST TELL STORIES. THEY TELL HISTORIES: Embodiment of Historical Trauma among American Indians and Alaska Natives. *Du Bois Rev.* (2011) 8:179–89. doi: 10.1017/S1742058X11 00018X
- 26. U. S. Department of Health and Human Services Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. *Child Maltreatment 2019*. (2021). Retrieved from: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/research-data-technology/ statistics-research/child-maltreatment (Accessed January 10, 2022).
- Child Welfare League of America. South Dakota's Children 2019. (2019). Retrieved from: https://www.cwla.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/South-Dakota-2019.pdf (accessed January 10, 2022).
- Reinschmidt KM, Attakai A, Kahn CB, Whitewater S, Teufel-Shone N. Shaping a Stories of Resilience Model from urban American Indian elders' narratives of historical trauma and resilience. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* (2016) 23:63–85. doi: 10.5820/aian.2304.2016.63
- Tolliver-Lynn MN, Marris AM, Sullivan MA, Armans M. The role of the parent-child relationship in fostering resilience in American Indian/Alaskan Native children. J Community Psychol. (2021) 49:419–31. doi: 10.1002/jcop.22468
- Grayshield L, Rutherford JJ, Salazar SB, Mihecoby AL, Luna LL. Understanding and healing historical trauma: the perspectives of Native American elders. J Ment Health Counsel. (2015) 37:295–307. doi: 10.17744/mehc.37.4.02
- Le HN, Perry DF, Mendelson T, Tandon SD, Munoz RF. Preventing perinatal depression in high risk women: moving the Mothers and Babies course from clinical trials to community implementation. *Matern Child Health J.* (2015) 19:2102–10. doi: 10.1007/s10995-015-1729-7
- Muñoz RF, Le, H.-N., Ippen CG, Diaz MA, Urizar GG, et al. Prevention of postpartum depression in low-income women: development of the Mamás y Bebés/Mothers and Babies course. *Cogn Behav Pract.* (2007) 14:70–83. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2006.04.021

- Le HN, Perry DF, Stuart EA. Randomized controlled trial of a preventive intervention for perinatal depression in high-risk Latinas. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2011) 79:135–41. doi: 10.1037/a0022492
- Le HN, Zmuda J, Perry DF, Munoz RF. Transforming an evidencebased intervention to prevent perinatal depression for low-income Latina immigrants. Am J Orthopsychiatry. (2010) 80:34–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01005.x
- 35. McFarlane E, Burrell L, Duggan A, Tandon SD. Outcomes of a randomized trial of a cognitive behavioral enhancement to address maternal distress in home visited mothers. *Matern Child Health J.* (2017) 21:475–84. doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-2125-7
- 36. Mendelson T, Leis JA, Perry DF, Stuart EA, Tandon SD. Impact of a preventive intervention for perinatal depression on mood regulation, social support, and coping. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2013) 16:211–8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-013-0332-4
- Tandon SD, Perry DF, Mendelson T, Kemp K, Leis JA. Preventing perinatal depression in low-income home visiting clients: a randomized controlled trial. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2011) 79:707–12. doi: 10.1037/a0024895
- Tandon SD, Leis JA, Ward EA, Snyder H, Mendelson T, Perry DF, et al. Adaptation of an evidence-based postpartum depression intervention: feasibility and acceptability of mothers and babies 1-on-1. *BMC Pregnan Childbirth.* (2018) 18:93. doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-1726-0
- Tandon SD, Ward EA, Hamil JL, Jimenez C, Carter M. Perinatal depression prevention through home visitation: a cluster randomized trial of Mothers and Babies 1-on-1. J Behav Med. (2018) 41:641–52. doi: 10.1007/s10865-018-9934-7
- Curry SJ, Krist AH, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Caughey AB, Davidson KW, et al. Interventions to prevent perinatal depression: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *JAMA*. (2019) 321:580–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.0007
- 41. Tandon SD, Johnson JK, Diebold A, Segovia M, Gollan JK, Degillio A, et al. Comparing the effectiveness of home visiting paraprofessionals and mental health professionals delivering a postpartum depression preventive intervention: a cluster-randomized non-inferiority clinical trial. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. (2021) 24:1–2. doi: 10.1007/s00737-021-01112-9
- Alvidrez J, Nápoles AM, Bernal G, Lloyd J, Cargill V, Godette D, et al. Building the evidence base to inform planned intervention adaptations by practitioners serving health disparity populations. *Am J Public Health*. (2019) 109:S94–S101. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304915
- Bernal G, Jiménez-Chafey MI, Domenech Rodríguez MM. Cultural adaptation of treatments: a resource for considering culture in evidence-based practice. *Prof Psychol Res Pract.* (2009) 40:361–8. doi: 10.1037/a0016401
- Marsiglia FF, Booth JM. Cultural adaptation of interventions in real practice settings. *Res Soc Work Pract.* (2015) 25:423–32. doi: 10.1177/1049731514535989
- Castro FG, Barrera M Jr, Martinez CR Jr. The cultural adaptation of prevention interventions: resolving tensions between fidelity and fit. *Prev Sci.* (2004) 5:41–5. doi: 10.1023/B:PREV.0000013980.12412.cd
- Mejia A, Leijten P, Lachman JM, Parra-Cardona JR. Different strokes for different folks? Contrasting approaches to cultural adaptation of parenting interventions. *Prev Sci.* (2017) 18:630–9. doi: 10.1007/s11121-016-0671-2
- An M, Dusing SC, Harbourne RT, Sheridan SM. What really works in intervention? Using fidelity measures to support optimal outcomes. *Phys Ther.* (2020) 100:757–65. doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzaa006

- Shelton RC, Chambers DA, Glasgow RE. An extension of RE-AIM to enhance sustainability: addressing dynamic context and promoting health equity over time. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:134. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00134
- Wiltsey Stirman S, Baumann AA, Miller CJ. The FRAME: an expanded framework for reporting adaptations and modifications to evidence-based interventions. *Implement Sci.* (2019) 14:58. doi: 10.1186/s13012-019-0898-y
- 50. Resnicow K, Baranowski T, Ahluwalia JS, Braithwaite RL. Cultural sensitivity in public health: defined and demystified. *Ethn Dis.* (1999) 9:10–21.
- Wang-Schweig M, Kviz FJ, Altfeld SJ, Miller AM, Miller BA. Building a conceptual framework to culturally adapt health promotion and prevention programs at the deep structural level. *Health Promot Pract.* (2014) 15:575–84. doi: 10.1177/1524839913518176
- Nakata M. Indigenous knowledge and the cultural interface: Underlying issues at the intersection of knowledge and information systems. *IFLA J.* (2002) 28:281–91. doi: 10.1177/034003520202800513
- 53. Deloria V. God is Red: A Native View of Religion. Wheat Ridge, CO: Fulcrum Publishing (2003).
- Warne D. Traditional perspectives on child and family health. Paediatr Child Health. (2005) 10:542–4. doi: 10.1093/pch/10.9.542
- World Health Organization. Task Shifting: Rational Redistribution of Tasks Among Health Workforce Teams: Global Recommendations and Guidelines. (2008). Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/healthsystems/TTR-TaskShifting.pdf
- Curran GM, Bauer M, Mittman B, Pyne JM, Stetler C. Effectivenessimplementation hybrid designs: combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to enhance public health impact. *Med Care*. (2012) 50:217–26. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182408812
- 57. Esposito AM, Yanez A, Sama-Miller E. Designing and Conducting Early Childhood Home Visiting Evaluations in Tribal Communities: Takeaways from the HomVEE Review of Research with Tribal Populations. OPRE Report #2020-163. Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, United States (2020). Available online at: https://www.acf.hhs. gov/sites/default/files/documents/opre/Target_Audience_Brief_Evaluators_ Final.pdf

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ward, Iron Cloud-Two Dogs, Gier, Littlefield and Tandon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Contributions of COVID-19 Pandemic-Related Stressors to Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Mental Health During Pregnancy

Lyndsay A. Avalos^{*}, Nerissa Nance, Yeyi Zhu, Lisa A. Croen, Kelly C. Young-Wolff, Ousseny Zerbo, Monique M. Hedderson, Assiamira Ferrara, Jennifer L. Ames and Sylvia E. Badon

Division of Research, Kaiser Permanente Northern California, Oakland, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandraluz Lara-Cinisomo, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Amy L. Non, University of California, San Diego, United States Jonathan M. Platt, The University of Iowa, United States Kimberly D'Anna-Hernandez, Marquette University, United States

*Correspondence:

Lyndsay A. Avalos Lyndsay.A.Avalos@kp.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 December 2021 Accepted: 11 February 2022 Published: 14 March 2022

Citation:

Avalos LA, Nance N, Zhu Y, Croen LA, Young-Wolff KC, Zerbo O, Hedderson MM, Ferrara A, Ames JL and Badon SE (2022) Contributions of COVID-19 Pandemic-Related Stressors to Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Mental Health During Pregnancy. Front. Psychiatry 13:837659. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.837659 **Background:** This study aimed to identify racial and ethnic disparities in prenatal mental health and identify COVID-19 pandemic-related health/healthcare and economic contributors to these disparities, using an established framework for disparity investigation.

Methods: This cross-sectional study includes 10,930 pregnant people at Kaiser Permanente Northern California who completed an online survey between June 22, 2020 and April 28, 2021 on COVID-19 pandemic-related health/healthcare and economic stressors, depression, and anxiety. Self-reported race and ethnicity were extracted from electronic health records. Weighted analyses were used to evaluate the association between racial and ethnic category and prenatal depression and anxiety; the prevalence of each stressor by race and ethnicity; and the relationship between each stressor and prenatal depression and anxiety in each racial and ethnic category.

Results: The sample was 22% Asian, 3% Black, 20% Hispanic, 5% Other/Multiracial/Unknown, and 49% White. Compared to White people, Black and Hispanic people had a higher prevalence of prenatal depression (aPR: 1.85, 95% Cl: 1.45, 2.35 and aPR: 1.17, 95% Cl: 1.00, 1.37, respectively) and anxiety (aPR: 1.71, 95% Cl: 1.34, 2.18 and aPR: 1.10, 95% Cl: 0.94, 1.29, respectively). Compared to White people, Black and Hispanic people had a higher prevalence of moderate/severe distress due to changes in prenatal care (24 vs. 34 and 31%), and food insecurity (9 vs. 31 and 24%). Among Black and Hispanic people, distress due to changes in prenatal care was associated with a greater prevalence of prenatal depression (aPR: 2.27, 95% Cl: 1.41, 3.64 and aPR: 2.76, 95% Cl: 2.12, 3.58, respectively) and prenatal anxiety (aPR: 3.00, 95% Cl: 1.85, 4.84 and aPR: 2.82, 95% Cl: 2.15, 3.71, respectively). Additionally, among Hispanic people, high-risk employment and food insecurity were associated with a greater prevalence of prenatal depression and anxiety.

Conclusions: This study identified racial and ethnic disparities in mental health for pregnant Black and Hispanic people. Distress due to prenatal care changes contributed to the observed disparities in prenatal depression and anxiety for Black and Hispanic people and food insecurity additionally contributed to the observed disparities for
Hispanic people. Addressing distress due to changes to prenatal care and food insecurity specifically in Black and Hispanic people may help reduce the high burden of poor mental health and reduce observed disparities in these communities.

Keywords: COVID-19, prenatal depression, prenatal anxiety, antenatal depression, antenatal anxiety, stressors, social determinants of health

INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic in the U.S. has disproportionately impacted communities of color with substantially higher rates of infection, hospitalization, and death documented in Asian, Black, and Hispanic people compared to White people (1). In addition, the pandemic has exacerbated deep-seated social and economic disparities related to living conditions and work environments (2) putting communities of color at heightened risk of COVID-19-related stressors and adverse mental heath outcomes.

Pregnant people in particular, have been acutely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Compared to White people, pregnant people of color are at greater risk of severe COVID-19 illness with Black and Hispanic people at highest risk (3). Changes to prenatal care, concerns about the heightened risks of SARS-CoV-2 infection for themselves and their fetus, and school closures and loss of childcare (4) have increased stress in pregnant people. Several COVID-19-related health and health care stressors (e.g., a job with increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, distress over changes to prenatal care) as well as economic stressors (e.g., childcare challenges) have been reported to be associated with prenatal psychological distress (depression, anxiety) (5-9). Given the disproportionate impact of the pandemic on communities of color, pregnant Asian, Black, and Hispanic people may experience higher rates of COVID-19-related stressors as well as depression and anxiety, compared to pregnant White people.

While disparities in prenatal mental health have been documented prior to the pandemic with higher rates of depression and anxiety among pregnant Black and Hispanic people compared to White people (10, 11), little research on prenatal mental health disparities has been conducted during the pandemic (12). With the goal of identifying racial and ethnic disparities in mental health among pregnant people during the COVID-19 pandemic and COVID-19 pandemic-related contributors to these disparities, we followed the framework for disparity investigation described by Ward et al. (13) This framework shifts away from the sole use of interaction terms to assess health disparities and instead promotes a more comprehensive approach through a combination of racial and ethnic group-specific estimates in each of the following: (1) the prevalence of the outcome, (2) the prevalence of the exposure, and (3) the relationship between the exposure and outcome. Ward et al. demonstrate that an exposure associated with an outcome in the disadvantaged group can contribute to a disparity regardless of whether the relationship differs between racial and ethnic groups if differences in prevalence of the exposure are also taken into account. The contribution of this exposure to the disparity would be overlooked when relying only on significance testing of interaction terms without considering prevalence of the exposure. Thus, this framework allows for a more comprehensive and informative understanding of contributors to health disparities than that from use of interaction terms only. We hypothesized COVID-19-related stressors will contribute to racial and ethnic disparities in prenatal depression and anxiety.

METHODS

Setting

This study was conducted in Kaiser Permanente Northern California (KPNC), a large integrated health care delivery system that provides comprehensive medical care to over 4.5 million members. All 15 regional service centers (with 48 associated office facilities) have Obstetrics and Gynecology and Behavioral Medicine/Psychiatry Departments. KPNC members include people covered by employee-sponsored insurance plans, the insurance exchange and Medicaid. Coverage is provided for \sim 40% of the northern California population. KPNC members are socio-demographically similar to the population living in the geographic area served by the health plan (14). KNPC maintains comprehensive electronic health records (EHR) for all members.

Study Design

This cross-sectional analysis was conducted using data from the ongoing KPNC COVID-19 Pregnancy Study (15). This analysis includes data collected from pregnant KPNC members between June 22, 2020 and April 28, 2021. Detailed information on the study design and cohort has been published previously (15). Briefly, pregnant KPNC members at least 12 weeks of gestation, 18 years of age or older and English-speaking were identified from the EHR every 2 weeks and invited to complete a brief, web-based survey.

The Institutional Review Board of KPNC approved all study procedures and participants indicated informed consent by completing the survey after reviewing the consent information in the recruitment email.

Measures

Race and ethnicity categories were ascertained from selfreported race and ethnicity in KPNC's electronic health records (EHR) and defined as Asian, Black, Hispanic, Other, and White. The Other category included racial and ethnic categories for which there were a small number of participants (Native American, Pacific Islander, Multiracial) as well as Unknown.

Prenatal mental health outcomes were captured in the survey. **Depression**. The 8-item, Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-8) depression screener has been validated for use in perinatal populations (16, 17) and was used to assess depression symptoms in the past 2 weeks. The PHQ-8 is similar to the PHQ-9 which has been validated for use across diverse racial and ethnic patients (18), with the exception that it excludes the question regarding suicide ideation. Scores range from 0 to 24 and scores of 10–24 were categorized as clinically significant depressive symptoms. **Anxiety**. The General Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD-7) (19) has been validated in prenatal (20) and racially diverse populations (21, 22), and was used to measure anxiety symptoms in the past two weeks. Scores range from 0 to 21 and scores of 10–21 were categorized as clinically significant anxiety symptoms.

Several COVID-19 pandemic-related stressors were also captured in the survey. Health and healthcare stressors: Participants were asked if a healthcare provider had told them that they had or likely had COVID-19 (COVID-19 in pregnancy; y/n); if a member of their household had or probably had COVID-19 (Household member had COVID-19; y/n); whether their job put them at increased risk of COVID-19 (highrisk employment; y/n); and how distressed they were about changes to their prenatal care due to the COVID-19 pandemic (moderately/extremely vs. not at all/mildly). Economic stressors: All questions referred to the time frame of "since becoming aware of the COVID-19 pandemic." Participants were asked if they lost their job permanently, temporarily or reduced their work hours (Lost job or reduced hours; y/n), if their spouse/partner lost their job permanently, temporarily or reduced their work hours (Partner lost job or reduced hours; y/n), and if their childcare was impacted such that they had difficulty arranging childcare or had to pay more for childcare (Childcare challenges; y/n). The validated 2-item Hunger Vital Sign screener was used to assess food insecurity (23). Food insecurity (y/n) was defined as responding often true or sometimes true (vs. never true) to either statement: (1) you worried that your food would run out before getting money to buy more or (2) the food you bought did not last and you did not have enough money to get more.

Demographic and Health Characteristics

The following data were ascertained from the EHR: maternal age at delivery (continuous in years), insurance type (commercial, government/public), trimester at survey completion (trimester one/trimester two, trimester three) and parity (zero, one, or 2+ previous births).

Statistical Analysis

Inverse probability weights were created to account for survey non-response (20% response rate in the eligible sample; **Supplementary Table 1**). Inverse probability weights for survey response were calculated using predicted probabilities from a logistic regression model including variables expected to be associated with survey response (race and ethnicity category, insurance type, parity, trimester of pregnancy at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic), additional factors strongly associated with depression or anxiety symptoms (maternal age), and all interaction terms. Weights ranged from 1.56 to 59.19 in participants who completed the survey. To limit the influence from observations with extreme weights, weights were truncated at 20 for the 20 participants with weights >20 (24).

Multiple imputation by chained equations (MICE) (25) was used to address potential bias from excluding participants with

missing data (complete case analysis) since data were not missing completely at random (26). We performed 100 imputations to impute missing values for people with missing data for covariates included in the regression models (14% missing parity, 1% missing insurance type). After imputation, we excluded participants with missing data for outcomes (n = 876) (27). The final analytic sample included participants with non-missing outcome information (n = 10,930).

The Ward et al. (13) framework for disparity investigation outlines three steps for identifying contributors to racial health disparities: (1) assess if there are differences in outcome prevalence (e.g., prenatal depression and anxiety) between racial and ethnic groups; (2) assess if there are differences in exposure prevalence (e.g., COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors) between racial and ethnic groups, and (3) evaluate whether the relationship between the exposure (COVID-19-related stressors) and outcome (prenatal depression and anxiety) differs between racial and ethnic groups. Conclusions about COVID-19-related stressors that contributed to racial and ethnic prenatal mental health disparities were based on the results from the analyses in accordance with the Ward et al. guidelines. Below we outline the methods used for each of these steps.

We first assessed racial and ethnic differences in the prevalence of prenatal depression and anxiety. According to the framework, establishment of a difference in the prevalence of the outcome is fundamental to the definition of a racial and ethnic health disparity. If there is no difference in the prevalence, then a disparity does not exist. We used weighted modified Poisson regression models (28) to estimate prevalence ratios and 95% confidence intervals for prenatal depression and anxiety associated with racial and ethnic group, with and without adjusting for potential confounders (maternal age, parity, insurance type, calendar month of survey completion, and trimester at survey completion) for each imputed dataset. Results were combined using Rubin's rules (29). The final point estimate was calculated as the average of the point estimate distribution across regression model results from each imputed dataset; the variance was calculated using both within- and between-imputation variances.

Second, we evaluated racial and ethnic differences in prevalence of COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors. Weighted percentages and chi square statistics were calculated for each COVID-19-related stressor by racial and ethnic group for each imputed dataset and combined across imputed datasets (30).

Third, we assessed whether the relationship between COVID-19-related stressors and prenatal depression and anxiety differed by racial and ethnic group. An association between the exposure and the outcome in the disadvantaged group was in some cases sufficient to conclude the stressor contributed to the disparity, depending on the prevalence of the exposure in the racial and ethnic groups (13). We used weighted modified Poisson regression models (28) to estimate prevalence ratios and 95% confidence intervals for prenatal depression and anxiety associated with each COVID-19-related stressor stratified by racial and ethnic category. Models were mutually adjusted for all COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors and potential confounders (maternal age, parity, insurance type, calendar month of survey completion, and trimester at survey completion). To test statistical differences in associations by racial and ethnic groups, we included a cross-product term between race and ethnicity category and each stressor in separate weighted modified Poisson regression models (28) for each stressor and prenatal depression and anxiety, adjusted for all COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors and potential confounders mentioned above. Tests for interaction generally have less power to assess statistical significance and thus a p < 0.10 is accepted as the cutoff for statistical significance for interaction terms (31). Models were run for each imputed dataset. Results were combined using Rubin's rules (29).

Analyses were conducted in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute INC., Cary, NC, USA) and R (version 4.1.2) (32).

RESULTS

The sample of 10,930 pregnant participants was 22% Asian, 3% Black, 20% Hispanic, 5% Other/Multiracial/Unknown, and

49% White (**Table 1**). Overall, a majority of the participants had private insurance (88%), completed the survey in the first or second trimester of pregnancy (79%), were an average 33 years of age, and had <2 previous births (67%). Black and Hispanic participants were more likely than Asian and White participants to have 2 or more previous births (24 and 23 vs. 11 and 12%, respectively) and have government/public insurance (23 and 13 vs. 5 and 7%, respectively).

Racial and Ethnic Differences in Prenatal Depression and Anxiety

Prenatal Depression

The overall prevalence of prenatal depression was 11%. There was considerable variation in prevalence of prenatal depression across the racial and ethnic groups, with the highest prevalence among Black and Hispanic participants (**Table 2**). Compared to White participants, Black participants had an 85% greater prevalence of prenatal depression [adjusted Prevalence Ratio (aPR): 1.85, 95% CI: 1.45, 2.35] after adjusting for potential confounders and Hispanic participants had a 17% greater prevalence of depression although only marginally statistically significant (aPR:

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics overall and by racial and ethnic category of 10,930 pregnant people seeking prenatal care at Kaiser Permanente Northern California during the COVID-19 pandemic between June 2020 and April 2021.

	Overall (n, wtd %)	Asian	Black	Hispanic	Other/Unknown	White	p-value
n	10,930	2,495	372	2,174	497	5,392	
Age (mean, SE)	33 (0.04)	33 (0.1)	31 (0.3)	30 (0.1)	32 (0.2)	32 (0.1)	<0.001
Parity							< 0.001
0	4,005 (31)	930 (32)	132 (28)	678 (26)	185 (30)	2,080 (34)	
1	3,755 (36)	903 (38)	98 (31)	694 (35)	130 (32)	1,930 (37)	
2+	1,626 (16)	267 (11)	84 (24)	510 (23)	50 (12)	715 (14)	
Missing	1,544 (17)	395 (18)	58 (17)	292 (16)	132 (26)	667 (15)	
Insurance type							< 0.001
Government	559 (9)	75 (5)	60 (23)	207 (13)	29 (8)	188 (7)	
Commercial	10,214 (88)	2,394 (94)	306 (74)	1,930 (85)	445 (80)	5,139 (92)	
Missing	157 (2)	26 (1)	6 (3)	37 (2)	23 (12)	65 (2)	
Gestational age at survey							< 0.001
1st/2nd trimester	8,328 (79)	1,916 (80)	264 (79)	1,603 (78)	386 (80)	4,149 (80)	
3rd trimester	2,602 (21)	579 (20)	98 (21)	571 (22)	111 (20)	1,243 (20)	

TABLE 2 | Prevalence, crude prevalence ratios (cPRs) and adjusted prevalence ratios (aPR) evaluating the relationship between racial and ethnic category and prenatal depression and anxiety.

	Prenatal depression			Prenatal anxiety			
	Prevalence n (wtd %)	cPR (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	Prevalence n (%)	cPR (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	
Asian ($n = 2,495$)	202 (8)	0.88 (0.75, 1.04)	0.94 (0.80, 1.11)	179 (7)	0.88 (0.75, 1.04)	0.79 (0.67, 0.94)	
Black (n = 372)	72 (21)	2.23 (1.76, 2.83)	1.85 (1.45, 2.35)	66 (20)	2.01 (1.57, 2.58)	1.71 (1.34, 2.18)	
Hispanic ($n = 2,174$)	263 (13)	1.39 (1.20, 1.62)	1.17 (1.00, 1.37)	265 (13)	1.30 (1.12, 1.51)	1.10 (0.94, 1.29)	
Other/unknown ($n = 497$)	48 (10)	1.07 (0.79, 1.45)	1.02 (0.75, 1.38)	43 (9)	0.88 (0.63, 1.21)	0.84 (0.61, 1.17)	
White $(n = 5,392)$	466 (10)	Ref	Ref	487 (10)	Ref	Ref	

* Adjusted for age (continuous), month of survey (continuous), trimester of survey, parity, insurance. The bold values indicate statistically significant relationship.



1.17, 95% CI: 1.00, 1.37). Additionally, prevalence of prenatal depression in Asian participants did not differ compared to White participants after adjusting for potential confounders (aPR: 0.94, 95% CI: 0.80, 1.11).

Prenatal Anxiety

The overall prevalence of prenatal anxiety was 11%. Black participants had a 71% greater prevalence of prenatal anxiety compared to White participants after adjusting for potential confounders (aPR: 1.71, 95% CI: 1.34, 2.18) (**Table 2**). Hispanic participants had a 10% greater prevalence of prenatal anxiety compared to White participants; however, the results did not reach statistical significance after adjusting for potential confounders (aPR: 1.10, 95% CI: 0.94, 1.29). In contrast, Asian participants had a lower prevalence of prenatal anxiety (aPR: 0.79, 95% CI: 0.67, 0.94) compared to White participants after adjusting for potential confounders.

Racial and Ethnic Differences in COVID-19-Related Stressors

Overall, there were significant racial and ethnic differences in the prevalence of all health/healthcare and economic stressors (p < 0.001 for both). For the purpose of identifying COVID-19-related stressors that contribute to racial and ethnic disparities in prenatal mental health, we focus the text of this section on the racial and ethnic groups (Black and Hispanic) with a higher prevalence of prenatal depression or anxiety compared to White participants.

Health and Healthcare Stressors

Black and Hispanic participants had a higher prevalence of distress due to changes in prenatal care compared to White participants (Black: 34 vs. 24%, p < 0.001 and Hispanic: 31 vs. 24%, p < 0.001) (**Figure 1**). Additionally, Hispanic participants had a higher prevalence of COVID-19 during pregnancy and a household member with COVID-19 compared to White participants (COVID-19 during pregnancy: 6 vs. 3%, p < 0.001, household member with COVID-19 11 vs. 5%, p < 0.001).

Economic Stressors

Black participants had a significantly higher prevalence of job loss compared to White participants (26 vs. 20%, p = 0.048) and although the prevalence for Hispanic participants was elevated compared to White participants it did not reach statistical significance (22 vs. 20%, p = 0.05) (**Figure 2**). On the other hand, Hispanic participants had a higher prevalence of having a partner lose their job compared to White participants (26 vs. 20%, p < 0.001) and while the prevalence was also elevated for Black participants it did not reach statistical significance when compared to White participants (25 vs. 20%, p = 0.08). Compared to White participants (9%), Black and Hispanic participants had a higher prevalence of food insecurity (Black: 31%, p < 0.001, and Hispanic: 24%, p < 0.001). There were no differences in childcare challenges across racial and ethnic groups.



Associations of COVID-19-Related Stressors and Prenatal Depression and Anxiety by Racial and Ethnic Group

Similar to above, we focus the text of this section on racial and ethnic groups (Black and Hispanic) with a higher prevalence of prenatal depression and anxiety compared the White group.

Among Black participants, distress due to changes in prenatal care was the only stressor statistically significantly associated with prenatal depression (aPR: 2.27, 95% CI: 1.41, 3.64) (Table 3A). This association was similar to that in White participants (aPR: 2.41, 95% CI: 1.98, 2.92). Among Hispanic participants, highrisk employment (aPR: 1.32, 95% CI: 1.01, 1.71), distress due to changes in prenatal care (aPR: 2.76, 95% CI: 2.12, 3.58), and food insecurity (aPR: 1.70, 95% CI: 1.31, 2.19) were statistically significantly associated with prenatal depression. Associations of high-risk employment and distress due to prenatal care changes with prenatal depression were similar to those among White participants (high-risk employment aPR: 1.34, 95% CI: 1.09, 1.64; distress due to changes in prenatal care aPR: 2.41, 95% CI: 1.98, 2.92). The association of food insecurity with prenatal depression in White participants was stronger than that in Hispanic participants (aPR: 2.35, 95% CI: 1.83, 3.00).

Among Black participants, distress due to changes in prenatal care was the only stressor statistically significantly associated with prenatal anxiety (aPR: 3.00, 95% CI: 1.85, 4.84) (**Table 3B**). This association was similar to that in White participants (aPR:

2.89, 95% CI: 2.38, 3.50). Among Hispanic participants, highrisk employment (aPR: 1.56, 95% CI: 1.20, 2.02), distress due to changes in prenatal care (aPR: 2.82, 95% CI: 2.15, 3.71), and food insecurity (aPR: 1.66, 95% CI: 1.28, 2.15) were statistically significantly associated with prenatal anxiety. Associations of high-risk employment, distress due to prenatal care changes and food insecurity with prenatal anxiety were similar to those among White participants (high-risk employment aPR: 1.32, 95% CI: 1.08, 1.62; distress due to changes in prenatal care aPR: 2.89, 95% CI: 2.38, 3.50; food insecurity aPR: 1.84, 95% CI: 1.43, 2.36).

DISCUSSION

This study documented racial and ethnic disparities in prenatal depression and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic with a higher prevalence of both mental health outcomes in Black and Hispanic people compared to White people. Black and Hispanic people experienced a higher burden of COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors including distress due to changes in prenatal care, job loss, partner's job loss, and food insecurity compared to White people. Hispanic people additionally were disproportionately impacted by COVID-19 in pregnancy and having a household member with COVID-19, compared to White people.

While the increased risk of prenatal depression for pregnant Black people during the COVID-19 pandemic has been TABLE 3A | Adjusted prevalence ratio (aPR) for the relationship between COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors and prenatal depression, stratified by racial and ethnic category.

	Asian	Black	Hispanic	Other/unknown	White
	n = 2,495	n = 372	<i>n</i> = 2,174	n = 497	n = 5,392
	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)
Health and healthcare stressors					
COVID-19 in pregnancy	2.11 (1.21, 3.69)	1.88 (0.74, 4.75)	1.35 (0.78, 2.31)	1.28 (0.24, 6.72)	1.12 (0.67, 1.87)
Household member had COVID-19	1.02 (0.58, 1.79)	1.02 (0.40, 2.60)	0.87 (0.55, 1.37)**	0.91 (0.28, 3.01)	1.41 (0.99, 2.00)
High-risk employment	1.41 (1.02, 1.94)	0.86 (0.50, 1.46)	1.32 (1.01, 1.71)	0.97 (0.48, 1.97)	1.34 (1.09, 1.64)
Distress due to prenatal care changes	2.51 (1.88, 3.34)	2.27 (1.41, 3.64)	2.76 (2.12, 3.58)	1.67 (0.85, 3.27)	2.41 (1.98, 2.92)
Economic stressors					
Lost job	0.98 (0.69, 1.40)	1.17 (0.72, 1.90)	1.00 (0.77, 1.30)**	3.35 (1.87, 5.99)**	1.30 (1.05, 1.60)
Partner lost job	1.29 (0.92, 1.81)	1.44 (0.90, 2.29)	1.15 (0.89, 1.48)	0.77 (0.38, 1.55)	0.91 (0.73, 1.14)
Childcare challenges	1.16 (0.80, 1.68)	0.97 (0.50, 1.86)**	1.24 (0.92, 1.67)	1.50 (0.71, 3.17)	1.35 (1.06, 1.72)
Food insecurity	2.30 (1.68, 3.15)	1.48 (0.92, 2.37)**	1.70 (1.31, 2.19)**	1.80 (0.90, 3.59)	2.35 (1.83, 3.00)

^{*}Additionally adjusted for age (continuous), month of survey (continuous), trimester of survey, parity, insurance.

 $r^{*}p < 0.10$ for the cross-product term compared to the White racial category for the model that included all racial and ethnic groups.

The bold values indicate statistically significant relationship.

TABLE 3B | Adjusted prevalence ratio (aPR) for the relationship between COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors and prenatal anxiety, stratified by racial and ethnic category.

	Asian	Black	Hispanic	Other/unknown	White
	n = 2,495	n = 372	n = 2,174	n = 497	n = 5,392
	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)	aPR* (95% CI)
Health and healthcare stressors					
COVID-19 in pregnancy	1.48 (0.71, 3.08)	1.57 (0.56, 4.39)	1.07 (0.61, 1.88)	2.23 (0.68, 7.31)**	0.84 (0.45, 1.57)
Household member had COVID-19	0.70 (0.32, 1.57)	1.39 (0.57, 3.36)	0.97 (0.62, 1.52)	1.97 (0.66, 5.88)	1.27 (0.86, 1.88)
High-risk employment	1.81 (1.30, 2.50)**	1.28 (0.79, 2.07)	1.56 (1.20, 2.02)	1.32 (0.67, 2.62)	1.32 (1.08, 1.62)
Distress due to prenatal care changes	3.69 (2.68, 5.09)	3.00 (1.85, 4.84)	2.82 (2.15, 3.71)	4.39 (2.28, 8.47)	2.89 (2.38, 3.50)
Economic stressors					
Lost job	0.86 (0.58, 1.27)	1.57 (0.99, 2.49)	1.05 (0.80, 1.37)	1.87 (0.90, 3.87)	1.10 (0.89, 1.37)
Partner lost job	1.04 (0.73, 1.51)	1.41 (0.90, 2.22)	1.12 (0.87, 1.44)	0.43 (0.17, 1.11)	0.97 (0.78, 1.21)
Childcare challenges	1.58 (1.03, 2.43)	1.18 (0.61, 2.27)	1.28 (0.94, 1.74)	1.64 (0.59, 4.57)	1.34 (1.05, 1.70)
Food insecurity	2.19 (1.59, 3.02)	1.47 (0.90, 2.38)	1.66 (1.28, 2.15)	1.50 (0.75, 3.01)	1.84 (1.43, 2.36)

*Additionally adjusted for age (continuous), month of survey (continuous), trimester of survey, parity, insurance.

* p < 0.10 for the cross-product term compared to the White racial category for the model that included all racial and ethnic groups.

The bold values indicate statistically significant relationship.

demonstrated previously (12), this study is the among the first to report an increased prevalence of prenatal anxiety among this group during the pandemic and an increased prevalence of prenatal depression and anxiety among Hispanic people. The higher rates of poor prenatal mental health among pregnant Black and Hispanic people compared to White people during the pandemic mirrors what has been documented prior to the COVID-19 pandemic (10). The consistently high burden of poor prenatal mental health in Black and Hispanic people documented in previous research and in our findings and the detrimental impacts of prenatal depression and anxiety on both mother and child, including greater risk of postpartum depression, (33, 34), preterm birth, small-for-gestational age (SGA) birth (35–37), and emotional and behavioral problems in the offspring (38, 39), highlight the importance of culturally appropriate, acceptable, and accessible interventions for prevention and treatment of prenatal depression and anxiety.

Contribution of COVID-19-Related Stressors to Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Prenatal Depression and Anxiety

Applying the Ward et al. framework (13), one scenario where a stressor contributes to a disparity in a mental health outcome is when: (1) there is a disparity in the mental health outcome, (2) the stressor is more prevalent in the more disadvantaged racial and ethnic group compared to the White group, and (3) the

Mental health outcome	Observed disparity	COVID-19-related stressor associated with mental health outcome	Is there a difference in prevalence of the stressor by group?	Is there a difference in association of stressor and mental health outcome by group?	Stressor contributes to disparity
Depression	Greater prevalence in Black people vs. White people	Distress due to prenatal care changes	Yes, higher prevalence in Black people	No, similar association in both groups	Yes
Depression	Greater prevalence in Hispanic people vs. White people	High risk employment	No, similar prevalence in both groups	No, similar association in both groups	No
		Distress due to prenatal care changes	Yes, higher prevalence in Hispanic people	No, similar association in both groups	Yes
		Food insecurity	Yes, higher prevalence in Hispanic people	Yes, stronger association in white people	Yes
Anxiety	Greater prevalence in Black people vs. White people	Distress due to prenatal care changes	Yes, higher prevalence in Black people	No, similar association in both groups	Yes
Anxiety	Greater prevalence in Hispanic people vs. White people	High risk employment	No, similar prevalence in both groups	No, similar association in both groups	No
		Distress due to prenatal care changes	Yes, higher prevalence in Hispanic people	No, similar association in both groups	Yes
		Food insecurity	Yes, higher prevalence in Hispanic people	No, similar association in both groups	Yes

TABLE 4 | Summary of approach for identifying contributors to observed racial and ethnic disparities in mental health outcomes in pregnant people during the COVID-19 pandemic.

stressor is associated with the mental health outcome in the more disadvantaged racial and ethnic group (regardless of whether that relationship is different from that in the White group). Thus, our findings suggest distress due to prenatal care changes contributed to the observed disparities in prenatal depression and anxiety for Black and Hispanic people and food insecurity additionally contributed to the observed disparities in prenatal depression and anxiety for Hispanic people. We note that if we had relied solely on the results from the interaction model, both distress due to changes to prenatal care and food insecurity would not have been identified as contributors to these disparities in prenatal mental health.

Although high-risk employment was also associated with greater prevalence of prenatal depression and anxiety in Hispanic people, the prevalence of high-risk employment and its association with prenatal depression and anxiety were similar in Hispanic and White people (Table 4). Thus, this indicates that high-risk employment is not a contributor to the observed disparities in prenatal depression and anxiety for Hispanic people. However, while it may not contribute to the noted disparity, employment with high-risk of exposure to COVID-19 has been associated with psychological distress in other studies in pregnant people (5) and other non-pregnant populations (7, 40). Fatigue, health worries, and fear have all been reported by people with high-risk employment even previous infectious disease outbreaks (41). Consideration of high-risk employment as a risk factor for psychological distress in pregnancy, especially during infectious disease outbreaks, should be considered in prenatal depression and anxiety screening strategies.

The COVID-19 pandemic forced rapid implementation of hybrid models of care including both in-person and virtual prenatal care visits. Previous research has documented a significant relationship between COVID-19-related changes in prenatal care and greater psychological distress during pregnancy (6-9). In our study, Black and Hispanic people in particular experienced distress due to the changes in prenatal care which contributed to the higher burden of poor prenatal mental health in these groups. Previous research has found some people of color report negative interactions with the healthcare system during pregnancy, including experiences of racism, unmet information needs, and stressful interactions with all levels of staff (42-44). Thus, there is a need for better communication and careful listening during prenatal visits in pregnant people of color. During the COVID-19 pandemic, Black people reported worrying more than White people about having a good birthing experience and receiving good prenatal care (12), suggesting that COVID-19-related changes in prenatal care may have created challenges for patient-provider communication that further exacerbated existing disparities in quality of prenatal care between Black and White people. As healthcare systems continue to make changes to prenatal care and evaluate which care-delivery modifications to implement as standard prenatal care, providers and healthcare system leaders must remain focused on quality of patient-provider communication and must work with Black and Hispanic communities to identify ways to address stressful aspects of changes in prenatal care.

Similar to previous research during the pandemic in pregnant (12) and non-pregnant populations (45), Black and Hispanic

people experienced the highest prevalence of food insecurity. Food insecurity is strongly associated with prenatal depression (46, 47) as well as long-term maternal and child health. (48) Our study demonstrated food insecurity contributed to disparities in prenatal depression and anxiety for Hispanic people. However, the association of food insecurity with prenatal depression did not reach statistical significance among Black people, which may be due to the small sample size. Regardless, these findings highlight the high burden of food insecurity and its contributions to poor maternal mental health during pregnancy in populations of color.

This is among the first studies that we are aware of that has evaluated the contribution of food insecurity to racial and ethnic disparities in prenatal mental health. Research prior to the COVID-19 pandemic has documented income and employment status as a contributor to these disparities (10). Yet in our study job loss or reduced work hours by the participant or their partner was not a contributor. It is possible that food insecurity is a greater contributor to these disparities and an important area for future research especially given the potential policy and clinical implications if so. Addressing food insecurity in pregnant people may have a significant impact on both their nutritional and mental health. The high prevalence of food insecurity for Black and Hispanic people during pregnancy highlights the importance of implementing universal screening for food insecurity in prenatal care and systems to connect people identified as food insecure with available federal and community resources.

COVID-19-Related Stressors and Mental Health Outcomes in Pregnant Asian People

Although we did not identify a disparity in mental health outcomes for Asian people compared to White people, several COVID-19-related stressors, including high-risk employment, distress due to prenatal care changes, and food insecurity, were strongly related to prenatal depression and anxiety in Asian people. The prevalence of COVID-19-related stressors tended to be lowest among Asian people, which may explain why prevalence of depression and anxiety was also lowest in this group, even though there were strong associations of COVID-19-related stressors and mental health in Asian people. Future research should look at potential protective factors against poor prenatal mental health in Asian people, given the observed lower prevalence of depression and anxiety.

LIMITATIONS AND STRENGTHS

Our study had some limitations that should be considered. Depression and anxiety outcomes were based on symptoms in the past two weeks at the time of survey completion and thus may not have captured people who completed the survey later in pregnancy but had high depression or anxiety symptoms earlier in pregnancy that resolved. Additionally, selection bias due to survey non-response is of concern given the low survey response rate. However, our analyses accounted for survey non-response by weighting analyses to account for differences between those who responded to the survey and non-responders. Current psychological distress may influence participation in the study; we were not able to directly compare mental health symptoms between those who participated in the study and those who did not. However, we found a similar prevalence of a history of an anxiety or mood disorder for people who did and did not complete the survey. We also accounted for potential bias due to missing data not at random by using multiple imputation. Although this study included more Black people than other studies assessing racial and ethnic differences in COVID-19related stressors and prenatal mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic, the prevalence ratio estimates for associations of COVID-19-related stressors with prenatal depression and anxiety in Black people had wide confidence intervals, resulting in less precise estimates compared to the Hispanic and White people in this study. This limited the stressors we were able to investigate as potential contributors to observed prenatal mental health disparities in Black people. The relatively small sample of Black people who completed our study survey highlights the need for cohorts solely focused on Black individuals and oversampling of Black people in population-based studies to better understand contributors to prenatal mental health in this population. This also applies to the Native American, Pacific Islander, and Multiracial racial and ethnic categories that were combined due to small sample size within groups. We did not have information on cultural factors such as immigration status, social support or non-pandemic related socioeconomic factors beyond insurance type (such as education, income or marital status) that may be potential confounders. The study was limited to English-speaking people. The cross-sectional study design limits the ability to make causal conclusions and it is possible that prenatal psychological distress had an impact on COVID-19related stressors. However, the mental health scales asked about symptoms in the past 2 weeks while the time frame for the COVID-19-related stressors reflected anytime since the start of the pandemic, diminishing the potential for reverse causation. While the study population from which this sample was drawn is socio-economically representative of the Northern California population living in the same geographic area served by Kaiser Permanente, generalizability to other populations may be limited.

Our study also has several strengths. This study addresses an important gap in the current literature, as research on racial and ethnic differences in COVID-19-related stressors and mental health in pregnant people has been limited. Additionally, a majority of previous research has been limited to data spanning the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, while this study covers almost 12 months of the COVID-19 pandemic. Finally, this study's representativeness of the entire KPNC population of pregnant people during the study period, and diversity across sociodemographic characteristics and stages in pregnancy at survey completion are further strengths of this study.

CONCLUSION

This study highlights racial and ethnic disparities in mental health for pregnant Black and Hispanic people and identifies COVID-19-related health/healthcare and economic stressors contributing to these disparities. Continued screening for poor mental health coupled with appropriate interventions for all pregnant people during the COVID-19 pandemic is warranted, but addressing distress due to changes to prenatal care and food insecurity specifically in Black and Hispanic people may help reduce the high burden of poor mental health and reduce observed disparities in these communities.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

KPNC's Institutional Review Board approved all study procedures and women indicated informed consent prior to participation in the survey.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LA: concept and design and administrative, technical or material support. LA, NN, SB, KY-W, JA, YZ, MH, AF, OZ, and LC: acquisition, analysis and interpretation of data, and critical revision of manuscript for important intellectual content. LA, NN, and SB: drafting of manuscript. NN: statistical analysis. LC and AF: obtained funding. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Zerbo O, Lewis N, Fireman B, Goddard K, Skarbinski J, Sejvar JJ, et al. Population-based assessment of risks for severe COVID-19 disease outcomes. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses.* (2021) 16(1):159–65. doi: 10.1111/irv.12901
- Stockman JK, Wood BA, Anderson KM. Racial and ethnic differences in COVID-19 outcomes, stressors, fear, and prevention behaviors among US women: web-based cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res. (2021) 23:e26296. doi: 10.2196/26296
- Ellington S SP, Tong VT, Woodworth K, Galang RR, Zambrano LD, Nahabedian J, et al. Characteristics of women of reproductive age with laboratory-confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection by pregnancy status — United States, January 22–June 7, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2020) 69:769–75. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6925a1
- ACOG. Coronavirus (COVID-19), Pregnancy, and Breastfeeding: A Message for Patients: American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. (2021). Available online at: https://www.acog.org/womens-health/faqs/coronavirus-covid-19pregnancy-and-breastfeeding (accessed November 2, 2021).
- Moyer CA, Compton SD, Kaselitz E, Muzik M. Pregnancy-related anxiety during COVID-19: a nationwide survey of 2740 pregnant women. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2020) 23:757–65. doi: 10.1007/s00737-020-01073-5
- 6. Preis H, Mahaffey B, Heiselman C, Lobel M. Vulnerability and resilience to pandemic-related stress among U. S women pregnant

FUNDING

This work was supported by Community Health, Kaiser Permanente Northern California and the National Institutes of Health. LA was supported by the National Institute of Health (R01HD101483, R01DA047405, R01DA048033). JA and SB were funded by the Postdoctoral Training Program in Women's and Children's Health supported in part by Community Health, Kaiser Permanente Northern California. JA was additionally funded by the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (K99ES032481) and SB was additionally funded by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (K99HD100585). YZ was supported by National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (K01DK120807). KY-W was supported by National Institute on Drug Abuse (K01DA043604, DA048033, and DA047405). OZ was funded in part by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (K01AI139275).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Linda Nkemere, Jenna Ritchie, Emma Hunt, Yinge Qian, and Maria Massolo for their contributions to launching and maintaining the survey study. The survey was adapted from the NIH Environmental Influences on Children's Health Outcomes (ECHO) COVID-19 Questionnaire [2020] developed for the ECHO-wide Cohort Data Collection Protocol.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.837659/full#supplementary-material

at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Soc Sci Med. (2020) 266:113348. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113348

- Lebel C, MacKinnon A, Bagshawe M, Tomfohr-Madsen L, Giesbrecht G. Elevated depression and anxiety symptoms among pregnant individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:5–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.126
- Bo HX, Yang Y, Chen J, Zhang M, Li Y, Zhang DY, et al. Prevalence of depressive symptoms among pregnant and postpartum women in China during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychosom Med.* (2021) 83:345– 50. doi: 10.1097/PSY.000000000000904
- Basu A, Kim HH, Basaldua R, Choi KW, Charron L, Kelsall N, et al. A cross-national study of factors associated with women's perinatal mental health and wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0249780. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249780
- Mukherjee S, Trepka MJ, Pierre-Victor D, Bahelah R, Avent T. Racial/ethnic disparities in antenatal depression in the United States: a systematic review. *Matern Child Health J.* (2016) 20:1780–97. doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-1989-x
- Grobman WA, Parker C, Wadhwa PD, Willinger M, Simhan H, Silver B, et al. Racial/ethnic disparities in measures of self-reported psychosocial states and traits during pregnancy. *Am J Perinatol.* (2016) 33:1426– 32. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1586510
- 12. Gur RE, White LK, Waller R, Barzilay R, Moore TM, Kornfield S, et al. The disproportionate burden of the COVID-19 pandemic among pregnant

black women. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 293:113475. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020. 113475

- Ward JB, Gartner DR, Keyes KM, Fliss MD, McClure ES, Robinson WR. How do we assess a racial disparity in health? Distribution, interaction, and interpretation in epidemiological studies. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2019) 29:1– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2018.09.007
- 14. Gordon N. Similarity of adult Kaiser Permanente members to the adult population in Kaiser Permanente's Northern California service area: Comparisons based on the 2017/2018 cycle of the California Health Interview Survey. Report prepared for the Kaiser Permanente Division of Research. Oakland, CA: Kaiser Permanente Division of Research (2020).
- Ames JL, Ferrara A, Avalos LA, Badon SE, Greenberg MB, Hedderson MM, et al. COVID-19 prevalence, symptoms, and sociodemographic disparities in infection among insured pregnant women in Northern California. *PLoS ONE*. (2021) 16:e0256891. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0256891
- Smith MV, Gotman N, Lin H, Yonkers KA. Do the PHQ-8 and the PHQ-2 accurately screen for depressive disorders in a sample of pregnant women? *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2010) 32:544–8. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2010.04.011
- Kroenke K, Strine TW, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Berry JT, Mokdad AH. The PHQ-8 as a measure of current depression in the general population. J Affect Disord. (2009) 114:163–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2008. 06.026
- Huang FY, Chung H, Kroenke K, Delucchi KL, Spitzer RL. Using the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 to measure depression among racially and ethnically diverse primary care patients. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2006) 21:547– 52. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00409.x
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Lowe B, A. brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* (2006) 166:1092– 7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Simpson W, Glazer M, Michalski N, Steiner M, Frey BN. Comparative efficacy of the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item scale and the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale as screening tools for generalized anxiety disorder in pregnancy and the postpartum period. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2014) 59:434– 40. doi: 10.1177/070674371405900806
- Shrestha S, Ramos K, Fletcher TL, Kraus-Schuman C, Stanley MA, Ramsey D, et al. Psychometric properties of worry and anxiety measures in a sample of African American and Caucasian older adults. *Aging Ment Health.* (2020) 24:315–21. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2018.1544217
- 22. Mills SD, Fox RS, Malcarne VL, Roesch SC, Champagne BR, Sadler GR. The psychometric properties of the generalized anxiety disorder-7 scale in Hispanic Americans with English or Spanish language preference. *Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol.* (2014) 20:463–8. doi: 10.1037/a00 36523
- Gundersen C, Engelhard EE, Crumbaugh AS, Seligman HK. Brief assessment of food insecurity accurately identifies high-risk US adults. *Public Health Nutr.* (2017) 20:1367–71. doi: 10.1017/S1368980017000180
- 24. Potter F, Zheng Y. *Methods and Issues in Trimming Extreme Weights in Sample Surveys*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research (2015).
- White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. *Stat Med.* (2011) 30:377– 99. doi: 10.1002/sim.4067
- Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, Spratt M, Royston P, Kenward MG, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. *Bmj.* (2009) 338:b2393. doi: 10.1136/bmj. b2393
- von Hippel PT. Regression with missing Ys: an improved strategy for analyzing multiply imputed data. Social Methodol. (2007) 37:83– 117. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9531.2007.00180.x
- Zou G, A. modified poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data. Am J Epidemiol. (2004) 159:702-6. doi: 10.1093/aje/ kwh090
- Rubin DB. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons (1987). doi: 10.1002/97804703 16696

- Enders CK. Applied Missing Data Analysis. In: Little TD, editor. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2010).
- Frazier PA TA, Barron KE. Testing moderator and mediator effects in counseling psychology research. J Couns Psychol. (2004) 51:115– 34. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.51.1.115
- 32. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2021).
- Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2005) 106:1071–83. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597.31 630.db
- 34. Gaynes BN, Gavin N, Meltzer-Brody S, Lohr KN, Swinson T, Gartlehner G, et al. Perinatal depression: prevalence, screening accuracy, and screening outcomes. *Evid Rep Technol Assess.* (2005) 119:1-8. doi: 10.1037/e439372005-001
- 35. Venkatesh KK, Riley L, Castro VM, Perlis RH, Kaimal AJ. Association of antenatal depression symptoms and antidepressant treatment with preterm birth. Obstet Gynecol. (2016) 127:926– 33. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000001397
- 36. Grote NK, Bridge JA, Gavin AR, Melville JL, Iyengar S, Katon WJ, et al. meta-analysis of depression during pregnancy and the risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, and intrauterine growth restriction. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2010) 67:1012–24. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.20 10.111
- 37. Jarde A, Morais M, Kingston D, Giallo R, MacQueen GM, Giglia L, et al. Neonatal outcomes in women with untreated antenatal depression compared with women without depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2016) 73:826–37. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.0934
- Goodman SH, Cullum KA, Dimidjian S, River LM, Kim CY. Opening windows of opportunities: evidence for interventions to prevent or treat depression in pregnant women being associated with changes in offspring's developmental trajectories of psychopathology risk. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2018) 30:1179–96. doi: 10.1017/S0954579418000536
- Gentile S. Untreated depression during pregnancy: Short- and long-term effects in offspring. A systematic review. *Neuroscience*. (2017) 342:154– 66. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.09.001
- Shi J, Gao Y, Zhao L, Li Y, Yan M, Niu MM, et al. Prevalence of delirium, depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder among COVID-19 patients: protocol for a living systematic review. *Syst Rev.* (2020) 9:258. doi: 10.1186/s13643-020-01507-2
- Brooks SK, Dunn R, Amlot R, Rubin GJ, Greenberg N. A systematic, thematic review of social and occupational factors associated with psychological outcomes in healthcare employees during an infectious disease outbreak. J Occup Environ Med. (2018) 60:248–57. doi: 10.1097/JOM.00000000001235
- Ebert L, Bellchambers H, Ferguson A, Browne J. Socially disadvantaged women's views of barriers to feeling safe to engage in decision-making in maternity care. Women Birth. (2014) 27:132–7. doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2013.11.003
- Altman MR, Oseguera T, McLemore MR, Kantrowitz-Gordon I, Franck LS, Lyndon A. Information and power: women of color's experiences interacting with health care providers in pregnancy and birth. *Soc Sci Med.* (2019) 238:112491. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112491
- 44. McLemore MR, Altman MR, Cooper N, Williams S, Rand L, Franck L. Health care experiences of pregnant, birthing and postnatal women of color at risk for preterm birth. *Soc Sci Med.* (2018) 201:127– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.02.013
- Bui CN, Peng C, Mutchler JE, Burr JA. Race and ethnic group disparities in emotional distress among older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Gerontologist.* (2021) 61:262–72. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa217
- Richards M, Weigel M, Li M, Rosenberg M, Ludema C. Household food insecurity and antepartum depression in the National Children's Study. Ann Epidemiol. (2020) 44:38–44 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2020. 01.010
- Laraia BA, Siega-Riz AM, Gundersen C, Dole N. Psychosocial factors and socioeconomic indicators are associated with household food insecurity among pregnant women. J Nutr. (2006) 136:177–82. doi: 10.1093/jn/13 6.1.177

 Lee JS, Gundersen C, Cook J, Laraia B, Johnson MA. Food insecurity and health across the lifespan. Adv Nutr. (2012) 3:744–5. doi: 10.3945/an.112. 002543

Conflict of Interest: LA, NN, YZ, LC, KY-W, OZ, MH, AF, JA, and SB were employed by Kaiser Permanente Northern California.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Avalos, Nance, Zhu, Croen, Young-Wolff, Zerbo, Hedderson, Ferrara, Ames and Badon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Psychological Interventions for Prenatal Anxiety in Latinas and Black Women: A Scoping Review and Recommendations

Carolyn Ponting^{1,2*}, Guido G. Urizar Jr.³ and Christine Dunkel Schetter¹

¹ Department of Psychology, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ² Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States, ³ Department of Psychology, California State University, Long Beach, Long Beach, CA, United States

Anxiety symptoms are common among pregnant women worldwide. In the United States, prenatal anxiety symptoms tend to be elevated among Black and Latin American women as compared to non-Latina White women. Despite the high prevalence of anxiety and associations with adverse maternal and offspring outcomes, interventions have not been developed or tailored sufficiently to Black women or Latinas who need efficacious treatment. This article provides a scoping review of articles published since 2017 that test the effects of randomized and non-randomized psychological interventions designed to reduce prenatal anxiety in samples comprised primarily of ethnic/racial minority women. We also review published protocols of planned psychological interventions to reduce prenatal anxiety in order to highlight novel approaches. In addition to summarizing intervention efficacy and participant acceptability, we highlight gaps in the literature which, if addressed, could improve perinatal mental health equity. Finally, we discuss future directions in prenatal anxiety intervention science beginning preconception including intervention design and prevention models.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandraluz Lara-Cinisomo, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Emma Motrico, Loyola Andalusia University, Spain

> *Correspondence: Carolyn Ponting carolyn.ponting@ucsf.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 22 November 2021 Accepted: 03 February 2022 Published: 15 March 2022

Citation:

Ponting C, Urizar Jr GG and Dunkel Schetter C (2022) Psychological Interventions for Prenatal Anxiety in Latinas and Black Women: A Scoping Review and Recommendations. Front. Psychiatry 13:820343. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.820343 Keywords: prenatal mental health, anxiety, intervention, Black/African American Latinx/Latina, scoping review

Anxiety is the most prevalent psychological disorder and it disproportionately affects women. The lifetime prevalence of anxiety disorders in adult women residing in the United States is 40% (1). During pregnancy, pooled prevalence rates indicate that about 15% of women will meet diagnostic criteria for an anxiety disorder (2). Self-reported prenatal anxiety symptoms differ by race and ethnicity. In particular, approximately one third of Black women and Latinas in the U.S. experience elevated anxiety symptoms (3) due in part to structural oppression, which increases financial, relationship, and discrimination related stress in general and during pregnancy (4, 5).

Functional impairment resulting from prenatal anxiety can manifest in ways that adversely affect a woman and her pregnancy. For example, pregnant women with anxiety are less likely to adhere to prenatal care recommendations such as abstaining from substance use or engaging in positive health behaviors (6, 7). They may also avoid prenatal healthcare because it can trigger health-related worries (8). Additionally, prenatal anxiety has been associated with adverse health outcomes for mothers and their infants—specifically postpartum depression, shorter gestation, low birthweight, impaired infant neurodevelopment, and behavioral problems later in

childhood (9–11). Given its high prevalence and associated longterm health risks for mothers and their children, prenatal anxiety screening and interventions are urgently needed.

Treatments for anxiety in adults include psychotherapy and medication. However, the safety of psychotropic medications in pregnancy continues to be debated. While medications such as benzodiazepines and serotonin reuptake inhibitors have been reliably linked to adverse infant outcomes (e.g., low birth weight, pre-term birth), the magnitude of these risks is not yet established (12, 13). Additionally, in cases where anxiety is severely impairing, providers must weigh whether abstaining from medication might result in symptom exacerbation (14) with negative consequences for mothers and offspring. Thus, while the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (15) maintains that the cost-benefit analysis for medication ought to be made on a case-by-case basis, psychotherapy is widely considered as a first line intervention to reduce prenatal anxiety.

Nonetheless, referrals to psychotherapeutic services in obstetric settings are infrequent (16). Among low-income and ethnic and racial minority women, structural barriers including lack of insurance and discrimination in prenatal health care settings (17) reduce regular attendance at prenatal health appointments (18, 19). Less frequent interactions with prenatal health care providers along with stigma surrounding disclosure of mental health concerns (20) also limit the likelihood of coordinated mental health care among pregnant ethnic and racial minority women. Survey data substantiate disparities in service utilization by women of color. In a representative sample of over 2,100 women who gave birth in California in 2016, Black women and Latinas utilized perinatal mental health services at significantly lower rates than their non-Latina counterparts despite having more internalizing symptoms (21). Thus, for a variety of reasons, psychotherapy is underutilized during pregnancy and particularly among Black women and Latinas.

Compounding barriers to obtaining mental health services in pregnancy is the need for more evidence regarding which interventions are most likely to be effective. For example, Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) is considered a goldstandard intervention for anxiety in the general population (22), but is infrequently tested in pregnant samples. Results from intervention studies with small sample sizes (most n's < 15) have shown mixed effects of CBT on prenatal anxiety. That is, some studies show CBT to be beneficial in reducing prenatal anxiety symptoms (23–25), whereas others show no intervention effects (26, 27).

In RCTs that enroll a significant number of ethnic and racial minorities, investigators infrequently report results by race and ethnicity (28), masking whether existing prenatal interventions are equally effective for Black women and Latinas. In general, testing the relative efficacy of evidencebased psychotherapies across racial/ethnic groups is much needed. Research to date suggests that ethnic and racial minorities show better psychological outcomes when treated with culturally adapted intervention protocols as compared to standard protocols (29). Thus, assessing whether prenatal intervention effects are generalizable to Black women and Latinas is critical, and can help identify particular psychotherapy modalities or styles of delivery in need of cultural tailoring (30). For example, intervention protocols that standardize clinical consultation with case managers to address system-level factors like housing insecurity that contribute to women's prenatal anxiety may enhance the efficacy of prenatal interventions among at-risk populations.

A recent systematic review evaluated the treatment outcome literature among Black or Latina pregnant women who received a psychological intervention to reduce symptoms of depression or anxiety (31). For inclusion in the review at least 75% of the treatment sample had to identify as Black or Latina. The authors found that that only two published studies—both testing interpersonal therapy—have sought to reduce anxious symptoms during pregnancy (31). In both studies, women who were randomized to the intervention group did not fare better than women in the control condition with respect to a reduction in anxiety symptoms. Therefore, results of the review found that none of the delivered psychotherapies for prenatal anxiety met the criteria to be considered evidence-based among Black women or Latinas.

Data from Ponting et al. (31) show that the last identified anxiety intervention tested with a majority Black and Latina sample was published in 2017. In the present article, we provide an update to the Ponting et al. (31) review by searching for psychological interventions reporting on prenatal anxiety efficacy in studies enrolling at least 50% Black women and Latinas from 2017 through 2021. We also review published protocols for prenatal anxiety reduction during this same time to describe recent patterns in intervention science for prenatal anxiety.

We take a scoping review approach that is appropriate for identifying themes and discussing gaps within a content area (32). This method may be especially helpful when the content area has a limited evidence base, as is the case for anxiety interventions in pregnancy. Based on our review, we suggest several directions to improve efficacy and equity in psychotherapy research for prenatal anxiety as yet.

METHOD

Eligibility Criteria

We utilized a scoping review methodology (32) to search for psychological interventions published during the last 5 years (2017–2021) to treat prenatal anxiety in ethnic and racial minorities. The written protocol for this scoping review was adapted from a previously registered protocol of the authors (see: Prospective Register of Ongoing Systematic Reviews ID: CRD42018106228) in three ways. First, only studies treating anxiety were included. Second a smaller proportion of the treatment sample had to identify as Black or Latina (i.e., >50 vs. >75%). Third, published protocols with anxiety outcome measures were included even if they did not yet have efficacy data.

Thus, studies were included if they tested a psychological intervention delivered during pregnancy, and if they reported on a standardized instrument to measure anxiety (e.g., GAD-7; STAI) at pre and post treatment. Samples had to be comprised of at least 50% Black or Latina participants, a standard used in prior perinatal intervention reviews with ethnic and racial minority



women (33). Given the dearth of efficacy studies for prenatal anxiety, we also included published intervention protocols for treating anxiety in pregnancy. Intervention protocols describe RCTs currently in progress. Although we cannot yet report on their efficacy, they reflect upcoming advances in prenatal anxiety treatment modality and delivery. Studies on psychopharmacology or complementary and alternative therapies (e.g., massage, yoga) were excluded.

Search Strategy

The research team consulted with an experienced research librarian to develop search terms for the scoping review (all search syntax is available in **Supplement**). Five databases were searched: PubMed©, CINAHL©, PsycINFO©, ProQuest Dissertation and Theses AI©, and Web of Science Articles published from January 2017 through September 2021. In total, searches produced 240 studies. Duplicates were identified using Rayaan (34), an online tool, and confirmed by a member of the review team, leaving 191 unique articles.

The methods sections of the 191 articles were examined next. One reviewer screened study abstracts for eligibility based on inclusion/exclusion criteria and consulted with the research team to reach consensus if unsure about inclusion (see **Figure 1** for detailed information about exclusion). At this stage, a total of 172 articles were excluded, in most cases because studies did not test a psychological intervention, and instead were observational studies of mental health during pregnancy (n = 130). Rayaan (34) was used to store all article abstracts and catalog the reason for inclusion or exclusion. The remaining 19 articles underwent full-text review, during which 16 articles were excluded. Scanning reference sections (e.g., snowball approach), and searching Google Scholar (35) increased search comprehensiveness and led to the addition of seven articles. Thus, a total of seven studies met all inclusion criteria for this scoping review—two were intervention efficacy studies and five were registered intervention protocols for prenatal anxiety.

Data Extraction

The following were extracted from the two intervention efficacy studies: (1) intervention characteristics (intervention format, treatment modality, provider type, number of sessions, setting); (2) participant demographics (race/ethnicity), (3) U.S. vs. foreign born, and indicators of income); (4) the perinatal period during which the intervention was delivered; (5) type of study design (e.g., RCT, pre-post design); (6) outcomes pertaining to anxiety; (7) the use of cultural adaptations; and (8) intervention TABLE 1 | Design, measurement, hypotheses and results of reviewed studies.

References	Intervention (a) format, (b) treatment modality, (c) # sessions, attendance, (d) provider (and provider education), (e) setting	Study design	Results main effects	Cultural factors	Acceptability
Efficacy studies					
Lenz and Potts (36)	(a) individual (b) IPT (c) 9 sessions (one ethnographic introductory session + 8 IPT sessions); plus maintenance treatment session if participant finish all nine sessions (d) Clinical Psychologists, master's level clinicians (e) research clinic, participant homes, or other community locations	RCT	Women in both the intervention and enhanced prenatal care groups did not show significant reductions in anxiety symptoms (STAI-Brief).	Not reported	Participants assigned to brief-IPT reported high scores on the Client Satisfaction Questionnaire at the $37-39$ weeks assessment (IPT $M = 30.60$, SD = 1.89, range 25–32)
Ruiz et al. (37)	(a) individual (b) ACT and Problem-Solving Therapy (c) six sessions (d) Nurse practitioners (NPs) or certified nurse midwives (e) primary clinic, OBGYN office	Pilot Pre-Post design	Women in the intervention group showed significant reductions in anxiety symptoms (BAI) between baseline and post-intervention ($d =$ 0.31, small to medium effect).	Yes: "considerations for family roles and hierarchies, culturally relevant metaphors/mindfulness exercise"	High satisfaction ratings ($M = 7$ out of 7) for satisfaction, relevance and recommendation to other pregnant people.
Randomized controlled	trial study protocols				
Atif et al. (38)	(a) individual OR group (b) CBT (c) six sessions, time client dependent ~1 h, option for up to six booster sessions (d) Para-professionals (bachelor's level volunteers with no prior mental health training with nursing backgrounds) (e) hospital	RCT	Primary hypothesis: The intervention will address symptoms of anxiety as measured by the HADS before these become chronic, severe, and debilitating, and therefore will be preventative, allowing women to learn strategies for stress management and problem solving before the symptoms become ingrained.	Yes: "The intervention used culturally appropriate illustrations and examples of healthy activities to set tasks in collaboration with women to encourage engaging unhelpful behaviors"	An initial sample of five women rated the intervention as helpful and acceptable to them and their family members; resulting in greater awareness of their feelings, stress management and strategies to improve wellbeing.
Bright et al. (39)	(a) individual (b) online IPT (c) six 30-min sessions (d) none, self -guided (e) online	RCT	Primary hypothesis: Participants randomized to the intervention will have clinical levels of anxiety at lower percentages post-treatment than women randomized to routine care as measured by the DASS-21.	None stated.	Planned assessment of percentage o participants who report the modules and activities in the intervention as easily understood and navigated to measure acceptability.
Challacombe et al. (40)	(a) individual (b) CBT (c) Fout to five 2-h sessions vs. 8–10 1-h sessions (d) "experienced therapists" (e) national publicly funded healthcare setting	RCT	Primary hypothesis: Participants with clinical diagnoses of OCD, PTSD, Social Anxiety or Panic Disorder randomized to time intensive or standard weekly intervention will show reductions in anxiety as measured by the GAD-7 or disorder specific measures (e.g., OCI for OCD, MI for Panic Disorder, IES for PTSF, SPIN for Social Anxiety).	None stated.	Planned qualitative interviews to assess acceptability of recruitment methods, assessment measures, intervention mode, and delivery.

(Continued)

Psychological Interventions for Prenatal Anxiety

Ponting et al.

TABLE 1 | Continued

References	Intervention (a) format, (b) treatment modality, (c) # sessions, attendance, (d) provider (and provider education), (e) setting	Study design	Results main effects	Cultural factors	Acceptability
Jackson et al. (41)	(a) individual (b) CBT (c) eight sessions (d) Perinatal clinical nurse specialist (e) hospital-based perinatal outpatient program	RCT	Primary hypothesis: Participants randomized to the intervention will show less anxiety than those in the control condition, as measured by the STAI. We also hypothesize this study will be feasible in terms of fidelity and deliverability, as well as be highly acceptable to participants.	None stated.	Four open-ended qualitative questions planned to assess acceptability.
Loughnan et al. (42)	(a) individual (b) iCBT (c) three sessions, time client dependent ${\sim}1~\rm h$ (d) None- self-guided (e) client's choice (remote, online)	RCT	Primary hypothesis: Participants randomized to the intervention will show significantly fewer symptoms of anxiety compared to those in usual care, as measured by the GAD-7.	None stated.	-
Melnyk et al. (43)	(a) group (b) CBT + positive parenting (c) six 2-h sessions (d) advanced practice nurses (e) prenatal clinic	RCT	Primary Hypothesis: Participants randomized to the intervention will show significantly less anxiety at 4–6 weeks postpartum (3months post-intervention), and at 6 moths postpartum (8 months post-intervention) than will participants in the attentional control condition as measured by the GAD-7.	Yes: "sessions that are culturally sensitive, readable at the sixth grade reading level and focused on empowering pregnant minority women to engage in healthy lifestyle behaviors". Prior delivery with ethnic/racial minority women.	-
O'Brien et al. (44)	 (a) group (b) Enhanced Triple P for Baby (positive parenting program); Mellow Bumps (reflective functioning, self-care, parenting) (c) four 2-h sessions (ETPB); six 2-h sessions (MB) (d) facilitators with health visiting or midwifery backgrounds (e) multiple 	RCT	Primary Hypothesis: Women randomized to either intervention will show reduced anxiety as compared to women receiving usual care.	Yes: Planned interviews with the Heads of Midwifery planned delivery settings to gain further insights into the ways in which the local context and organizational culture might have impacted recruitment	Documented acceptability in high deprivation contexts in prior research studies.

(Continued)

Psychological Interventions for Prenatal Anxiety

TABLE 1 Continued					
References	Intervention (a) format, (b) treatment modality, (c) # sessions, attendance, (d) provider (and provider education), (e) setting	Study design	Results main effects	Cultural factors	Acceptability
Zuccolo et al. (45)	 (a) individual (b) Mothenty app (behavioral activation) plus brief online CBT (c) four sessions (d) Psychologists certified in CBT (e) online 	ROT	Primary Hypothesis: Participants receiving the Motherly app plus brief online CBT will show significantly greater reduction in symptoms of anxiety (secondary outcome) as compared with participants who receive only psychoeducation in addition to brief online CBT as measured by the GAD-7.	Yes: Treatment targets (e.g., physical activity, nutrition) were specifically selected based on research findings regarding risk factors for individuals from low-income countries. Intervention uses recommendations based on those from Brazillan Ministry of Health. Online delivery of CBT selected due to dearth of human and financial resources in Brazil.	1
ACT, Acceptance and Commitn Randomized Control Trail; BAI, B OCI, Obsessive Compulsive Inve	ACT, Acceptance and Commitment Therapy; CBT, Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; iCBT, internet-delivered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; ETPB, Enhanced Triple P for Baby; IPT, Interpersonal Therapy; MB, Mellow Bumps; RCT, Bandomized Control Trait; BAI, Beck Anxiety Inventory; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7item; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; DASS-21, Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale-21; OCI, Obsessive Compulsive Inventory-Revised; MI, Mobility Inventory; IES, Impact of Events Scale; SPIN, The Social Phobia Inventory.	Therapy; ICBT, internet-delivered Cognitive Behavioral The Anxiety Disorder- 7item; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depres Impact of Events Scale; SPIN, The Social Phobia Inventory.	ognitive Behavioral Therapy; ETPB, Enhanc pital Anxiety and Depression Scale; STAI, Sta Social Phobia Inventory.	ed Triple P for Baby; IPT, Interper tte-Trait Anxiety Inventory; DASS-21	sonal Therapy; MB, Mellow Bumps; RCT, , Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale-21;

acceptability data. The same variables were extracted for studies reporting on intervention protocols (n = 5), except for treatment response data given that efficacy data was not yet available. The first author extracted these data and charted them independently using a table approved and tested by the research team; data validity and accuracy were checked by a research assistant.

Data Quality Assessment

The methodological biases of the empirical treatment studies in this review were assessed using the Cochrane risk of bias assessment. Specifically, six categories of bias are assessed: (a) selection bias, (b) performance bias, (c) detection bias, (d) attrition bias, (e) reporting bias, and (f) baseline imbalance. The protocols for RCTs that are included were not subjected to a data quality assessment for two reasons. First, the randomized nature of the proposed studies indicated low overall biases, and second, outcome data were not yet reported, meaning that bias categories like attrition bias, reporting bias, and baseline imbalances were not able to be assessed. Bias ratings can be found in Table A1.

RESULTS

Prenatal Anxiety Intervention Efficacy

Two studies provided data on initial clinical efficacy for prenatal anxiety among Latinas and Black women. Lenze and Potts (36) tested an RCT (n = 42) with a majority low-income Black (79%) sample enrolled during their first trimester of pregnancy. The authors reported that women randomized to nine sessions of individual interpersonal psychotherapy for depression delivered by mental health professionals, did not show significant reductions in anxiety symptoms (a secondary outcome). This study was considered to have low methodological bias.

The second study authored by Ruiz et al. (37) used a nonrandomized pre-post intervention design (n = 15) with a lowincome Latina-only sample (31% were foreign born) enrolled during their first trimester of pregnancy. Authors reported that following the receipt of a six-session culturally-adapted combined Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) and Problem Solving Therapy (PST; delivered by nurse practitioners and midwives), women showed significant reductions in their prenatal anxiety symptoms from baseline to post-intervention. Participants in both studies provided quantitative data about the acceptability of the interventions; scores revealed high levels of satisfaction. This study was considered to have high methodological bias (see Table A1 for bias ratings).

Registered Protocols for Treating Prenatal Anxiety

For full information on protocol characteristics see Table 1. We identified eight intervention protocols for prenatal anxiety published since 2017. Most protocols (n = 6) were RCTs proposing to test the efficacy of CBT. These protocols involved delivery of CBT face-to-face (38, 40, 41, 43), online (42, 45), or in combination with a positive parenting intervention (43). One protocol compared an enhanced Prenatal Positive Parenting Program with Mellow Bumps, an intervention focused on promoting antenatal health and mother-infant attachment (44). Face-to-face interventions planned to use hospital or prenatal clinic dissemination settings (38, 40, 41, 43) and delivery models reliant on prenatal nursing professionals (38, 40, 41, 44). Six studies planned to deliver their interventions individually (38, 41, 42), and the other two planned to deliver them in a group setting (43, 44). Three of the five protocols made explicit reference to techniques under consideration to improve cultural fit of their interventions with historically excluded groups of pregnant women (38–40, 43–45), and five planned to collect acceptability data from enrolled women (38–41, 44).

DISCUSSION

This scoping review sought to update current knowledge in the last 5 years (2017-2021) on psychological intervention efficacy for prenatal anxiety in samples comprised of at least 50% Latinas or Black women. Only two completed and published studies met criteria for inclusion; of those, a non-randomized trial testing an intervention integrating ACT and problem-solving therapy in a small Latina sample (n = 15) showed beneficial effects for prenatal anxiety. A prior systematic review without any date restrictions and a higher threshold for ethnic/racial minority inclusion (i.e., 75%) also identified only two trials seeking to reduce prenatal anxiety (31). The present review, using a less stringent inclusion criteria for proportion of Latinas or Black women enrolled, found just one new published intervention trial since Ponting et al. (31). Thus, to date there are a total of three published studies (*total* n = 101)—two in primarily Black samples, one in a Latina only sample-that have sought to treat prenatal anxiety in Latinas or Black women. Meta-analytic data indicate that there are nine additional published RCTs comprised of primarily white women (*total* n = 443), most testing CBT, that show medium effect sizes of psychotherapy on prenatal anxiety (46). Thus, although there are relatively few prenatal anxiety interventions overall, there is evidence of symptom improvement for non-Latina white women, but not as yet for Latinas or Black women. This gap in the literature requires attention by researchers and clinicians.

We also reviewed published protocols for RCTs testing interventions for prenatal anxiety. Despite the identified disparity in efficacious anxiety interventions for Black women and Latinas, the eight protocols identified are encouraging for at least two reasons. First, four of the eight protocols planned to train nurses and midwives who are perinatal health professionals without a mental health background. This is likely to be a promising approach. The feasibility of this delivery model is supported by nurses and midwives' frequent contact with pregnant women and extensive training in pregnancy-specific health information (47). In conjunction with increased funding for home visiting programs for pregnant women under the Affordable Care Act, this workforce is well-positioned to address common pregnancyspecific worries and concerns. Recent meta-analyses find that midwife-delivered psychological interventions are efficacious for reducing perinatal anxiety and depression (48, 49).

Second, three of the protocols (38, 43, 44) identify theoretical mechanisms of treatment change, which can serve

as psychosocial targets across psychotherapeutic modalities. For example, the O'Brien et al. (44) protocol stands out because the proposed mediators of change are situated within the developmental context of pregnancy. The enhanced *Triple P for Parenting and Mellow Bumps* protocol is teaching pregnant women and their partners about infant and child development and will test whether improvements in knowledge around infant development will lead to maternal anxiety symptoms. Though psychologists have urged for better measurement of potential mechanisms of intervention that are related to symptom change [e.g., (50)], prenatal intervention work has lagged in this domain. Identifying the psychosocial targets most likely to lead to improved anxiety profiles during pregnancy is a worthy avenue for future investigation.

FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS TO IMPROVE EQUITY IN PRENATAL ANXIETY INTERVENTION

The disproportionate impact of socio-political stressors on Black women and Latinas in the United States adversely impacts anxiety symptoms among these groups (51), and we lack evidence-based psychotherapies to intervene at the individual level in pregnancy. In this context of high unmet need, we argue that increased attention to family involvement, pregnancyspecific anxiety, and prevention efforts during preconception (52) are likely to improve engagement and clinical outcomes among ethnic and racial minority pregnant women.

Our recommendation is to include a woman's family members as part of perinatal anxiety interventions to increase her comfort and involvement with treatment. We know that pregnant women have significant interest in receiving family support during their prenatal health care (53), yet no published intervention identified in the present systematic review or in past reviews (31, 54) have involved partner or extended family participation. Public health programs have increasingly sought to involve partners in perinatal care given that couples' anxiety symptoms have bidirectional effects in pregnancy (55) and influence early parenting behaviors (30). There is emerging evidence among samples of primarily white women that brief psychological interventions for pregnant women at risk for anxiety incorporating partners or family can successfully reduce symptoms in both women and their family members (56). The benefits of family engagement may be even greater for pregnant Latinas and Black women whose valuing of close family relationships (e.g., familism) is an important cultural source of resilience during pregnancy (51, 57).

Further, it is possible that familial participation may reduce concerns as reported by the pregnant women in several qualitative studies—that seeking help for anxiety might be negatively perceived as prioritizing themselves over their families (53). However, interventions that consider including partners or family members should take into account history of family violence and prioritize safety as well as ensure that women feel comfortable including their family in such interventions. Recent research draws attention to a range of pregnancyspecific worries that should be addressed in prenatal anxiety interventions (9). Pregnancy-specific anxiety—or concerns specific to a woman's pregnancy, labor and delivery, and future parenting—is estimated to occur in 29% of women in high income countries (58). Yet, intervention protocols for prenatal anxiety often leave out content about labor and delivery, or about common prenatal medical conditions in pregnancy (e.g., gestational diabetes, preeclampsia). In fact, fear of childbirth and pregnancy-specific anxiety have largely been treated separately from other anxiety symptoms or disorders, and are frequently addressed using only standard prenatal health education (59). Integrating prenatal health education and psychotherapy may increase intervention relevance and improve birth and child outcomes, improving care for pregnant women with anxiety.

MUMentum (25) is an internet delivered CBT protocol for perinatal depression and anxiety and a good example of integrating psychotherapy and prenatal education. MUMentum supplies prenatal education resources for women, including topics like attachment during pregnancy and intrusive thoughts about childbirth. Efficacy data among Australian women show that randomization to the MUMentum intervention resulted in medium to large reductions in anxiety (25). Examining how MUMentum and other interventions might impact pregnancyspecific anxiety is a worthy next step, as pregnancy-specific anxiety has been linked to length of gestation, low-birthweight, and adverse physical and mental health outcomes for offspring (60). Psychological intervention trials that can better tailor their content to fit specific and prevalent pregnancy-related worries stand to have particular impact on ethnic and racial minority women who are disproportionately likely to report high pregnancy-specific anxiety (6, 61, 62) and encounter adverse birth outcomes (63).

Finally, the preconception period—before a person is pregnant— is increasingly a window of interest for psychological interventions seeking to improve the overall health of women during pregnancy. Addressing preconception anxiety merits consideration, as symptoms have been associated with postpartum anxiety and later mother-infant bonding problems (64). Thus, providing health promotion information and screening for anxiety symptoms during preventive visits might be worthwhile, especially if women are of reproductive age and are seeking to be pregnant. This same strategy can be applied to interconception periods and appears to be an indicated and low burden form of prevention for women with a prior adverse pregnancy outcome [e.g., traumatic delivery, fetal loss; (65)].

REFERENCES

- Kessler RC, Petukhova M, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, Wittchen H-U. Twelve-month and lifetime prevalence and lifetime morbid risk of anxiety and mood disorders in the United States. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2012) 21:169–84. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1359
- 2. Dennis CL, Falah-Hassani K, Shiri R. Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis.

Though referral and treatment may improve women's health broadly and set the stage for a healthier pregnancy in the future, equitable outcomes will require that screening and education is culturally responsive, treatment is disseminated outside of health care settings, and that providers acknowledge historical and current reproductive oppression (66).

In conclusion, this scoping review provides a strong basis for empirically testing and culturally tailoring prenatal anxiety interventions to optimize the health of racial and ethnic minority mothers and their infants. Given longstanding disparities between Black and Latina and non-Latina white women in pre- and postnatal health outcomes and in access to preventive interventions, policy changes are a pre-requisite for prenatal mental health equity. Still, at the individual level, community-based psychological intervention studies for Black women and Latinas can help to identify particular skills, knowledge, and connections to community support best suited for regulating prenatal anxiety. The success of these endeavors will depend on researchers' ability to engage with community stakeholders to appropriately address mistrust of intervention research given historical abuses and current inequities in care in minority communities (67). Researchers can assess intervention acceptability among Latinas and Black women and address pregnancy-specific worries or basic needs to increase the relevance of available treatments for prenatal anxiety. Health promotion programs that can build on the strengths of Latinx and Black communities in the preconception period are also warranted to improve intergenerational outcomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CP conducted the analyses, visualized the results, conceptualized the aims of the review, and wrote the first draft the review. GU contributed to the writing of the article (introduction, discussion) and provided feedback on several drafts. CD assisted with conceptualization of the aims, contributed to the writing, oversaw research administration, and contributed to the framing of the introduction and discussion. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.820343/full#supplementary-material

Br J Psychiatry. (2017) 210:315–23. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116. 187179

- Grobman W, Parker C, Wadhwa P, Willinger M, Simhan H, Silver B, et al. Racial/Ethnic disparities in measures of self-reported psychosocial states and traits during pregnancy. *Am J Perinatol.* (2016) 33:1426–32. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1586510
- 4. Liu CH, Giallo R, Doan SN, Seidman LJ, Tronick E. Racial and ethnic differences in prenatal life stress and postpartum depression

symptoms. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. (2016) 30:7-12. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2015. 11.002

- Rosenthal L, Lobel M. Explaining racial disparities in adverse birth outcomes: unique sources of stress for Black American women. Soc Sci Med. (2011) 72:977–83. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.01.013
- Arch JJ. Pregnancy-specific anxiety: which women are highest and what are the alcohol-related risks?. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2013) 54:217–28. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.07.010
- Beijers R, Buitelaar JK, de Weerth C. Mechanisms underlying the effects of prenatal psychosocial stress on child outcomes: beyond the HPA axis. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2014) 23:943–56. doi: 10.1007/s00787-014-0566-3
- Prescott J, Mackie L, Rathbone AL. Predictors of health anxiety during pregnancy. *MHealth.* (2018) 4:16. doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.04.04
- Dunkel Schetter C, Tanner L. Anxiety, depression and stress in pregnancy: implications for mothers, children, research, and practice. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. (2012). doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e3283503680
- Phua DY, Chen H, Chong YS, Gluckman PD, Broekman BFP, Meaney MJ. Network analyses of maternal pre- and post-partum symptoms of depression and anxiety. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:785. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00785
- Shahhosseini Z, Pourasghar M, Khalilian A, Salehi F. A review of the effects of anxiety during pregnancy on children's health. *Materia Socio Medica*. (2015) 27:200–2. doi: 10.5455/msm.2015.27.200-202
- Huitfeldt A, Sundbakk LM, Skurtveit S, Handal M, Nordeng H. Associations of maternal use of benzodiazepines or benzodiazepine-like hypnotics during pregnancy with immediate pregnancy outcomes in Norway. *JAMA Network Open*. (2020) 3:e205860. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.5860
- Marchesi C, Ossola P, Amerio A, Daniel BD, Tonna M, De Panfilis C. Clinical management of perinatal anxiety disorders: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2016) 190:543–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.004
- Freeman MP. Perinatal depression. JAMA. (2019) 321:550. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.21247
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (2008). Use of Psychiatric Medications During Pregnancy and Lactation. Available online at: http://unmfm.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/81072005/pb092.pdf
- Leddy MA, Lawrence H, Schulkin J. Obstetrician-Gynecologists and women's mental health: findings of the collaborative ambulatory research network 2005–2009. Obstet Gynecol Survey. (2011) 66:316–23. doi: 10.1097/OGX.0b013e31822785ee
- Novick G. Women's experience of prenatal care: an integrative review. J Midwif Womens Health. (2009) 54:226–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2009. 02.003
- Kozhimannil KB, Trinacty CM, Adams AS, Huskamp HA, Busch AB. Racial and ethnic disparities in postpartum depression care among lowincome women. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2014) 62:619–25. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps. 62.6.619
- Lucero NB, Beckstrand RL, Callister LC, Sanchez Birkhead AC. Prevalence of postpartum depression among Hispanic immigrant women. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. (2012) 24:726–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7599.2012.00744.x
- Watson H, Harrop D, Walton E, Young A, Soltani H. A systematic review of ethnic minority women's experiences of perinatal mental health conditions and services in Europe. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0210587. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210587
- 21. Declercq E, Feinberg E, Belanoff C. Racial inequities in the course of treating perinatal mental health challenges: results from listening to mothers in California. *Birth.* (2021) 49:132–40. doi: 10.1111/birt.12584
- 22. Abramowitz JS, Deacon BD, Whiteside SP. *Exposure Therapy for Anxiety: Principles and Practice.* 2nd ed. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2019).
- Christian LM, Storch EA. Cognitive behavioral treatment of postpartum onset. *Clin Case Stud.* (2009) 8:72–83. doi: 10.1177/15346501083 26974
- Green SM, Haber E, Frey BN, McCabe RE. Cognitive-behavioral group treatment for perinatal anxiety: a pilot study. Arch Womens Mental Health. (2015) 18:631–8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-015-0498-z
- Loughnan SA, Sie A, Hobbs MJ, Joubert AE, Smith J, Haskelberg H, et al. A randomized controlled trial of 'MUMentum Pregnancy': internetdelivered cognitive behavioral therapy program for antenatal anxiety and depression. J Affect Disord. (2019) 243:381–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018. 09.057

- Bittner A, Peukert J, Zimmermann C, Junge-Hoffmeister J, Parker LS, Stöbel-Richter Y, et al. Early intervention in pregnant women withelevated anxiety and depressive symptoms. *J Perinat Neonat Nurs*. (2014) 28:185–95. doi: 10.1097/JPN.00000000000027
- Salehi F, Pourasghar M, Khalilian A, Shahhosseini Z. Comparison of group cognitive behavioral therapy and interactive lectures in reducing anxiety during pregnancy: a quasi experimental trial. *Medicine*. (2016) 95:e5224. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005224
- Polo A, Makol B, Castro A, Polo AJ, Makol BA, Castro AS, et al. Diversity in randomized clinical trials of depression: a 36-year review. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2018) 67:22–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.09.004
- Benish SG, Quintana S, Wampold BE. Culturally adapted psychotherapy and the legitimacy of myth: a direct-comparison meta-analysis. *J Couns Psychol.* (2011) 58:279–89. doi: 10.1037/a0023626
- Fisher JA, Kalbaugh CA. Challenging assumptions about minority participation in US clinical research. *Am J Public Health.* (2011) 101:2217–22. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2011.300279
- Ponting C, Mahrer NE, Zelcer H, Dunkel Schetter C, Chavira DA. Psychological interventions for depression and anxiety in pregnant Latina and Black women in the United States: a systematic review. *Clin Psychol Psychother.* (2020) 27:249–65. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2424
- Munn Z, Peters MD, Stern C, Tufanaru C, McArthur A, Aromataris E. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2018) 18:1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x
- 33. Lara-Cinisomo S, Ramirez Olarte A, Rosales M, Barrera AZ. A systematic review of technology-based prevention and treatment interventions for perinatal depression and anxiety in latina and African American women. *Matern Child Health J.* (2021) 25:268–81. doi: 10.1007/s10995-020-03028-9
- Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan-a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. *Syst Rev.* 5:210 (2016). doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4
- Gusenbauer M, Haddaway NR. Which academic search systems are suitable for systematic reviews or meta-analyses? Evaluating retrieval qualities of Google Scholar, PubMed, and 26 other resources. *Res Synth Methods*. (2020) 11:181–217. doi: 10.1002/jrsm.1378
- Lenze SN, Potts MA. Brief Interpersonal Psychotherapy for depression during pregnancy in a low-income population: a randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord. (2017) 210:151–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.12.029
- Ruiz RJ, Newman M, Records K, Wommack JC, Stowe RP, Pasillas RM. Pilot study of the mastery lifestyle intervention. *Nurs Res.* (2019) 68:494–500. doi: 10.1097/NNR.00000000000384
- Atif N, Nazir H, Zafar S, Chaudhri R, Atiq M, Mullany LC, et al. Development of a psychological intervention to address anxiety during pregnancy in a low-income country. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:1–13. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00927
- Bright KS, Mughal MK, Wajid A, Lane-Smith M, Murray L, Roy N, et al. Internet-based interpersonal psychotherapy for stress, anxiety, and depression in prenatal women: study protocol for a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Trials.* (2019) 20:814. doi: 10.1186/s13063-019-3897-z
- 40. Challacombe FL, Potts L, Carter B, Lawrence V, Husbands A, Howard LM. Optimising psychological treatment for Anxiety DisordErs in Pregnancy (ADEPT): study protocol for a feasibility trial of time-intensive CBT versus weekly CBT. *Pilot Feasib Stud.* (2021) 7:101. doi: 10.1186/s40814-021-00838-8
- 41. Jackson KT, Parkinson S, Jackson B, Mantler T. Examining the impact of trauma-informed cognitive behavioral therapy on perinatal mental health outcomes among survivors of intimate partner violence (the PATH study): Protocol for a feasibility study. *JMIR Res Protoc.* (2018) 20:e134. doi: 10.2196/resprot.9820
- 42. Loughnan SA, Newby JM, Haskelberg H, Mahoney A, Kladnitski N, Smith J, et al. Internet-based cognitive behavioural therapy (iCBT) for perinatal anxiety and depression versus treatment as usual: study protocol for two randomised controlled trials. *Trials 2018*. (2018) 19:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s13063-017-2422-5
- 43. Melnyk BM, Gennaro S, Szalacha LA, Hoying J, O'Connor C, Cooper A, et al. Randomized controlled trial of the COPE-P intervention to improve mental health, healthy lifestyle behaviors, birth and post-natal outcomes of minority pregnant women: study protocol with implications. *Contemp Clin Trials.* (2020) 98:106090. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2020.106090

- 44. O'Brien R, Buston K, Wight D, Mcgee E, White J, Henderson M. A realist process evaluation of Enhanced Triple P For Baby And Mellow Bumps, Within A Trial Of Healthy Relationship Initiatives For The Very Early Years (THRIVE): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials.* (2019) 20:351. doi: 10.1186/s13063-019-3395-3
- 45. Zuccolo PF, Xavier MO, Matijasevich A, Polanczyk G, Fatori D. A smartphone-assisted brief online cognitive-behavioral intervention for pregnant women with depression: a study protocol of a randomized controlled trial. *Trials.* (2021) 22:227. doi: 10.1186/s13063-021-05179-8
- Li C, Sun X, Li Q, Sun Q, Wu B, Duan, D. Role of psychotherapy on antenatal depression, anxiety, and maternal quality of life: a meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2020) 99:e20947. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000020947
- Marzalik PR, Feltham KJ, Jefferson K, Pekin K. Midwifery education in the U.S. - certified nurse-midwife, certified midwife and certified professional midwife. *Midwifery*. (2018) 60:9–12. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2018.01.020
- Han Q, Guo M, Ren F, Duan D, Xu X. Role of midwife-supported psychotherapy on antenatal depression, anxiety and maternal health: a meta-analysis and literature review. *Exp Ther Med.* (2020) 20:2599. doi: 10.3892/etm.2020.9011
- 49. Wang TH, Pai LW, Tzeng YL, Yeh TP, Teng YK. Effectiveness of nurses and midwives-led psychological interventions on reducing depression symptoms in the perinatal period: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nurs Open.* (2021) 8:2117–30. doi: 10.1002/nop2.764
- Kazdin AE. Mediators and mechanisms of change in psychotherapy research. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2007) 3:1–27. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091432
- Sumbul T, Spellen S, McLemore MR. A transdisciplinary conceptual framework of contextualized resilience for reducing adverse birth outcomes. *Qual Health Res.* (2020) 30:105–18. doi: 10.1177/1049732319885369
- 52. Howard LM, Khalifeh H. Perinatal mental health: a review of progress and challenges. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:313–27. doi: 10.1002/wps. 20769
- O'Mahen H, Fedock G, Henshaw E, Himle JA, Forman J, Flynn HA. Modifying CBT for perinatal depression: what do women want? A qualitative study. *Cogn Behav Pract.* (2012) 19:359–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2011.05.005
- 54. Evans K, Spiby H, Morrell JC. Non-pharmacological interventions to reduce the symptoms of mild to moderate anxiety in pregnant women. A systematic review and narrative synthesis of women's views on the acceptability of and satisfaction with interventions. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. (2020) 23:11–28. doi: 10.1007/s00737-018-0936-9
- MajdandŽi,ć M, de Vente W, Feinberg ME, Aktar E, Bögels SM. Bidirectional associations between coparenting relations and family member anxiety: a Review and conceptual model. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev.* (2012) 15:28–42. doi: 10.1007/s10567-011-0103-6
- Thome M, Arnardottir SB. Evaluation of a family nursing intervention for distressed pregnant women and their partners: a single group before and after study. J Adv Nurs. (2013) 69:805–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06063.x
- Campos B, Schetter CD, Abdou CM, Hobel CJ, Glynn LM, Sandman CA. Familialism, social support, and stress: positive implications for pregnant Latinas. *Cult Divers Ethnic Minority Psychol.* (2008) 14:155–62. doi: 10.1037/1099-9809.14.2.155
- Chandra PS, Nanjundaswamy MH. Pregnancy specific anxiety: an under-recognized problem. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:336–7. doi: 10.1002/wps.20781

- Stoll K, Swift EM, Fairbrother N, Nethery E, Janssen P. A systematic review of nonpharmacological prenatal interventions for pregnancy-specific anxiety and fear of childbirth. *Birth.* (2018) 45:7–18. doi: 10.1111/birt.12316
- Dunkel Schetter C. Psychological science on pregnancy: stress processes, biopsychosocial models, and emerging research issues. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2011) 62:531–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.031809.130727
- Mancuso RA, Schetter CD, Rini CM, Roesch SC, Hobel CJ. Maternal prenatal anxiety and corticotropin-releasing hormone associated with timing of delivery. *Psychosom Med.* (2004) 66:762–9. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000138284.70670.d5
- Ramos IF, Guardino CM, Mansolf M, Glynn LM, Sandman CA, Hobel CJ, et al. Pregnancy anxiety predicts shorter gestation in Latina and non- Latina white women: the role of placental corticotrophinreleasing hormone. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2019) 99:166–73. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.09.008
- 63. Almeida AF, Rocha NP, Silva AG. Methodological quality of manuscripts reporting on the usability of mobile applications for pain assessment and management: a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:785. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17030785
- 64. Olsson CA, Spry EA, Alway Y, Moreno-Betancur M, Youssef G, Greenwood C, et al. Preconception depression and anxiety symptoms and maternal-infant bonding: a 20-year intergenerational cohort study. *Arch Womens Mental Health.* (2020) 24:513–23. doi: 10.1007/s00737-020-0 1081-5
- Johnson K, Atrash H, Johnson A. Policy and finance for preconception care: opportunities for today and the future. *Womens Health Issues*. (2008) 18:S2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2008.09.006
- 66. Dehlendorf C, Akers AY, Borrero S, Callegari LS, Cadena D, Gomez AM, et al. Evolving the preconception health framework: a call for reproductive and sexual health equity. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2021) 137:234. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000004255
- Kuhlman KR, Urizar Jr GG, Robles TF, Yim IS, Schetter CD. Testing plausible biopsychosocial models in diverse community samples: common pitfalls and strategies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2019) 107:191–200. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.05.017

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ponting, Urizar and Dunkel Schetter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX

TABLE A1 | Assessment of study bias.

	Random on sequence generation	Allocation concealment	Blinding of participants and personnel	Blinding of outcome assessment	Incomplete outcome data	Selective reporting	Baseline imbalance	Overall Bias
Lenze and Potts (36)	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	Ø	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	Low
Ruiz et al. (37)	\otimes	\otimes	\otimes	\otimes	Ø	\oplus	\oplus	High

⊕Indicates low risk of bias, Øindicates unclear risk of bias, and ⊗indicates high risk of bias. Studies rated as "low risk of bias" on four of the six categories were considered to have an overall low risk of bias; studies with two or three categories rated as "low risk of bias" were considered to have an overall medium risk of bias; and studies with one or fewer categories rated as "low risk of bias" were considered to have an overall medium risk of bias; and studies with one or fewer categories rated as "low risk of bias" were considered to have an overall medium risk of bias; and studies with one or fewer categories rated as "low risk of bias."





Home Visiting as an Equitable Intervention for Perinatal Depression: A Scoping Review

Karen M. Tabb^{1*}, Brandie Bentley¹, Maria Pineros Leano², Shannon D. Simonovich³, Nichole Nidey⁴, Kate Ross¹, Wen-hao David Huang¹ and Hsiang Huang⁵

¹ School of Social Work, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, United States, ² School of Social Work, Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA, United States, ³ College of Science and Health, DePaul University, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁴ Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Division of Biostatistics and Epidemiology, University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, United States, ⁵ Cambridge Health Alliance (CHA), Cambridge, MA, United States

Objective: Maternal mental health disorders are a leading complication of childbirth. While few systems are adequately able to identify and treat depression, people experiencing perinatal depression may benefit from the intervention of home visiting. The intent of home visiting interventions is to alleviate stressors of parenthood for people facing additional risk factors. The aim of this scoping review is to investigate the effect of home visiting on perinatal depression grounded in published studies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yuan-Pang Wang, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Kristin Reynolds, University of Manitoba, Canada Chutima Roomruangwong, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand

*Correspondence:

Karen M. Tabb ktabb@illinois.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 December 2021 Accepted: 11 February 2022 Published: 18 March 2022

Citation:

Tabb KM, Bentley B, Pineros Leano M, Simonovich SD, Nidey N, Ross K, Huang WHD and Huang H (2022) Home Visiting as an Equitable Intervention for Perinatal Depression: A Scoping Review. Front. Psychiatry 13:826673. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.826673 **Methods:** We conducted a scoping review of the existing literature of studies relevant to perinatal depression and home visiting. We entered keywords in five search databases: MEDLINE, PsycInfo, CINAHL, Social Work Abstracts, and Google Scholar. All relevant literature published between January 1999–December 2019 was reviewed. Duplicates, books, and errata were excluded from the study. As a scoping review, we included all studies published in English describing the inclusion of maternal depression in home visits. We hypothesize birthing people with perinatal depression will benefit from home visiting interventions.

Results: The results from the scoping review and describe the use of home visiting to improve perinatal mental health. An initial 12,652 records were identified in the search. After duplicates were removed, the titles of 2,140 articles were assessed for applicability, however 29 identified for full-text eligibility and were included in this analysis. The majority of the studies included in this review were quantitative (n = 23), followed by qualitative (n = 3), and mixed methods (n = 3). Nearly all studies (n = 28) using validated instruments such as the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale to determine depressive symptoms.

Discussion: This review offers preliminary qualitative insights on the efficacy of home visiting for administrating perinatal depression care. Studies show that home visiting programs can provide treatment for perinatal depression and reduce the effects of depression for birthing people. Our review suggests that the efficacy of home visiting programs beginning in the postpartum period are less predictable than prenatal home visiting intervention among various populations, including people experiencing both high-risk and low-risk situations.

Keywords: home visiting, depression, perinatal, postpartum, depressive symptoms

INTRODUCTION

Transitioning into the role of parenthood is a complex period underscored by a range of physical, lifestyle, and emotional changes, resulting in increased needs for support for birthing people and their families (1). Due to these immense transitions, emotional distress, psychological distress, anxiety, and depression are commonly experienced among during the perinatal period (from pregnancy up to 12 months postpartum) and are often left untreated. The prevalence of clinically significant depressive symptoms ranges from 12 to 23.1% (2, 3) in most studies. Depressive symptoms, independent of maternal stress, can occur at any time during the perinatal period. Maternal distress is associated with adverse maternal, child, and family outcomes including maternal substance abuse, a heightened risk of child maltreatment, and increased challenges for parents (2-4). Social support is one of several protective factors for maternal distress and depression (5). It is possible that social support can mitigate the impacts of untreated mental health of mothers during the perinatal period through early detection and intervention efforts including depression screening. In parallel, addressing the aforementioned challenges faced by parents through supportive programming, such as home visiting or case management, can promote the well-being of the entire family by potentially helping to reduce perinatal depression and creating long-lasting positive outcomes for both parents and children.

Home visiting programs are a globally implemented approach aimed at increasing positive health outcomes through providing parents with mental health screenings, psychoeducation, case management, and social support within each parent's home environment (6, 7). Home visitors may voluntarily engage families at intentional time points throughout the perinatal period, including pregnancy, birth, and postpartum, with routine visits occurring on a weekly to monthly basis. The exact structure of home visiting program models varies, however there are recognized programs such as Nurse-Family Partnership, Healthy Families, and Parents as Teachers. These models utilize standard assessment, education, and screening tools to inform Home Visitors' tailored responses to families' needs. Home visiting programs typically engage nurses, social workers, paraprofessionals, or trained volunteers in the delivery of services (6, 8). Home visiting is a practical approach to ensure the health and well-being of perinatal women and infants. Although prior studies have demonstrated the positive effects of home visiting on child development and healthy parental practices, Perry et al. (9) assert mothers experiencing depressive symptoms may have limited engagement in home-based services, prompting an increased need for home visiting programs to specifically address maternal depression as an aspect of the intervention (9). While there are several models to address perinatal depression, within home visiting there still remain uncertainties on the effectiveness of this approach.

Home visiting programs are an avenue to address maternal mental health inequality during the perinatal period. Home visiting programs often aim to achieve maternal health equity for populations at risk for poor outcomes. Birthing people with increased risk factors for postpartum depression including elevated depressive symptoms during pregnancy, personal or family history of depression, and low levels of social support are often enrolled into home visiting programs, yet there is limited research examining depression within the context of home visitation (8, 9). The aim of this scoping review is to investigate the existing literature of home visiting and its effects on perinatal depression, in an attempt to explore the relationship between these two factors grounded in published studies. Findings from this study may inform the applicability of home visiting as a supplementary approach to increase the positive mental health outcomes of women and infants enrolled in home visiting programs. Specifically, this scoping review addresses the question, "How do home visiting programs address and/or treat the adverse symptoms of perinatal (antenatal or postpartum) depression (PPD)?"

METHODS

In order to determine the capacity of home visiting as a sound intervention for PPD, a scoping review was performed by synthesizing data within a relevant timeframe. Studies were identified through a systematic search of relevant literature in five search databases, published between January 1, 1999 and December 31, 2019, a twenty-year period of reference. No review protocol for this study exists.

Identifying Relevant Studies

We searched MEDLINE, PsycInfo, CINAHL, Social Work Abstracts, and Google Scholar to gather literature. Keywords searched include 51 combinations of the terms "perinatal", "pregnancy", "postpartum", "antenatal", "maternal", "depression", "depressive symptoms", "depressive mood", "mood", "mental health", "home visiting", and "home visitation" thus constructing a comprehensive search which reflects the prevalence of our topic. Our findings excluded duplicate studies, books, errata, and/or studies with insufficient relevance to the research question. Our findings included studies published in English language, that utilized a home visiting sample and included perinatal depression in any capacity. Non-English language papers were not included. The date range of this study includes data published from 1999 to 2019. Authors, KT, BB, and MPL independently charted the data from each eligible article and met weekly to continuously update the data-charting form in an iterative process.

Literature Selection

Initially, 12,652 records were identified. After duplicate records were discarded, 2,140 articles remained. Following title search, 37 articles remained for abstract review. Abstracts were reviewed by authors KT, BB and KR and assessed for inclusion eligibility. Articles that did not include depression as an outcome within the context of home visiting were excluded. A total of 29 studies were included in this scoping review (see **Figure 1**).



RESULTS

The results are organized and presented by the timing of the intervention; perinatal or postpartum in **Supplementary Table 1**, which also summarizes the country, study design, sample population, type, duration and frequency of home visits, type of education provided, assessment of depression, and lastly study outcomes and effect sizes. The majority of the studies included in this review were conducted in the United States (n = 16), followed by Australia (n = 4). The majority of the studies included in this review were quantitative (n = 23). An additional three studies were qualitative, and three were mixed methods. The studies included in this review used different tools to assess depression ranging from qualitative interviews to diagnostic interviews. However, most studies (n = 28) included in this review assessed depression using questionnaires. The questionnaire that was most often used in the studies

included in this review to assess depressive symptomology was the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Screening (EPDS, n = 16).

Interventions Initiated During the Perinatal Period

In this scoping review of 29 studies, only 12 studies were conducted during the perinatal period, meaning the study started during pregnancy and extended into the postpartum period. These findings of these 12 studies during the perinatal period describe the long-lasting effects of home visiting programs on improving PPD for a variety of high-risk low-income populations. Most importantly, the majority of studies that including both pregnancy and postpartum periods presented the element of time in their analysis. Description of the key study findings and their relevance to the effectiveness of home visiting to address perinatal depression from pregnancy through postpartum is provided as follows:

Ammerman et al. (8) analyzed data from 806 women who were enrolled in Every Child Succeeds (ECS). Women in this program were high-risk mothers who were enrolled in the program beginning as early as 20 weeks gestation. The majority of providers in the intervention were social workers or had similar professions. The home visiting interventions were delivered over a 2.5–3-year period, with increased contact at the beginning of the intervention. Depressive symptomology was assessed using the Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II) at enrollment and again 9 months after the first visit. At enrollment, mean depressive scores were 12.29, and at 9 months they had dropped to 10.12 (p < 0.001). Further analysis demonstrated that 56.5% of mothers who had elevated depressive symptoms at enrollment were no longer depressed at the 9-month assessment (8).

Brock et al. (10) reported findings from a randomized controlled trial that was implemented spanning from the perinatal period from pregnancy through 24 months postpartum. All participants enrolled in the study had elevated depressive symptoms. Fifty-four women were randomized into immediate (n = 36) and delayed listening (n = 18) visits and completed a 16-week assessment. The researchers used multiple measures to assess depressive symptoms- General Depression, the EPDS, and the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression to assess depression severity. The results of this intervention demonstrated that both groups, the immediate and the delayed, experienced significant reduction in depressive symptoms. Furthermore, the improvement in depressive symptoms was maintained over time (10).

Dugravier et al. (11) reported the results of a randomized controlled trial conducted during the perinatal period with 440 first-time mothers who were recruited during their 7th month of pregnancy. The participants were high-risk mothers with at least one psychosocial risk factor (e.g., low-income). The intervention consisted of 14 home visits that were delivered by trained psychologists between the 7th month of pregnancy and 3 months postpartum. Participants were randomized into the intervention or the usual care group. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the EPDS at baseline and again at 3 months postpartum, the end of the intervention. The results demonstrated that in the overall sample there was not a statistically significant difference in depressive symptoms between the intervention and the control group. However, post-hoc analysis demonstrated that the intervention was more effective for women with certain psychosocial characteristics, including among those planning to raise their children without a father, those whom had low depressive symptoms at baseline, and among women who had more than 9 years of education (11).

Similarly, Hadley et al. (12) reported the findings of a home visiting intervention with 513 participants who enrolled during the prenatal period. Women who participated in this study were mostly high-risk with the majority of participants unmarried and low-income. The intervention duration was 9 months, during which participants received at least three visits and monthly phone calls, all delivered by community health workers. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the EPDS. The results demonstrated that after participating in the intervention, elevated depressive symptoms were present on 13.31% of women; a reduction from 29.28% at baseline (p < 0.001).

One study implemented during the perinatal period investigated the effectiveness of a home visitation program on maternal psychological functioning (13). All participants in the study were eligible for Medicaid; with 198 participants of the home visiting program compared to 221 who did not participate. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the CESD before birth and at 1 year postpartum. The intervention was delivered by trained community health paraprofessionals. The intervention consisted of providing participants with parenting skills and improving psychological well-being. The intervention was delivered from before 28 weeks of gestation through the first year postpartum on a monthly basis. The results showed that, at baseline, those who did not participate in the program had significantly higher depressive symptoms, compared to those who participated in the home visiting program (p = 0.007). At 1 year, there were no significant differences in depressive symptoms between the intervention and control groups. However, average depressive scores increased more at 1 year postpartum among the non-participants than they did among the home visiting participants (p = 0.012).

A study by Price et al. (14) investigated the effectiveness of a home visiting program among 25 participants who were assigned to either usual care or the intervention group. All the participants were high-risk; under 100% of the poverty line. The intervention consisted of 12 weeks of home visiting delivered by mental health professionals. Depressive symptoms were assessed at baseline and after 12 weeks using the Patient Health Questionnaire- 9 items (PHQ-9). The results demonstrated that there was a significant reduction in depressive symptoms in the intervention group, but not in the usual care group (14).

In a randomized control study conducted over the perinatal period, Samankasikorn et al. (15) randomized 150 teenage pregnant people into a control and an intervention group. All the participants were high-risk; all were teenagers, and most were unmarried. Community health workers delivered the intervention twice per month during pregnancy and once per month during the postpartum period. Depressive symptoms were assessed at baseline, 3 months, and 12 months postpartum using the EPDS. Overall, the results demonstrated that there was no significant difference between the groups on depressive symptom reduction at 3 months. However, *post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that there was a significant difference between intervention and control groups among Latina participants, with significant reduction in depressive symptoms from baseline to 3 months postpartum (15).

Tandon et al. (16, 17) investigated the efficacy of a cognitive behavioral group therapy intervention in reducing depressive symptoms. A total of 78 women were randomized into an intervention and a control group. All women had elevated depressive symptoms and were at-risk for postpartum depression. The intervention was delivered by licensed social workers or clinical psychologists and consisted of standard home

visits plus six 2-hour sessions delivered every week in a group. The intervention group also received booster sessions at 3 and 6-months post-intervention. Depressive symptoms were assessed at baseline, 1-week, 3-months (16), and 6-months (17) using the BDI-II. Major depressive episodes were assessed using the Maternal Mood Screener. At 3-months post intervention, the results demonstrated that women in the intervention group had significantly lower levels of depressive symptoms compared to those in the intervention group (p < 0.05) (16). The results from the 6-month post-intervention demonstrated that women who received the intervention still had lower depressive symptoms, compared to the control group (p < 0.001).

Interventions Initiated During the Postpartum Period

In our review, 17 studies were conducted during the postpartum period only. Our review suggests that the efficacy of home visiting programs beginning in the postpartum period are less predictable than perinatal home visiting intervention from pregnancy through postpartum, among various populations, including high- and low-risk participants. Armstrong et al. (18) conducted a randomized controlled trial to determine the effectiveness of weekly home visits. All participants were highrisk; with some form of physically abusive relationship with their partners or children in addition to low income status and/or a history of a mental health disorder (18). The intervention delivered by nurses consisted of weekly visits for the first 6 weeks, then every other week through 3 months, and then monthly visits until the child turned 6 months. The EPDS was used to assess maternal depressive symptoms at baseline and then again at 6 weeks. The results indicated that the EPDS scores from the intervention had improved significantly, compared to the scores from the control group (p < 0.05). Moreover, the results demonstrated that the intervention had been more effective for primiparous women than for multiparous women (18).

A study by Ahn and Kim (19) investigated the effectiveness of a home visiting discharge education intervention on postpartum depression among birthing participants who had their children in neonatal intensive care units (19). A total of 35 participants were enrolled into the intervention (n = 23) and control (n = 12) groups. The intervention consisted of a 1-h home visit provided within one-week of hospital discharge. The intervention was delivered by a registered nurse. Depressive symptoms were assessed at baseline and again after the intervention, using the EPDS. The post-intervention results demonstrated statistically significant reduction in EPDS scores in the intervention group but not in the control group (p = 0.001).

A postpartum period study tested an informal home visiting support program using a cluster randomized design (20). All participants were living in socially disadvantaged situations. The intervention was delivered by trained community volunteers. The number of visits varied depending on the needs of the participants. Depressive symptoms were measured using the EPDS at 2 and 12 months. Minor and major depression were assessed using a clinical interview. The results indicated that there were no differences in depressive symptoms among the participants in the intervention group, those in the matchedcontrol group, or the unsupported group at 12 months postpartum (20).

Beeber et al. (21) tested the effectiveness of an intervention with participants who were part of an Early Head Start program. A total of 16 participants were randomized into an intervention and a usual care group. All participants included in the study had elevated depressive symptoms, which were assessed using the CESD. The intervention consisted of 8 face-to-face sessions and a booster of weekly telephone sessions delivered by nurses. Depressive symptoms were assessed at baseline, 8 weeks, and 16 weeks in the treatment and control groups. The results demonstrated that the intervention group had significantly lower scores of depressive symptoms at 8 and 16 weeks (21). Depressive symptoms in the control group did not change across time.

A study by Christie et al. (1) investigated the effectiveness of the frequency of home visits using a randomized controlled trial. All participants were primiparous and considered lowrisk. The intervention was delivered by health home visitors and consisted of six home visits delivered between 10 and 14 days to 2 months postpartum. Depressive symptoms were assessed at 2 and 7 months postpartum using the EPDS. The results demonstrated that at 2 months, the intervention group had significantly higher mean depressive symptom scores (p = 0.02), compared to the control group. It was also found that at 7 months there was no significant difference in depressive symptoms between the intervention and control groups.

Cust (22) conducted a pilot study to determine whether peer support would aid in reducing postpartum depressive symptoms. Peers had first-hand experience with a history of mild to moderate postpartum depression but had recovered by the time they delivered the intervention. A total of 30 participants were allocated to the control (n = 15) and intervention groups (n = 15). The intervention consisted of six visits delivered every week. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the EPDS at baseline, after the intervention (or when the child was 3 months), and when the child was 6 months. The results showed that after the intervention, the EPDS scores of the participants in the intervention group were lower than those in the control group. These results were maintained at 6 months (22).

Flemington et al. (23) used a retrospective design to assess the effectiveness of a nurse home visiting program. All participants were high-risk; they had a history of mental illness, or had a drug or alcohol issue, among others. The intervention was delivered from the time the baby was born through 12 months. Maternal depressive symptoms were assessed at enrollment, when the child was 6 weeks, 12 weeks, and 6 months using the EPDS (23). Overall, the results demonstrated that depressive symptoms increased over time.

Another study conducted by Horowitz et al. (24) tested the effectiveness of a behavioral coaching intervention, aimed to improve the mother-child relationship, using a randomized controlled trial. A total of 134 women with elevated depressive symptoms were recruited to participate in the study. Elevated depressive symptoms were assessed at 6 weeks, 3, 6, and 9 months after the baby's birth using the EPDS and the Postpartum Depression Screening Scale (PDSS) (24). The intervention was delivered by nurses and consisted of home visits at 6 weeks, and at 2, 3, 4, 6, and 9 months postpartum. The results demonstrated that although depressive symptoms went down significantly over time, there were no significant differences between the intervention and the control group.

Letourneau et al. (25) assessed the effectiveness of a homebased peer support program among participants who had elevated postpartum depressive symptoms. A total of 33 participants were assigned to the control group and 27 to the intervention group. The intervention consisted of peer support provided over 12 weeks of home visits and contacts over the phone. Peers who delivered the intervention had a history of recovery from postpartum depressive symptoms and received training on providing different types of support. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the EPDS at baseline, 6 weeks and 12 weeks after participants were randomized to the groups (25). The results demonstrated that depressive symptoms were reduced in both the intervention and control groups; however, the intervention effects were not significant.

Milani et al. (26, 27) described the effectiveness of a home visiting program in Iran to address common postpartum issues, including postpartum depression. A total of 92 participants were assigned to the intervention group and 184 to the control group. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the EPDS at 2 months postpartum. The intervention was delivered by midwives and consisted of home visits provided in the first and second weeks postpartum (26, 27). The intervention effects resulted in a lower rate of elevated symptoms among intervention participants (7.6%), compared to those in the control group [19.0%; p < 0.05; (26, 27)].

Nugent et al. (28) randomized 106 postpartum women into an intervention (n = 57) and control (n = 55) group to determine the effectiveness of an intervention to reduce postpartum depressive symptoms. The intervention consisted of routine care at the hospital plus a bedside visit within 2 days postpartum and also a home visit at 1 month postpartum (28). The intervention was delivered by trained psychologists or nurses. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the EPDS at one-month postpartum. The results demonstrated that fewer participants in the intervention group had elevated depressive symptoms (EPDS > 12) compared to the control group. However, the results did not reach statistical significance (p =0.05, CI = [0.02, 1.11]).

Finally, a study conducted by Paris et al. (29) aimed to identify the effectiveness of an intervention to address maternal mood. A total of 25 mostly primipara participants were enrolled in the study. The intervention consisted of 12 to 16 weekly home visits delivered by trained clinicians from mental health disciplines (29). Maternal depressive symptoms were assessed using the Postpartum Depression Screening Scale (PPDS) and the Beck Stress Inventory (BSI) before and after the intervention. The results demonstrated a statistically significant decrease in total postpartum depressive symptoms (p < 0.001). A significant decrease of the BSI ($p \le 0.05$).

Rossiter et al. (30) qualitatively examined the experiences of 111 participants who received home visiting services until their

children turned 1 year. Depressive symptoms were measured using the EPDS (30). Only women with elevated depressive symptoms were included in the intervention. Thematic content analysis identified that the most valued aspects of the home visits included the quality of the home visitors (who were nurses); the consistency and continuity of the home visits; the increased parenting confidence; and the increased understanding and bonding that was created between the parent and the infant. Overall, the participants were satisfied with their participation in the home visiting program.

There were a limited number of studies with qualitative data to report. Cust (22) conducted in-depth interviews with participants from their study's intervention and control groups and found that having the support of a peer made the participants feel understood. Horowitz et al. (24) also assessed qualitative information from their participants and found that participants enjoyed the support provided by the home visits. The participants described that they felt validated and became more aware of their emotions and how these could affect their children.

DISCUSSION

This scoping review describes the summative results of 29 home visiting intervention studies designed to address depression during the perinatal period. This scoping review revealed clear discrepancies between the timing of initiating home visiting and intervention effectiveness for people experiencing depressive symptoms during the perinatal period. Synthesizing the results of these 29 interventions, it is clear that perinatal home visiting programs that begin during pregnancy and continue through the postpartum period report more consistent and favorable outcomes related to reduction in depressive symptoms among childbearing people than home visiting interventions which do not begin until the postpartum period. The discrepancies in the consistency of each intervention included in this scoping review, to a large extent, may be grounded research design factors in which home visiting interventions have been utilized to address perinatal mental health concerns in largely highrisk populations with very limited resources as exemplified in the 12 perinatal studies included in this scoping review. While these studies attempt to achieve health equity and reduce disparities in the burden of perinatal depression among high-risk populations, the research teams often faced additional challenges and barriers that limited the full potential of the intervention. The 17 postpartum studies, however, were derived from both low-risk and high-risk populations. We speculate that the wide range in participants' demographic characteristics might have contributed to the inconsistent predictability of home visiting program outcomes, particularly among the postpartum studies.

Home visiting is one equitable intervention to improve the quality of mental health and access to care for mothers experiencing PPD. Portela et al. (31) note the increasing need to improve interventions aimed to secure positive change in healthcare industries; given most healthcare interventions are complex in nature, require multiple sources of input, and rely upon longitudinal monitoring to understand standards of quality (31). Portela et al. (31) identified four types of improvement intervention studies: effectiveness studies (e.g., quasi-experimental, observational, and systematic review studies), process evaluations, qualitative studies, and economic evaluations. In this scoping review, effectiveness studies represented the majority of data sources, which has somewhat limited our understanding of the holistic efficacy of home visiting programs. Only two qualitative studies presented here aimed to investigate the experiences of mothers receiving home visiting interventions to address depressive symptoms (30, 32) and only three studies (14, 22, 24) employed mixed-methodological approaches. We contend that multiple perspectives of study design would improve the outcome of home visiting interventions necessary to broaden our understanding of how to optimize home visiting programs' design and implementation for various patient populations.

This scoping review has a number of strengths. For example, by searching a 20-year period we found that the number of home visits was not substantially linked to any pattern of improvement in maternal mental health outcomes. This is important for future program decisions to determine the fidelity of the intervention and required number of sessions to improve maternal mental health outcomes. While seven studies derived results using the number of home visits, 17 studies utilized time span, the period between which home visits began and came to an end. Assessing the seven studies which utilized the number of home visits to determine the efficacy of the intervention, it is found that the number of home visits varied greatly with a median number of visits of eight (range 15). In establishing best practice guidelines in the implementation of home visit interventions as a strategy for maternal mental health, the number or duration of visits was not found to be particularly relevant. Despite the strengths, this scoping review is not withstanding limitations. For example, 23 out of 29 studies were based on statistical analyses of quantitative questionnaire where the instruments' reliabilities may vary from population to population. While we recognize the value and feasibility of quantitative measures in clinical settings, sources of quantitative data do pose certain threats to their reliability that researchers must acknowledge. An additional limitation is that the home visiting programs' design and implementations vary greatly from study to study. Such variation has demonstrated the effectiveness of a diverse variety of home visiting programs, with regard to both design and implementation due to clinical feasibility, which nevertheless, could contribute to inconsistent empirical findings.

REFERENCES

- Christie J, Bunting B. The effect of health visitors' postpartum home visit frequency on first-time mothers: cluster randomised trial. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2011) 48:689–702. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2010.10.011
- Chartier MJ, Attawar D, Volk JS, Cooper M, Quddus F, McCarthy JA. Postpartum mental health promotion: perspectives from mothers and home visitors. *Public Health Nurs*. (2015) 32:671–9. doi: 10.1111/phn.12205
- 3. Teeters AR, Ammerman RT, Shenk CE, Goyal NK, Folger AT, Putnam FW, et al. Predictors of maternal depressive symptom trajectories over

CONCLUSION

Home visiting programs are an opportunity to detect and treat women for depression around the time of giving birth in their own environments. The approach of home visiting can reduce a number of barriers to mental health support, such as travel or childcare, for parents with infants. Home visiting programs beginning during pregnancy and extending into the postpartum period appear to have greater impacts; however, the effectiveness of these programs remains mixed. Overall, home visiting programs have tremendous potential to add structural support and achieve health equity at the system level by prioritizing the utilization of social support. Across many studies in this review, higher levels of supportive reassurance and reliable assistance, offered with added social support, are associated with lower levels of perinatal depression and anxiety. These aspects of social support can bolster parents' self-confidence and sense of community, helping them face the uncertainties of new parenthood. Lastly, the majority of studies included in this review were quantitative designs and thus lack the description of the views and experiences of home visitors and their participants. Future studies are needed to gain participants' perspectives of home visiting and factors for participation in home visiting while experiencing perinatal depression.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KT, BB, WHH, and HH designed the search protocol and study questions. KT, BB, and MP independently charted the data from each eligible article and met weekly to continuously update the data-charting form in an iterative process. All authors reviewed the final manuscripts, wrote, and edited the current draft.

FUNDING

L60 MD008481 award to KT from the National Institute of Minority Health Disparities.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.826673/full#supplementary-material

the first 18 months in home visiting. *Am J Orthopsychiat.* (2016) 86:415. doi: 10.1037/ort0000159

- Sampson M, Duron JF, Mauldin RL, Kao D, Davidson M. Postpartum depression, risk factors, and child's home environment among mothers in a home visiting program. J Child Family Stud. (2017) 26:2772– 81. doi: 10.1007/s10826-017-0783-8
- Milgrom J, Hirshler Y, Reece J, Holt C, Gemmill AW. Social support—a protective factor for depressed perinatal women? *Int J Environ Res.* (2019) 16:1426. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1608 1426

- Price SK, Cohen-Filipic K. Daily life or diagnosis? Dual perspectives on perinatal depression within maternal and child health home visiting. *Soc Work Public Health.* (2013) 28:554–65. doi: 10.1080/19371918.2011.59 2087
- Stevens J, Ammerman RT, Putnam FG, Van Ginkel JB. Depression and trauma history in first-time mothers receiving home visitation. J Commun Psychol. (2002) 30:551–64. doi: 10.1002/jcop.10017
- Ammerman RT, Putnam FW, Altaye M, Chen L, Holleb LJ, Stevens J, et al. Changes in depressive symptoms in first time mothers in home visitation. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2009) 33:127–38. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2008. 09.005
- Perry DF, Tandon SD, Edwards K, Mendelson T. Preventing perinatal depression through home visiting: the mothers and babies course. *Zero to Three.* (2014) 34:45–51.
- Brock RL, O'Hara MW, Segre LS. Depression treatment by non-mentalhealth providers: incremental evidence for the effectiveness of listening visits. Am J Community Psychol. (2017) 59:172–83. doi: 10.1002/ajcp. 12129
- 11. Dugravier R, Tubach F, Saias T, Guedeney N, Pasquet B, Purper-Ouakil D, et al. Impact of a manualized multifocal perinatal home-visiting program using psychologists on postnatal depression: the CAPEDP randomized controlled trial. *Plos ONE.* (2013) 8:e72216. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.007 2216
- 12. Hadley B, Rudolph KE, Mogul M, Perry DF. Providing home visiting to highrisk pregnant and postpartum families: The development and evaluation of the MOMobile[®] program. *Zero to Three.* (2014) 35:40–8.
- Navaie-Waliser M, Martin SL, Tessaro I, Campbell MK, Cross AW. Social support and psychological functioning among high-risk mothers: The impact of Baby Love Maternal Outreach Worker Program. *Public Health Nurs*. (2000) 17:280–91. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1446.2000.00280.x
- Price SK, Gray LA, Thacker LR. Enhanced engagement: an intervention pilot for mental health promotion among low-income women in a community home visiting program. *Best Pract Ment Health*. (2015) 11:69–82.
- Samankasikorn W, Pierce B, Ivany AS, Gwon SH, Schminkey D, Bullock L. Effect of home visiting with pregnant teens on maternal health. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs. (2016) 41:162–7. doi: 10.1097/NMC.0000000000 00235
- Tandon SD, Perry DF, Mendelson T, Kemp K, Leis JA. Preventing perinatal depression in low-income home visiting clients: a randomized controlled trial. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2011) 79:707–12. doi: 10.1037/a0024895
- Tandon SD, Leis JA, Mendelson T, Perry DF, Kemp K. Six-month outcomes from a randomized controlled trial to prevent perinatal depression in low-income home visiting clients. *Matern Child Health J.* (2014) 18:873– 81. doi: 10.1007/s10995-013-1313-y
- Armstrong KL, Fraser JA, Dadds MR, Morris J. A randomized, controlled trial of nurse home visiting to vulnerable families with newborns. J Paediatr Child Health. (1999) 35:237–44. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1754.1999.0 0348.x
- Ahn Y-M, Kim M-R. The effects of a home-visiting discharge education on maternal self-esteem, maternal attachment, postpartum depression and family function in the mothers of NICU infants. J Korean Acad Nurs Adm. (2004) 34:1468–76. doi: 10.4040/jkan.2004.34.8.1468
- Barnes J, Senior R, MacPherson K. The utility of volunteer home-visiting support to prevent maternal depression in the first year of life. Child: care, health and development. (2009) 35:807–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.01007.x
- 21. Beeber L, Holditch-Davis D, Belyea M, Funk S, Canuso R. In-home intervention for depressive symptoms with low-income mothers of infants

and toddlers in the United States. *Health Care Women Int.* (2004) 25:561-80. doi: 10.1080/07399330490444830

- 22. Cust F. Peer support for mothers with postnatal depression: a pilot study. *Community Pract.* (2016) 89:38-41.
- Flemington T, Waters D, Fraser JA. Maternal involvement and outcomes in nurse home visiting. J Children's Services. (2015) 10:311–23. doi: 10.1108/JCS-02-2015-0006
- Horowitz JA, Murphy CA, Gregory K, Wojcik J, Pulcini J, Solon L. Nurse home visits improve maternal/infant interaction and decrease severity of postpartum depression. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. (2013) 42:287– 300. doi: 10.1111/1552-6909.12038
- Letourneau N, Stewart M, Dennis CL, Hegadoren K, Duffett-Leger L, Watson B. Effect of home-based peer support on maternal-infant interactions among women with postpartum depression: a randomized, controlled trial. *Int J Ment Health Nurs*. (2011) 20:345–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0349.2010.00736.x
- Milani HS, Amiri P, Mohseny M, Abadi A, Vaziri SM, Vejdani M. Postpartum home care and its effects on mothers' health: a clinical trial. J Res Med Sci. (2017) 22. doi: 10.4103/jrms.JRMS_319_17
- 27. Milani HS, Amiri P, Mohsey M, Monfared ED, Vaziri SM, Malekkhahi A, et al. Effect of health care as the "home visiting" on postpartum depression: a controlled clinical trial. *Int J Prev Med.* (2017) 8:20. doi: 10.4103/2008-7802.204003
- Nugent JK, Bartlett JD, Valim C. Effects of an infant-focused relationshipbased hospital and home visiting intervention on reducing symptoms of postpartum maternal depression: A pilot study. *Infants & Young Children*. (2014) 27:292–304. doi: 10.1097/IYC.000000000000017
- Paris R, Bolton RE, Spielman E. Evaluating a home-based dyadic intervention: Changes in postpartum depression, maternal perceptions, and mother–infant interactions. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2011) 32:319–38. doi: 10.1002/imhj.20299
- Rossiter C, Fowler C, McMahon C, Kowalenko N. Supporting depressed mothers at home: their views on an innovative relationship-based intervention. *Contemp Nurse.* (2012) 41:90– 100. doi: 10.5172/conu.2012.41.1.90
- Portela MC, Pronovost PJ, Woodcock T, Carter P, Dixon-Woods M. How to study improvement interventions: a brief overview of possible study types. *BMJ Qual Saf.* (2015) 24:325–36. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2014-003620
- Taggart AV, Short SD, Barclay L. 'She has made me feel human again': an evaluation of a volunteer home-based visiting project for mothers. *Health Soc Care Community*. (2000) 8:1–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2524.2000.00227.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tabb, Bentley, Pineros Leano, Simonovich, Nidey, Ross, Huang and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Suicidal Ideation Among Brazilian Pregnant Women: A Population-Based Study

Alexandre Faisal-Cury¹, Daniel Maurício Oliveira Rodrigues¹, Alicia Matijasevich¹, Fernanda Tarpinian² and Karen Tabb^{3*}

¹ Departamento de Medicina Preventiva da, Faculdade de Medicina FMUSP, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil, ² Faculdade de Medicina de Jundiaí, Jundiaí, São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ³ University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, United States

Background: Suicide is a leading cause of death during the perinatal period in high-income countries (HIC). There remains a lack of population-based studies about suicidal ideation (SI) during pregnancy among low and middle income countries (LMIC).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nuno Madeira, University of Coimbra, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Suwa Goden Goar, University of Jos, Nigeria Alexis D. Palfreyman, University College London, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Karen Tabb ktabb@illinois.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 18 September 2021 Accepted: 28 February 2022 Published: 22 March 2022

Citation:

Faisal-Cury A, Oliveira Rodrigues DM, Matijasevich A, Tarpinian F and Tabb K (2022) Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Suicidal Ideation Among Brazilian Pregnant Women: A Population-Based Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:779518. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.779518 **Objective(s):** Using the case of Brazil, we aim to estimate the prevalence of SI during pregnancy and its association with antenatal depression (AD) and sociodemographic factors in a LMIC.

Method: We used data from the Brazilian National Survey (PNS-2019), a population-based study, with a complex and probabilistic sampling method. Of the 27,136 women of reproductive age (15 to 49 years old) who participated in the PNS, a total of 769 women reported being pregnant at the time of the interview. All PNS participants answered the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) and a questionnaire with sociodemographic data. SI was defined as any answer to the PHQ-9 item 9 other than 0 (not at all). Logistic regression models were performed to obtain crude and adjusted odds ratios (aOR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for the association between explanatory variables and SI during pregnancy.

Results: Among 769 women, 33 (3.9%, 95% CI: 3.0–5.1%) reported SI during pregnancy. In the adjusted analysis, higher odds of SI were associated with being 20 to 34 years old (aOR:0.24, 95% CI: 0.08–0.74) or 35 to 49 years old (aOR:0.15; 95% CI: 0.04–0.50), having 9 to 11 years of education (aOR 0.23, 95% CI: 0.61–0.86), acheiving the highest family income category (aOR:0.08, 95% CI: 0.01–0.58), not living in the South/Southeast regions of Brazil (aOR:5.52, 95% CI: 2.36–12.9), and having probable mild AD (aOR:10.5 95% CI: 2.3–47.9) or moderate AD (aOR:241.3, 95% CI: 58.4–996.7).

Conclusion(s): In Brazil, SI affects almost 4% of pregnant women and is associated with sociodemographic vulnerability. Clinically, women with mild symptoms of depression may also experience SI during pregnancy. These findings are important for designing effective perinatal mental health interventions in LMICs.

Keywords: antenatal depression, minority ethnic women, prenatal care, screening, suicidal ideation

66

Suicidal Ideation During Pregnancy

INTRODUCTION

Suicide is a leading cause of death during the perinatal period worldwide, and there is much variation among countries (1). In high-income countries suicide accounts for 5% to 20% of maternal deaths (1). In comparison, among low- and middleincome countries the pooled prevalence of pregnancy-related deaths attributed to suicide is 1.7% (2). Suicidal ideation (SI), often a precursor to suicide, commonly called suicidal ideas or thoughts, is a broad term used to describe non-active suicidality including preoccupations, contemplations, or wishes of death. Sometimes SI, combined with suicide plans, attempts, or self-harming such as cutting, is assessed as suicidal behavior. Nevertheless, there is no universally accepted definition of SI, which creates an increased challenge for health providers and researchers. SI with high intent is an important distal predictor of later suicide death (3). A review of SI in people in 17 countries reported that 60% of transitions, from ideation to planning and attempting suicide, occur within the first year after SI onset (4). Another study of suicide, conducted in the US, also found rapid transition from onset of ideation to planning or attempting suicide (5). Accordingly, suicidal ideation is an important and often overlooked possible antecedent for mortality among highrisk populations such as pregnant people.

The reported prevalence of antenatal SI or thoughts has varied widely between studies depending on the SI definition, methods of evaluation, and sample characteristics, and ranges from 5 to 14% of women surveyed (6). In particular, pregnant adolescents (7, 8) and patients with psychiatric disorders are at greater risk of SI during pregnancy (6). A review of 17 studies in high- and low-income countries found a SI prevalence among pregnant and postpartum women ranges from 5 to 18% (9). Studies performed in LMICs such as India and South Africa found a SI prevalence of 7.6 and 18%, respectively (10, 11). There are several risk factors for SI during pregnancy. The characteristics of SI can be individual such as having personal and/or family history of psychiatric disorders and/or history of suicidal attempts, being unmarried, beign of younger age, or experiencing intimate partner violence (11-13). The characteristics of SI can also be related to socioeconomic situations such as living in poverty, having a lack of social support, experiencing social and/or racial inequalities, living in a rural area, having lower educational attainment (11-13). Lastly, characteristics of SI can be obstetric related factors such as unplanned pregnancy, nulliparity, or experiencing a complicated delivery (12-14). Examining risk factors that can be addressed or treated is an important step for suicide prevention.

Depression is one of the most important ameriolable risk factors for SI that can be treated if detected early (5, 9, 15, 16). Antenatal depressive (AD) symptoms have been associated with a 13- to 17-fold increase in odds of SI even after adjusting for covariates (15, 17). Nevertheless, not all women with SI report elevated depressive symptoms. For example, Zhong et al. (18) ADDIN EN.CITE (18) evaluated SI among 1,519 pregnant women attending prenatal care clinics in Lima, Peru, and found that 49% of participants who screened positive for SI screened negative for depressive symptoms. Moreover, participants with low scores for probable depression according to the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) still endorsed SI. Despite the fact that depressive symptoms are highly associated with SI, only a portion of pregnant women presenting SI experience the co-occurrence of depression. Garman et al. (19) assessed depressive symptoms and suicidality among 384 pregnant women in South Africa and concluded that depression and suicide are overlapping but independent phenomena, especially among older and more chronically depressed perinatal women. These findings highlight the importance of paying special attention to SI during pregnancy and suggest that SI screening should be recommended for pregnant women both with and without depression (9). The frequent contact between pregnant women and providers makes prenatal appointments a unique opportunity for the diagnosis and intervention of this serious public health problem. The primary aim of the present study was to estimate the prevalence of SI among a population-based sample of pregnant women in Brazil, and the secondary aim was to assess any association between AD and sociodemographic risk factors with SI during pregnancy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design and Sample

The present study is a secondary analysis from the Brazilian National Health Survey (PNS- 2019), which was carried out from August 2019 to March 2020. Authors from the current study were not involved in the original data creation. PNS-2019 uses a multistage clustered sample. The expected sample size was 108,255 households, considering a 20% non-response rate, this number guaranteed a statistical power of 80%, and thus a sufficient estimate of health indicators. Data collection was performed through interviews conducted by trained field workers using a questionnaire format with a mobile data collection device. Further details of PNS-2019 are available elsewhere (20). The questionnaire solicited three types of information, which covered (i) characteristics of the household; (ii) all residents of the household, focusing on socioeconomic and health information; and (iii) the selected resident for whom lifestyle, chronic disease, violence, sexual behavior, and infectious diseases were investigated. For our analyses, we selected 27,249 women of reproductive age (15-49 years old) with 769 reporting being pregnant at the time of the interview (Figure 1).

Main Outcome (Suicidal Ideation)

Suicidal ideation during pregnancy was assessed using item 9 from the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). The PHQ-9 is a version of the PRIME-MD diagnostic instrument for common mental disorders (namely depression and anxiety). The PHQ-9 is the depression module, which scores each of the 9 DSM-IV criteria (20). The presence and intensity of each of the 9 items in the 2 weeks preceding the interview was determined. PNS-2019 did not provide information about trimesters or gestational period. The scores range from 0 ("not once") to 3 ("almost every day"), and the total score can range from 0 to 27. Regarding PHQ-9 item 9 ("Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself in some way"), there are four possible answers:



0 (not at all); 1 (several days); 2 (more than half the days); and 3 (nearly every day). Suicidal ideation was defined exclusively as any answer other than 0 (not at all). The PHQ-9 was validated in Brazil using a structured interview based on the DSM-IV (the gold standard) and can differentiate between probable cases and non-cases of depression (21). The specificity of the PHQ-9 suicide screening item was found to be 0.84 and the sensitivity 0.69 in a previous study (22). The reliability coefficient, Cronbach's alpha, for the PHQ-9 total score was 0.84 (23). The PHQ-9 was also used for classification of AD. We used three categories of probable depression: no depression (score <5), mild depression (score 5–9), and moderate depression (score >9). A PHQ-9 score >9 had a sensitivity of 88 and a specificity of 88% for major depression (24).

Covariates

On the basis of the PNS-2019 questionnaire data, the following sociodemographic factors were assessed: participant's age (15–19, 20–34, 35–49 years of age); self-reported skin color (non-White or White); partner status (yes or no); place of residence (urban or rural); schooling in years (0–8, 9–11, >11); country region according to economic development (more developed: South/Southeast or less developed: North/Northeast/Midwest); having a private medical plan (no or yes); and family monthly per capita income according to the Brazilian minimum wage (\$1 minimum wage = USD242.20) (0-½; ½-1; >1). Family monthly income per capita was estimated by dividing family income by the number of persons living in the household. Self-perception of health status was also collected and was classified as very good/good, regular, or poor/very poor.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive analysis was performed. All variables were categorized. Logistic regression models were performed to obtain crude and adjusted odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the association between explanatory variables and SI. Aiming to control the possible effects of confounders, we examined the associated factors on SI using a stepwise backward procedure where, first, all exposure variables that had *p*-values ≤ 0.20 in the bivariate analysis were entered simultaneously into the model, and then those with *p*-values > 0.05 were progressively withdrawn from the model, until only those with *p*-values < 0.05 were kept in a final model. Statistical analysis was performed using STATA 16 software. All analyses were performed considering the weighting for the complex sample structure, in order to represent the Brazilian population, according to the research sample (SVY command in STATA).

Ethical Approval

The Brazilian National Survey of Health (PNS-2019) was approved by the National Health Ethics Committee (process 3.529.376) in August 2019. Participation was voluntary and participants signed a consent form. The questionnaire could be completed in whole or in part. The PNS dataset is publicly available on the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics website without information that could identify individuals.

RESULTS

Of the 27,249 women of reproductive age (15 to 49 years old) in the PNS-2019 data set, we excluded 113 women with uncertain pregnancy status and 26,367 non-pregnant women, leaving a total of 769 pregnant women for the present analysis (**Figure 1**).

Of the 769 pregnant women included in the present analysis, 36.1% were White, 79.1% lived with a partner, 55.2% lived in the South/Southeast regions of the country, and 44.5% were between

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of suicidal ideation among pregnant women in the Brazilian National Survey of Health, 2019.

Variable	N	Prevalence %	N	Suicidal Ideation %	
		(95% CI)**		(95% CI)**	P level*
Age (mean years)					0.001
15–19	88	10.0 (9.2–10.8)	6	8.6 (5.9–12.3)	
20–34	529	45.5 (42.4-48.5)	20	3.1 (1.7–5.6)	
35–49	152	44.5 (41.5–47.4)	7	3.7 (2.6 – 5.2)	
Race/color					0.49
White	226	36.1 (30.2-42.4)	7	4.4 (3.0-6.4)	
Other	543	63.9 (57.5–69.7)	26	3.6 (2.4–5.4)	
Schooling					< 0.001
0–8 years	244	32.5 (26.2-39.4)	18	8.9 (6.2-12.8)	
9–11	357	41.7 (35.3–48.4)	13	2.3 (1.2-4.1)	
>11	168	25.7 (23.1–28.5)	2	0.2 (0.07–0.8)	
Monthly income per capita (minimum wage – Reais)					0.001
Jp to ½	320	31.5 (27.4–35.8)	22	8.2 (6.0-10.9)	
/2	212	28.3 (23.4–33.9)	8	4.0 (2.0-7.7)	
o 1					
> 1	236	40.1 (35.8–44.6)	3	0.6 (0.1–0.6)	
ives with partner					< 0.001
fes	593	79.1 (76.0- 81.9)	21	2.3 (1.4–3.6)	
٨o	176	20.9 (18.0- 23.9)	12	10.1 (7.0–14.2)	
Jrban area					0.86
fes	580	84.1 (81.0-86.7)	23	3.9 (2.8–5.3)	
No (rural)	189	15.9 (13.2–18.9)	10	4.1 (2.2–7.7)	
Country region					0.003
South/Southeast	218	55.2 (4960.9)	6	2.1 (1.0-4.2)	
Other	551	44.8 (39.0–50.7)	27	6.4 (5.0-8.1)	
Private health insurance					0.03
No	619	74.2 (70.1–77.8)	31	5.0 (3.8–6.6)	
Yes	150	25.8 (22.1–29.9)	2	0.8 (0.1-4.3)	
Perception of health status					0.02
Very good/good	601	74.2 (70.7–77.3)	18	2.5 (1.6–3.9)	
Regular	157	24.9 (21.7–28.2)	14	7.5 (5.4–10.2)	
Poor/very poor	11	0.9 (0.4–1.6)	1	23.4 (3.8–70.0)	
Antenatal depression (PHQ-9 score)					<0.001
)-4	480	58.6 (53.7–63.3)	4	0.2 (0.07-0.62)	
5–9	186	20.3 (16.9–24.1)	9	2.2 (1.0–4.8)	
10-max	103	21.1 (16.4–26.6)	20	16.0 (11.3–22.1)	

*P level < 0.05 (bold) entered into the multivariate analysis.

**Estimated with Stata svy command (to take into account the sample weighting).

35 and 49 years old. Approximately a quarter of participants (25.8%) had private health insurance, and 40.1% reported a monthly income per capita of more than \$1 minimum wage. (Minimum wage in Brazil is the lowest monthly payment for an employee permitted by law. MW = R\$ 1.000,00 which was equivalent to \$USD250.) These socioeconomic and demographic data are representative of the Brazilian population. Almost three-quarters of participants reported having a very good or good health status (**Table 1**). The range of the PHQ-9 scores was 0 to 24, the mean score for the PHQ-9 was 4.2 (95% CI: 3.9–4.5),

and the mean score for PHQ-9 item 9 was 0.06 (95% CI: 0.03– 0.08, range 0 to 3). In relation to AD, 58.6% had a score below 5 (no depression) while 21.1% scored 10 or more (moderate depression). The prevalence of SI was 3.9% (95% CI: 3.0–5.1), including the 33 pregnant women in the sample that reported SI. The proportion of women with SI varied according to the PHQ-9 score: among the 480 non-depressed participants (score <5), the proportion of pregnant women with SI was 0.1% (95% CI: 0.05–0.48); among the 186 pregnant women with mild depression (score 5–9), the proportion of SI was 2.6% (95% CI: 1.5–4.4), TABLE 2 Associations between suicidal ideation, sociodemographic factors, and obstetric risk factors in the Brazilian National Survey of Health, 2019.

Variables	Suicidal	Ideation		
	Crude	P level	Adjusted *	P level
	OR (95% CI)		OR (95% CI)	
Age (years)		0.001		0.013
15/19	1			
20/34	0.34 (0.16-0.70)		0.24 (0.08-0.74)	
35/49	0.41 (0.24–0.70)		0.15 (0.04-0.50)	
Race/color		0.49		
White	1			
Dther	0.81 (0.44-1.46)			
Schooling		< 0.001		0.03
0–8 years	1		1	
- 	0.24 (0.11-0.52)		0.23 (0.61–0.86)	
>11	0.02 (0.007-0.09)		0.15 (0.02–1.17)	
Monthly income per capita minimum wage – Reais)		0.001		0.013
Jp to ½	1		1	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.46 (0.21-1.01)		0.46 (0.15-1.41)	
o 1	· · ·			
> 1	0.06 (0.13–0.31)		0.08 (0.01–0.58)	
_ive with partner		< 0.001		
/es	1			
lo	4.73 (2.56–8.72)			
Jrban area		0.86		
⁄es	1			
No (rural)	1.06 (0.51–2.23)			
Country region		0.003		<0.001
South/Southeast	1		1	
Dther	3.13 (1.48–6.58)		5.52 (2.36–12.9)	
Private health insurance		0.03		
No	1			
/es	0.15 (0.02–0.88)			
Perception of health status		0.02		
/ery good/good	1			
Regular	3.13 (1.78–5.51)			
Poor/Very poor	11.7 (1.47–94.1)			
Antenatal depression (PHQ-9 score)		<0.001		<0.001
)/4	1		1	
5/9	10.8 (2.72: 42.9)		10.5 (2.3–47.9)	
10/max	89.4 (27.8–287.0)		241.3 (58.4–996.7)	

*Adjusted by mother's age, schooling, country region, and antenatal depression.

and among the 103 pregnant women with moderate depression (score >9), the proportion of women with SI was 17.5% (95% CI: 13.9–21.9).

A higher frequency of SI was found among pregnant women who were 15 to 19 years old (8.6%), with less then 8 years of education (8.9%), among the poorest (8.2%), not living with a partner (10.1%), not living in the South/Southeast regions (6.4%), and without private health insurance (5.0%). Additionally, a higher frequency of SI was seen among participants who reported a poor/very poor health status (23.4%) and moderate depression (16.0%) (**Table 2**).

In the bivariate analysis, the following variables were associated with an increased risk of SI: not having a partner (OR = 4.73; 95% CI: 2.56–8.72), not living in the South/Southeast regions (OR = 3.13; 95% CI: 1.48–6.58), reporting a regular health status (OR = 3.13; 95% CI: 1.78–5.51) or a poor/very poor health status (OR = 11.7; 95% CI: 1.47-94.1), and having mild (OR = 10.8; 95% CI: 2.72–42.9) or moderate AD (OR = 89.4; 95%

CI: 27.8–287.0). The following variables were associated with a decreased risk of SI: being 20 to 34 years old (OR = 0.34; 95% CI: 0.16–0.70) or 35 to 49 years old (OR = 0.41; 95% CI: 0.24–0.70), having 9 to 11 years of schooling (OR = 0.24; 95% CI: 0.11–0.52) or > 11 years of schooling (OR = 0.02; 95% CI: 0.007–0.09), and having the achieved the highest family income category (OR = 0.06; 95% CI: 0.13–0.31) (**Table 2**).

In the adjusted analysis, women had lower odds of SI if they were 20 to 34 years old (adjusted OR = 0.24; 95% CI: 0.08–0.74) or 35 to 49 years old (adjusted OR = 0.15; 95% CI: 0.04–0.50), had 9 to 11 years of schooling (adjusted OR = 0.23, 95% CI: 0.061–0.86), and had achieved the highest family income category (adjusted OR = 0.08; 95% CI: 0.01–0.58). In contrast, pregnant women had higher odds of SI if they did not live in the South/Southeast regions (adjusted OR = 5.52; 95% CI: 2.36–12.9) or had probable mild AD (adjusted OR = 10.5; 95% CI: 2.3-47.9) or probable moderate AD (adjusted OR = 241.3; 95% CI: 58.4–996.7) (**Table 2**).

DISCUSSION

The results of our study of a nationally representative sample of women of reproductive age may have public health implications to reduce the burden of SI during pregnancy in LMICs. This study found that SI is prevalent (3.9%) and is strongly associated with depression scores during pregnancy in Brazil. The risk of SI during pregnancy increased in tandem with elevated scores for depression on the PHQ-9. Nevertheless, 0.1% of pregnant women without depression and 2.6% of pregnant women with mild depression also reported SI. Therefore, screening for SI is recommended for pregnant women both with and without depression. Even though there is no commonly used screening tool for SI, a recent study found that screening for multiple psychosocial vulnerabilities can be effective (25). An early identification of SI with screening tools (such as the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale [EPDS] and PHQ-9) should be followed by an appropriate psychiatric assessment. Pregnancy an opportune time to screen for SI as well as depression given the frequent and close contact between women and health providers during antenatal appointments. Further psychological assessments and psychiatric referral would be applied to pregnant women who screened positive for SI. Unfortunately, we believe that factors associated with lower perinatal depression screening by health care providers-such as insufficient training, lack of time during prenatal appointments, competing demands, and difficulties referring the more complex cases (26)-are also obstacles for suicidal ideation screening. Future studies should develop new strategies to assess suicide risk focusing on identifying the risk factors and protective factors for any given individual. At institutional level, public policies should prioritize a more comprehensive assessment of women's psychosocial vulnerabilities in pregnancy, tackling the limited resources of the health system and different levels of barriers to antenatal care (27).

Our findings from Brazil, a LMIC, align with previous studies on the prevalence of SI in high-income countries. For example,

a number of investigations in the US have aimed to estimate SI using different methodologies. Gavin et al. (28) studied 2,159 women receiving prenatal care at a university obstetric clinic to identify the prevalence of and factors associated with antenatal SI as measured by the PHQ-9. Overall, 2.7% of the sample reported antenatal SI. Tabb et al. (17) used EPDS and found a prevalence of SI of 4.6% among a sample of 736 low-income US pregnant women. Kim et al. (29) evaluated 22,118 pregnant women from two US hospital of suburban integrated health systems with the EPDS and found an overall prevalence of SI of 3.8% during the perinatal period (4.1% antepartum and 3.5% postpartum). They also also reported that most women with SI were not acutely suicidal according to structured phone interviews performed by trained mental health professionals. All of these estimates are lower than the finding in a study performed in Lima, Peru. Zhong et al. (18) performed a cross-sectional study with 1,517 pregnant women who were assessed for SI using two screening tools: PHQ-9 item 9 and EPDS item 10. They found that 15.8 and 8.8% of participants screened positive for SI with the PHQ-9 and the EPDS, respectively. Of note, both the EPDS and the PHQ-9 are valid tools for assessing depressive symptoms but are not designed to evaluate the full spectrum of suicidality (plans, behaviors, or actions). A limitation of the EPDS is that the scale cannot assume suicidal intent (25).

The SI prevalence found in the present study is similar to both gravid and non-gradid populations in Brazil. For instance, our study is near the results found in a Brazilian prospective study with adults that described the pattern of comorbidity between mental disorders and their association with suicidality (30). In 1982, all hospital deliveries in Pelotas (Southern Brazil) were identified (n = 5914) and newborns were followed prospectively. The presence of common mental disorders at the ages of 18-19, 23, and 30 years were evaluated. In 2012-13 (30 years of age), trained psychologists evaluated 3,657 individuals for disorders using the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview finding a prevalence of suicidal ideation of 4.9%. Our SI prevalence rate is even higher than the one observerd in a large cross-sectional of Brazilian civil servants (ELSA-Brasil, the Brazilian Health Longitudinal Study, n = 15,105). They found that 101 (0.67%) participants presented suicidal thoughts in the 7 days prior to the interview (31). The sample size sociodemographic profile and method of SI assessment may explain the lower rates found in this study in comparions with our results.

Our findings also reaffirm some cross-sectional studies in Brazil also have assessed SI. Huang et al. (16) used the Self-Report Questionnaire 20 (SRQ-20) to evaluate 831 low-income women at 20 to 30 weeks of pregnancy. The prevalence of SI was 6.3%. In comparison with our results, the use of SRQ and the use of a convenience sample from public antenantal care clinics may contribute to a slightly higher prevalence of SI. Da Silva et al. (32) ADDIN EN.CITE evaluated SI during pregnancy among women who had attended public health services between 2006 and 2008 with the question 10 from EPDS. They found that 8.1% of pregnant women reported SI from item 10 of the EPDS (32). Our population-based sample included pregnant women from public and private health services, and lower prevalence of depression and SI is expected among women from
the private sector in previous studies. Some of the mechanisms related to lower prevalence of untreated depression captured on screens is from the greater access to mental health care through private insurance for those with higher socioeconomic status. In contrast, Pinheiro et al. (33) evaluated 871 pregnant teenagers receiving prenatal care from the national public health system. They assessed suicidal behavior (and psychiatric disorders) using the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview and found a 13.3% prevalence of some form of suicide risk behavior. Possible explantions for higher rates of suicidal behavior in their study are the lower socioeconomic characteristics of the sample and the higher frequency of lifetime history of emotional or physical abuse. The same instrument was used to assess current suicide risk among 225 pregnant women. It found that lifetime suicide attempt rate was 12.55% (34). It is possible that some of the variation in rates in related to the type of scales used.

The large variation in SI seen among studies may be explained by the different methodologies used, including the use of a single item from a depression screening tool and the characteristics of the sample populations. Higher rates of SI are expected among women who report antenatal treatment for neuropsychiatric, epileptic, or mental health conditions (6, 35); who report illicit drug use (36); or who present specific risk factors such as intimate partner violence (15). Finally, pregnant women with lower socioeconomic status experience higher the risk of SI (35). Despite wide variations in past studies, our study confirms the importance of examining a number of psychosocial factors to detect risks for SI.

In the present study we found that younger women experience an increased risk of SI. This is consistent with studies from the US (13), (17) and Brazil (32). Moreover, a UK study evaluated 4,785 women aged 16 to 50 years who died by suicide (2% of whom were in the perinatal period) and found that compared to non-perinatal women, women who died by suicide in the perinatal period were more likely to be younger (37). Younger age also has been associated with SI in studies among the general population. Nock et al. (4) assessed 17 countries to estimate the cross-national lifetime prevalence of SI and reported that age is inversely related to risk for each suicidal behavior, while Borges et al. (38) used data from adults in 21 countries (N = 108,705) interviewed with the WHO Composite International Diagnostic Interview to report that younger age is a predictor of suicide attempt. Physical abuse and unplanned pregnancy, which are factors commonly associated with pregnancy during adolescence in Brazil (8, 39), may explain the higher risk of SI among younger women. Additionally, it has been shown that younger women and women who are members of racial/ethnic minority groups are the least likely to receive a diagnosis of depression (40), the most important predictor of SI.

In the present study of a national sample, race/skin color was not associated with SI in the bivariate analysis. This is not an unexpected finding considering that results of published studies from high-income countries have been inconsistent. Some US studies reported a higher risk of suicide attempt among non-Hispanic Whites in comparison with other ethnic groups, while other studies could not find any significant association between race/ethnicity and suicide ideation or attempts (41). In Brazil, a population-based study with 1,295 individuals (18 years or more), living in a Southern city, collected suicidal thoughts using item 9 from the PHQ-9. They did not find a significant association betweem suicidal thoughts (6.6% of participants) and race (42). Because of sample size limitations, this study was unable to examine the many categories by skin color and this could be an area for future research. In the future studies could explore the experience of SI during pregnancy and if skin color or region shapes the experiences of the individuals.

We also found an association between fewer years of schooling and lower family income with SI. These findings have been shown in several studies among pregnant (8, 15, 32, 43) and non-pregnant women in the general population (31, 44, 45). Two studies reported that fewer years of schooling almost tripled the risk of SI during pregnancy (32, 46). Social disadvantage is associated with less access to health care and higher risk of psychiatric conditions, which are related to suicidal behavior. Access to mental health care is one important structural barrier. In South/Southern regions of the country, there is greater availability of mental health care in comparison with other less developed regions. One example is the higher number of psychiatrists in the Southern states (4.55 psychiatrists per 100,000 inhabitants) than in the Northern states (>1 psychiatrist per 100,000 inhabitants). Attaining higher education may help women identify resources to mental health care and improve their outcomes (13).

Our data confirmed results from several studies that have depicted the importance of AD as one of the highest risk factors for SI (8, 13, 15-17, 35, 47). Moreover, the higher the score for depression, the higher the risk for SI. As a matter of fact, other comorbid psychiatric disorders, such as anxiety, panic, substance use, and post-traumatic stress, have been associated with SI (35). Nevertheless, our data also revealed that a small proportion of women without depression or with mild depression reported SI. A similar finding has been reported in different studies. Zhong et al. found that 49% of pregnant women with SI had no depression, with a score of 10 or lower on the PHQ-9. They also found that some participants with a lower PHQ-9 score (>6) still endorsed SI (18). Tabb et al. found that among a sample of lowincome pregnant women with SI, 35% did not meet the criteria for elevated depressive symptoms (17). Overall, our results are consistent with data from a study of the general population in Brazil that showed that the prevalence of suicidal thinking is low among mentally healthy individuals and is higher in persons with psychiatric disorders, suggesting that SI is an indirect marker of mental disorders (31).

Screening universally for SI is one approach to detect SI during pregnancy in LMICs. There is a new approach for SI screening recently developed in Sri Lanka. Palfreyman (25) screened 1,000 antenatal women from all trimesters of pregnancy in 2016 using a novel three-part instrument that included the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, a modified Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale, and Life Circumstances questionnaire. Palfreyman found that one in four women reported a lifetime history of suicidal ideation and/or behaviors (SIB), while SIB during the current pregnancy was reported at 7.4% (25). A higher prevalence found in this study in comparison with our results could be explained by a higher frequency of intimate partner violence and a higher prevalence of depressive symptomology (~one in every three women). Other cultural aspects such as intimate partner violence and child/teen marriage may also play a role.

Strengths and Limitations

Our study has several strengths. The data in our study were derived from a large population-based research survey that used a complex sampling method that included pregnant women from all socioeconomic statuses. Therefore, generalizability of our findings can be inferred. Moreover, the sampling method allowed the inclusion of populations at high risk for suicidality, such as women with mental disorders. The eventual exclusion of this group of women could contribute to lower prevalence of SI. Moreover, SI screening was assessed among all participants, including those with and those without depression.

Our study also has some limitations. First, the cross-sectional design did not allow us to establish temporal causality. Second, depression was evaluated with the PHQ-9 total score, while self-harming ideation was assessed with a single item from the same instrument. A single question may have different meanings for pregnant women (48). Psychiatric evaluation with the use of structured diagnostic criteria and assessments of other dimensions of suicidality would be very helpful. For example, item 9 of the PHQ-9 does not contain information on intensity or duration of SI, thus preventing a clear understanding of the severity of the suicidality. The PHQ-9 was not originally designed to evaluate risk of suicide (20). Moreover, item 9 from PHQ-9 cannot assess intention, which is a critical element of suicidal behavior and an affirmative answer in this item does not imply an imminent risk of suicide (49). Even though SI reported on the PHQ-9 was found to be a robust predictor of suicide attempts and deaths (50), item 9 covers only non-specific intent of death and self-harm. Nevertheless, the use of the PHQ-9 to measure depressive symptoms instead of depressive disorders, as well as SI, could be justified in population-based studies such as PNS-2019. Third, we also cannot rule out recall bias while using self-reporting to evaluate SI and depression. Therefore, one may expect that the true estimates of SI could be even higher. Finally, we did not assess data about covariates such as interpersonal violence, pregnancy planning, substance abuse, and more specific aspects of partner relationship variables that are commonly associated with SI. These variables may be closed

REFERENCES

- Grigoriadis S, Wilton AS, Kurdyak PA, Rhodes AE, VonderPorten EH, Levitt A, et al. Perinatal suicide in Ontario, Canada: a 15-year population-based study. CMAJ. (2017) 189:E1085–92. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.170088
- Fuhr DC, Calvert C, Ronsmans C, Chandra PS, Sikander S, De Silva MJ, et al. Contribution of suicide and injuries to pregnancy-related mortality in lowincome and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2014) 1:213–25. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)b70282-2

related to pregnant women's suicidal risk and should be assessed in future studies.

CONCLUSIONS

Findings from our study showed that SI is common among 4% of Brazilian pregnant women. We found SI is associated with antenatal depression and a vulnerable psychosocial profile that includes lower socioeconomic status, lower amount of education, and pregnancy during adolescence. SI was also reported among a small group of pregnant women without depression or with mild depression, which is important for clinical approaches to detect SI during pregnancy.

From this national-derived sample, we confirmed findings from clinical samples, although at a lower prevalence, confirming SI is a common problem during pregnancy. In conclusion SI is strongly associated with depression and a vulnerable psychosocial profile in a LMIC and this should serve as a call to action. The correct identification of these risk factors through the use of screening practices may help us to develop preventive strategies for pregnant women at higher risk of SI during pregnancy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: The Brazilian National Survey of Health (PNS-2019) was approved by the National Health Ethics Committee (process n° 3.529.376) in August 2019. Participation was voluntary and participants signed a consent form. The questionnaire could be completed in whole or in part. The PNS dataset is publicly available on the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics website without information that could identify individuals. Further enquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

- Joiner TE, Rudd MD, Rouleau MR, Wagner KD. Parameters of suicidal crises vary as a function of previous suicide attempts in youth inpatients. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2000) 39:876–80. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200007000-00016
- Nock MK, Borges G, Bromet EJ, Alonso J, Angermeyer M, Beautrais A, et al. Cross-national prevalence and risk factors for suicidal ideation, plans, and attempts. Br J Psychiatry. (2008) 192:98–105. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.040113
- 5. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Borges G, Nock M, Wang PS. Trends in suicide ideation, plans, gestures, and attempts in the United States,

1990–1992 to 2001–2003. *JAMA*. (2005) 293:2487–95. doi: 10.1001/jama.293. 20.2487

- Newport DJ, Levey LC, Pennell PB, Ragan K, Stowe ZN. Suicidal ideation in pregnancy: assessment and clinical implications. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2007) 10:181–7. doi: 10.1007/s00737-007-0192-x
- Freitas GV, Botega NJ. Prevalence of depression, anxiety and suicide ideation in pregnant adolescents. *Rev Assoc Med Bras* 1992. (2002) 48:245– 9. doi: 10.1590/S0104-42302002000300039
- Coelho FM, Pinheiro RT, Silva RA, de Ávila Quevedo L, de Mattos Souza LD, de Matos MB, et al. Parental bonding and suicidality in pregnant teenagers: a population-based study in southern Brazil. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2014) 49:1241–8. doi: 10.1007/s00127-014-0832-1
- Lindahl V, Pearson JL, Colpe L. Prevalence of suicidality during pregnancy and the postpartum. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2005) 8:77–87. doi: 10.1007/s00737-005-0080-1
- Onah MN, Field S, Bantjes J, Honikman S. Perinatal suicidal ideation and behaviour: psychiatry and adversity. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2017) 20:321–31. doi: 10.1007/s00737-016-0706-5
- Supraja TA, Thennarasu K, Satyanarayana VA, Seena TK, Desai G, Jangam KV, et al. Suicidality in early pregnancy among antepartum mothers in urban India. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2016) 19:1101– 8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-016-0660-2
- Orsolini L, Valchera A, Vecchiotti R, Tomasetti C, Iasevoli F, Fornaro M, et al. Suicide during perinatal period: epidemiology, risk factors, and clinical correlates. *Front Psychiatry*. (2016) 7:138. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00138
- Kitsantas P, Aljoudi SM, Adams AR, Booth EJ. Prevalence and correlates of suicidal behaviors during pregnancy: evidence from the national survey on drug use and health. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2021) 24:473– 81. doi: 10.1007/s00737-020-01089-x
- Kubota C, Inada T, Shiino T, Ando M, Sato M, Nakamura Y, et al. The risk factors predicting suicidal ideation among perinatal women in Japan. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:441. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00441
- Alhusen JL, Frohman N, Purcell G. Intimate partner violence and suicidal ideation in pregnant women. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2015) 18:573– 8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-015-0515-2
- Huang H, Faisal-Cury A, Chan Y-F, Tabb K, Katon W, Menezes PR. Suicidal ideation during pregnancy: prevalence and associated factors among lowincome women in São Paulo, Brazil. Arch Womens Mental Health. (2012) 15:135–8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-012-0263-5
- Tabb KM, Gavin AR, Faisal-Cury A, Nidey N, Chan YF, Malinga T, et al. Prevalence of antenatal suicidal ideation among racially and ethnically diverse WIC enrolled women receiving care in a Midwestern public health clinic. J Affect Disord. (2019) 256:278–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.06.012
- Zhong QY, Gelaye B, Rondon MB, Sánchez SE, Simon GE, Henderson DC, et al. Using the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) and the edinburgh postnatal depression scale (EPDS) to assess suicidal ideation among pregnant women in Lima, Peru. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2015) 18:783–92. doi: 10.1007/s00737-014-0481-0
- Garman EC, Cois A, Schneider M, Lund C. Association between perinatal depressive symptoms and suicidal risk among low-income South African women: a longitudinal study. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2019) 54:1219–30. doi: 10.1007/s00127-019-01730-w
- Stopa SR, Szwarcwald CL, Oliveira MM, Gouvea ECDP, Vieira MLFP, Freitas MPS, et al. National health survey 2019: history, methods, and perspectives. *Epidemiol Serv Saude*. (2020) 29:e2020315. doi: 10.1590/s1679-49742020000500004
- de Lima Osório F, Vilela Mendes A, Crippa JA, Loureiro SR. Study of the discriminative validity of the PHQ-9 and PHQ-2 in a sample of Brazilian women in the context of primary health care. *Perspect Psychiatr Care*. (2009) 45:216–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6163.2009.00224.x
- Uebelacker LA, German NM, Gaudiano BA, Miller IW. Patient health questionnaire depression scale as a suicide screening instrument in depressed primary care patients: a cross-sectional study. *Prim Care Companion CNS Disord*. (2011) 13:1027. doi: 10.4088/PCC.10m01027
- Woldetensay YK, Belachew T, Tesfaye M, Spielman K, Biesalski HK, Kantelhardt EJ, et al. Validation of the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) as a screening tool for depression in pregnant women: Afaan Oromo version. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0191782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191782

- Santos IS, Tavares BF, Munhoz TN, Almeida LS, Silva NT, Tams BD, et al. Sensitivity and specificity of the patient health questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) among adults from the general population. *Cad Saude Publica*. (2013) 29:1533-43. doi: 10.1590/S0102-311X2013001200006
- Palfreyman A. Addressing psychosocial vulnerabilities through antenatal care-depression, suicidal ideation, and behavior: a study among urban Sri Lankan women. Front Psychiatry. (2021) 12:554808. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.554808
- Flanagan T, Avalos LA. Perinatal obstetric office depression screening and treatment: implementation in a health care system. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2016) 127:911–5. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000001395
- Lattof SR, Tunçalp Ö, Moran AC, Bucagu M, Chou D, Diaz T, et al. Developing measures for WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience: a conceptual framework and scoping review. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e024130. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024130
- Gavin AR, Tabb KM, Melville JL, Guo Y, Katon W. Prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation during pregnancy. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2011) 14:239–46. doi: 10.1007/s00737-011-0207-5
- Kim JJ, La Porte LM, Saleh MP, Allweiss S, Adams MG, Zhou Y, et al. Suicide risk among perinatal women who report thoughts of self-harm on depression screens. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2015) 125:885–93. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000000718
- Quevedo LA, Loret de. Mola C, Pearson R, Murray J, Hartwig FP, Gonçalves H, et al. Mental disorders, comorbidities, and suicidality at 30 years of age in a Brazilian birth cohort. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2020) 102:152194. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2020.152194
- Brunoni AR, Nunes MA, Lotufo PA, Benseñor IM. Acute suicidal ideation in middle-aged adults from Brazil. Results from the baseline data of the Brazilian longitudinal study of adult health (ELSA-Brasil). *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 225:556–62. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.11.047
- 32. da Silva RA, da Costa Ores L, Jansen K, da Silva Moraes IG, de Mattos Souza LD, Magalhães P, et al. Suicidality and associated factors in pregnant women in Brazil. *Community Ment Health J.* (2012) 48:392– 5. doi: 10.1007/s10597-012-9495-0
- 33. Pinheiro RT, da Cunha Coelho FM, da Silva RA, de Ávila Quevedo L, de Mattos Souza LD, Castelli RD, et al. Suicidal behavior in pregnant teenagers in southern Brazil: social, obstetric and psychiatric correlates. J Affect Disord. (2012) 136:520–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.10.037
- 34. Castro e Couto T, Brancaglion MY, Cardoso MN, Faria GC, Garcia FD, Nicolato R, et al. Suicidality among pregnant women in Brazil: prevalence and risk factors. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2016) 19:343–8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-015-0552-x
- Gelaye B, Rondon MB, Araya R, Williams MA. Epidemiology of maternal depression, risk factors, and child outcomes in lowincome and middle-income countries. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:973–82. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30284-X
- Eggleston AM, Calhoun PS, Svikis DS, Tuten M, Chisolm MS, Jones HE. Suicidality, aggression, and other treatment considerations among pregnant, substance-dependent women with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2009) 50:415–23. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2008.11.004
- 37. Khalifeh H, Hunt IM, Appleby L, Howard LM. Suicide in perinatal and non-perinatal women in contact with psychiatric services: 15 year findings from a UK national inquiry. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2016) 3:233– 42. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)00003-1
- Borges G, Nock MK, Haro Abad JM, Hwang I, Sampson NA, Alonso J, et al. 12-month prevalence of and risk factors for suicide attempts in the world health organization world mental health surveys. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2010) 71:1617–28. doi: 10.4088/JCP.08m04967blu
- Faisal-Cury A, Tabb KM, Niciunovas G, Cunningham C, Menezes PR, Huang H. Lower education among low-income Brazilian adolescent females is associated with planned pregnancies. *Int J Womens Health.* (2017) 9:43– 8. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S118911
- Ko JY, Farr SL, Dietz PM, Robbins CL. Depression and treatment among U.S. pregnant and non-pregnant women of reproductive age, 2005–2009. J Womens Health. (2012) 21:830–6. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2011.3466
- Perez-Rodriguez MM, Baca-Garcia E, Oquendo MA, Blanco C. Ethnic differences in suicidal ideation and attempts. *Prim psychiatry.* (2008) 15:44–53.

- Dumith SC, Demenech LM, Carpena MX, Nomiyama S, Neiva-Silva L, Loret de. Mola C. Suicidal thought in southern Brazil: who are the most susceptible? *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 260:610–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.09.046
- Asad N, Karmaliani R, Sullaiman N, Bann CM, McClure EM, Pasha O, et al. Prevalence of suicidal thoughts and attempts among pregnant Pakistani women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. (2010) 89:1545–51. doi: 10.3109/00016349.2010.526185
- Lorant V, Kunst AE, Huisman M, Costa G, Mackenbach J. Health EWGoS-Eli. Socio-economic inequalities in suicide: a European comparative study. Br J Psychiatry. (2005) 187:49–54. doi: 10.1192/bjp.187.1.49
- Burrows S, Auger N, Gamache P, St-Laurent D, Hamel D. Influence of social and material individual and area deprivation on suicide mortality among 2.7 million Canadians: a prospective study. *BMC Public Health.* (2011) 11:577. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-577
- Mauri M, Oppo A, Borri C, Banti S. group P-R. SUICIDALITY in the perinatal period: comparison of two self-report instruments results from PND-ReScU. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2012) 15:39–47. doi: 10.1007/s00737-011-0246-y
- 47. Howard LM, Flach C, Mehay A, Sharp D, Tylee A. The prevalence of suicidal ideation identified by the edinburgh postnatal depression scale in postpartum women in primary care: findings from the RESPOND trial. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. (2011) 11:57. doi: 10.1186/1471-2 393-11-57
- Tabb KM, Gavin AR, Guo Y, Huang H, Debiec K, Katon W. Views and experiences of suicidal ideation during pregnancy and the postpartum: findings from interviews with maternal care clinic patients. *Women Health*. (2013) 53:519–35. doi: 10.1080/03630242.2013.804024

- Suarez L, Beach SR, Moore SV, Mastromauro CA, Januzzi JL, Celano CM, et al. Use of the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 and a detailed suicide evaluation in determining imminent suicidality in distressed patients with cardiac disease. *Psychosomatics*. (2015) 56:181–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2014.12.005
- Rossom RC, Coleman KJ, Ahmedani BK, Beck A, Johnson E, Oliver M, et al. Suicidal ideation reported on the PHQ9 and risk of suicidal behavior across age groups. J Affect Disord. (2017) 215:77–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.03.037

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Faisal-Cury, Oliveira Rodrigues, Matijasevich, Tarpinian and Tabb. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Black Perinatal Mental Health: Prioritizing Maternal Mental Health to Optimize Infant Health and Wellness

Tracey Estriplet^{1*}, Isabel Morgan¹, Kelly Davis¹, Joia Crear Perry¹ and Kay Matthews²

¹ National Birth Equity Collaborative, New Orleans, LA, United States, ² Shades of Blue Project, Houston, TX, United States

Infant mental health is interconnected with and affected by maternal mental health. A mother or birthing person's mental health before and during pregnancy and the postpartum period is essential for a child's development. During the first year of life, infants require emotional attachment and bonding to strive. Perinatal mood disorders are likely to hinder attachment and are associated with an increased risk of adverse mental health effects for children later in life. The Black community is faced with a crisis as Black mothers experience a higher prevalence of perinatal mood disorders, including postpartum depression and anxiety, compared to the United States national estimates. The aim of the research is to identify social, structural, and economic disparities of Black perinatal women and birthing people's experience to understand the impact of perinatal mental health on infants' mental health. Black mothers and birthing people may often face social and structural barriers that limit their opportunity to seek and engage with interventions and treatment that address the root causes of their perinatal mood disorder. To enhance understanding of racial disparities caused by social and structural determinants of health on Black mothers and birthing people's mental health and health care experiences that influence infant mental health, the study team conducted semi-structured interviews among self-identified cisgender Black women health professionals nationwide, who provide care to pregnant or postpartum Black women and birthing people. Our study attempted to identify themes, pathways, interventions, and strategies to promote equitable and anti-racist maternal and infant mental health care. Using a Rigorous and Accelerated Data Reduction (Radar) technique and a deductive qualitative analytic approach it was found that limited access to resources, lack of universal screening and mental health education, and the disjointed healthcare system serves as barriers, contribute to mental health issues, and put Black mothers and birthing people at a disadvantage in autonomous decision making. Our study concluded that instituting education on healthy and culturally appropriate ways to support infant development in parent education programs may support Black parents in establishing healthy attachment and bonds. Prioritizing strategies to improve maternal mental health and centering Black parents in developing these educational parenting programs may optimize parenting experiences.

Keywords: perinatal mental health, inequaities, Reproductive Justice (RJ), birth equity, infant mental health, inequities in health care

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Heidemarie Kaiser Laurent, The Pennsylvania State University (PSU), United States

Reviewed by:

Agnes Higgins, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland Melinda Jane Goodyear, Monash University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Tracey Estriplet testriplet@birthequity.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 November 2021 Accepted: 18 March 2022 Published: 29 April 2022

Citation:

Estriplet T, Morgan I, Davis K, Crear Perry J and Matthews K (2022) Black Perinatal Mental Health: Prioritizing Maternal Mental Health to Optimize Infant Health and Wellness. Front. Psychiatry 13:807235. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.807235

INTRODUCTION

An estimated 10–20% of perinatal depressive episodes meet the full criteria for a major depressive episode (1). The prevalence of perinatal depression increases to 25–50% when minor bouts of depression or anxiety are included (2). Untreated perinatal depression and anxiety are associated with pregnancy complications and adverse outcomes during the perinatal period, including impaired lactation, suicide, and infanticide (3). Black mothers experience a higher prevalence of maternal mental health issues, including postpartum depression and anxiety, in comparison to the United States national estimates (4).

There is an interconnectedness between the mental and emotional health of the person giving birth and the developing fetus. A mother or birthing person's mental health before and during pregnancy and the postpartum period is essential for the development of a child (5). During the first year of life, infants require emotional attachment and bonding to thrive. The bond that is formed during this stage is the foundation on which young children develop self-awareness relative to others (6). Mothers who experience depression or anxiety and lack of social support may find it challenging to build a secure attachment, leading to an insecure attachment (3) that can impact an infant's capacity to regulate their emotions and behaviors, learning, and assessment of social cues (7). Maternal mental health disorders such as depression, anxiety and psychosis are also associated with an increased risk of adverse mental health effects for children later in life (8).

To understand the root causes of maternal and infant mental and emotional health, it is imperative to use the frameworks of social justice movements, like Reproductive Justice and birth equity, that use power analyses to contextualize the social and structural determinants of maternal, infant, and reproductive health. Loretta Ross, co-creator of the reproductive justice movement, defines reproductive justice as, "the human right to maintain personal bodily autonomy, have children, not have children, and parent the children we have in safe and sustainable communities" (9). The birth equity framework focuses on rectifying structural racism and social determinants through system-level change and initiatives to improve maternal and infant health (10).

Applying these frameworks helps address intersecting oppressions, and center marginalized populations in developing pathways to improve maternal mental health and its barriers to care and health equity. Specifically, intersecting social constructions such as gender and race and accompanying systems of oppression such as racism, misogyny and transphobia create barriers to pregnant and parenting families having what they need to thrive. To overcome the persistent racial inequities in perinatal mental health for better infant mental health outcomes, we must consider, in finding solutions, those who bear the greatest burden of structural racism and gender oppression – Black mothers and birthing people.

The experiences of Black mothers and birthing people is key to identifying viable solutions to improving maternal and infant mental health inequities. Limited access to resources, lack of universal screening and mental health education, lack of culturally congruent providers and fractured healthcare systems limit the ways Black mothers and birthing people often seek and receive health services (11). These social and structural barriers contribute to mental health issues and put Black mothers and birthing people at a disadvantage in autonomous decision making (11). To improve the awareness and understanding of the impacts of social and structural determinants of mental health for Black mothers, birthing people and their infants, we conducted semi-structured interviews with Black maternal and infant mental health stakeholders and experts.

This article reports pathways to address social and structural inequities that Black women and birthing people experience during the perinatal period, to identify pathways to equitable maternal mental healthcare to optimize infant health and cognitive development.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Team

The study team comprised of three cisgender, Black women, public health professionals. Two of the team members hold masters-level training in public health and had experience conducting qualitative research and analysis using analytic software. One member of the team was a trained licensed clinical health worker, with a specialization in providing mental health counseling and care to Black women.

Study Setting

We conducted semi-structured interviews from February 16th, 2021, to March 10th, 2021, among self-identified cisgender Black women health professionals nationwide, who provide care to pregnant or postpartum Black women and birthing people.

Grounding Frameworks

In developing the interview guides, principles of reproductive justice and birth equity informed the questions, data collection and analysis, and interpretation. The interview guides included specific questions regarding the impact of the mother's (or birthing person's) health on their infant's health and mental wellbeing. The guide also contained questions regarding the effects of systems of oppression (e.g., racism, gender oppression) and social and structural determinants of health on Black mother's access to mental health services, treatment, and their overall mental health status.

The Reproductive Justice (RJ) movement began in 1994 by Black feminist advocates. The RJ movement declares an individual's rights to bodily autonomy not to have children, the right to have children, including all birthing options, and to parent their children in safe and supportive communities (9). The RJ movement proposes a theoretical framework that explains how intersecting systems of oppression create the conditions that most often impact Black birthing people and their experience with the mental health care system, including maternal mental health providers and practitioners. Inequities in mental health service utilization and provision stem from the lack of incorporation of the Reproductive Justice (RJ) Framework into clinical practice. The RJ framework is a critical concept of reproductive autonomy that acknowledges how reproductive rights are adversely impacted by racism, paternalism, economic injustices, and other forms of oppression. At the intersection of mental health, education and autonomous rights, the availability for culturally congruent, unbiased, decolonized (10), trusted mental health providers is a useful quality indicator for pregnant and postpartum Black birthing people's use of mental health services. Further, RJ asserts that children deserve to be raised in safe and supportive communities, and that begins in the home and within the family unit.

Birth Equity is defined as "the assurance of the conditions of optimal births for all people with a willingness to address racial and social inequities in a sustained effort" (11). This framework explains how structural and social determinants impact perinatal health outcomes and the wellbeing of pregnant and postpartum populations.

The RJ and Birth Equity frameworks provide a lens of centering and valuing the autonomy and self-knowledge of people in marginalized communities within systems. These theoretical frameworks provide a basis for understanding not only how systems and structures impact perinatal mental health, but also the relationship between maternal mental health and infant mental health and wellbeing.

Participants and Recruitment

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Institute for Women and Ethnic Studies on December 18th, 2020. The interview guide comprised 21 questions, organized in six major sections: Framing, Barriers, Racism and Gender Oppression, Social Determinants of Health, Solutions and Strategies, and Infant Mental Health (Exhibit **Appendix 1**). The interview guide has been published previously (12). Of the six sections, five focused on maternal mental health, while one section focused exclusively on infant mental health. Results from the analysis of data on maternal mental health have been published previously (12). This article presents an analysis of the data specific to infant mental health and wellbeing.

The study team developed a preliminary list of 40 stakeholders with expertise in maternal or infant mental health. The final stakeholders prioritized Black women who had expertise in reproductive justice or birth equity and infant or maternal mental health. The stakeholders who provided counseling services had to serve predominantly Black women and birthing people, to be invited to the study. Stakeholders were invited via email to participate in one-on-one interviews with members of the study team. Of the 40 identified stake holders, ten stakeholders were invited and accepted the invitation to interview. The stakeholders were self-identified cis-gendered Black women, ranging reproductive age.

Stakeholder Interviews

We interviewed 10 perinatal mental health practitioners, researchers, and activists during February and March 2021. Qualitative interviews were conducted one-on-one with stakeholders to understand the impacts of structural and social determinants of health on Black birthing people's mental health

and mental health care experiences to identify solutions that could advance maternal mental health care and infant mental health. The stakeholders interviewed had a wide range of training expertise that included perinatal social work, clinical psychology, social work, birth work, lactation support, marriage and family therapy, and health disparities research linking the mental health and wellbeing of infants. Several stakeholders provided services to pregnant and postpartum Black women and birthing people in hospital and outpatient settings. Stakeholders were asked a series of open-ended questions to determine the perceived barriers Black women and birthing people experience in maternal mental health systems of care.

All interviews were conducted virtually via Zoom Communications Technologies software. Interviews were video and audio recorded with the participant's consent. A second member of the study team participated in interviews as an observer to provide technical support, obtain verbal informed consent and take notes. Audio recordings of each interview were submitted to REV-a professional audio transcription service that uses humans to transcribe audio to limit inaccuracies of the interviews.

Qualitative Analysis

The study team conducted a rapid and in-depth analysis to identify significant themes from the stakeholder interviews. The team utilized an iterative process for the rapid analysis to arrive at final themes from February to March 2021. The rapid analysis was guided by the Rigorous and Accelerated Data Reduction (RADaR) technique characterized by using tables and spreadsheets in Microsoft Excel to develop an all-inclusive data set that underwent multiple revisions to synthesize common themes among the interviews (13). Two team members created an excel spreadsheet with the facilitator's questions in rows and responses from each stakeholder in the columns. One team member created a document with pseudonyms and scopes of practice for each participant. Preliminary themes were presented to 13 perinatal mental health stakeholders during two virtual webinars in March 2021 to obtain feedback on the identified themes from the rapid analysis and inform the development of equitable and antiracist maternal and infant mental healthcare pathways. A flyer for the virtual webinar sessions was shared via social media channels of the author's affiliated organizations and disseminated by email through an organizational newsletter of one author's community-based maternal mental health organization. We captured insights from webinar participants verbally and through Jamboard to determine if the preliminary results from the rapid analysis of the stakeholder interviews resonated with them based on their experience and expertise. The webinars were co-facilitated by the study team and two Black maternal mental health professionals who participated in the interview series.

An in-depth analysis was then conducted using a deductive qualitative analytic approach. The preliminary codebook (Exhibit **Appendix 2**) was curated based on the initial grounding literature review, the guiding frameworks (Reproductive Justice and Birth Equity), and team members with maternal and infant mental health expertise to construct a foundation for analysis.

Two team members independently coded two transcripts using the preliminary codebook and reviewed the coded themes for definition accuracy. The codebook was then revised to redefine and expand codes. The remainder of the transcripts were coded independently by two team members, then reviewed for accuracy and identification of themes. The themes were then discussed with the third team member who facilitated the stakeholder interviews to ensure that significant findings were consistent with interpretations of the webinar summaries and discussions.

RESULTS

Three themes specific to infant mental health were identified from interviews with the perinatal mental health stakeholders, including challenges conceptualizing and defining, relationship between maternal health and infant health and wellness, and strategies for nurturing infant health and wellness.

Challenges of Conceptualizing and Defining Infant Mental Health

Participants emphasized that infant mental health is challenging to conceptualize because it lacks an operational and cohesive definition. In describing how infant mental health is defined, one practitioner shared:

"I got asked to be a speaker for an infant mental health organization, and I was like, can you describe to me what that means to you? I don't know exactly what that means... It's literally like a term that doesn't really have a full operational definition. I feel like, in the field, none of us are learning infant mental health, really. We might learn developmental health and then sort of the course of what infants might be doing in different stages, but not that there's a whole provider geared to work with zero to three in that way." - Felicia, Licensed Clinical Psychologist and Birth Doula.

This participant acknowledges that there are providers whose scope of practice is dedicated to infants from newborns to 3 years old. While their clinical training included content focused on infant developmental health, the specific terminology and focus on infant mental health was not addressed. Another participant also expressed difficulty in specifying what infant mental health encompasses:

"[Infant mental health is] hard to capture, related to the environmental structure, but something that we can work on." - Alesia, Health Disparities Researcher.

While the operational and cohesive definitions of infant mental health were unclear, practitioners noted that the scope of infant mental health encompasses an infant's cognitive and emotional development. Mother-infant bonding and attachment were often referred to as indicators of an infant's mental health status:

"Infant mental health to me means a provider that is aware of what the stages of the development should be, particularly in this early infant side, which is a lot about secure attachment." - Felicia, Licensed Clinical Psychologist and Birth Doula.

"The first thing that comes to my mind is secure attachment, like are you doing what you need to do to provide a secure attachment with the parents and the child? Or even understanding the journey of your baby. Because people are like, 'Oh, that baby's this and that.' Just understanding what babies are going through or young toddlers are going through to really help with that bond between parent and child." Morgan, Licensed Mental Health Therapist.

One participant described the importance of acknowledging an infant as a separate being with their own needs and journeys. Related to understanding the spiritual journey of infants, one practitioner noted how our conceptualization of infant mental health has been medicalized:

"When we think about infant mental health, we think about it from a clinical standpoint or a biological, neurological standpoint. But then there is a spiritual piece to this, where there are traditions that recognize that just because someone is a baby doesn't mean that they don't have wisdom or that they're not an old soul, or that they're not an ancestor returned." - Cassandra, Licensed Marriage and Family Therapist.

Relationship Between Maternal Health and Infant Health and Wellness

While several participants expressed a lack of clarity regarding how to define infant mental health, all acknowledged that the environment impacts infant health and wellness, including the effects of health of the pregnant or postpartum person-including mental health-on the attachment, bonding, development, and mental health of an infant, as stated:

"What comes to mind, to me right away, is: What was going on while they were in the womb? And what was happening to their mom's body before she even conceived? What was being held up in her body, that is just going to pass right on to her little baby? So that's where infant mental health starts, not when [the infant is] born." - Yvette, Birth and Postpartum Doula.

"Infant mental health is a conversation I feel like that should couple maternal health as well, because mothers need to know how their mental health stressors and the stressors of the environment may play a role in how that child develops in many different ways." - Monica, Perinatal Social Worker.

One practitioner emphasized how the mental health of a pregnant or postpartum person extends beyond the home to impact the community.

"That whole thing is cyclical. If mama, parent's mental health isn't intact, that's going to have a manifestation into the children. That's going to have a manifestation into the community, that's full circle." – Tayler, Certified Breastfeeding Specialist and Parenting Support Coach.

However, several participants expressed concerns about the blame and shame that Black mothers and birthing people

experience related to perceptions about their parenting and the impact it has on the family dynamic, as stated by a licensed marriage and family therapist:

"If that mother doesn't recognize early enough, well, one, if she's not valued. If she's not valued, if she's not centered, or if her needs aren't met, they may try to meet the needs of this child, and they may find it difficult to do so, and that can lead to worth feelings and feelings of hopelessness. But more than that, if they don't see this as a co-created relationship where I can impact this child, I have an impact. See, this is the thing about power, if I'm disempowering this mother in the doctor's office, I'm disempowering this birthing person, then when they go home, how are they supposed to feel empowered about the relationship they're establishing with this child? How isolating can that be for both?" Cassandra, Licensed Marriage, and Family Therapist.

"So, at the same time with this research, a lot of it makes me sick to my stomach when reading the literature out there on infant mental health. A lot of it is mom shaming, mom blaming, fetal programming, the infant experience is destiny. You'll read articles on maternal depression and obesity, and maternal depression and offspring suicide. Like, 'Well, it was all her fault.' So, there's a lot of work to be done there." - Alesia, Health Disparities Researcher.

Similarly, one practitioner emphasized how Black mothers are central to Black family structures and described the added stressors that Black women experience in parenting with a mental health condition:

"The Black mom is the one that's making sure everything is going and happening and moving and shaking. And pretty much the Black mom could be dripping blood and people are still like, are we going to eat? Can I get my medicine? I want to talk to you about my bad day at work. And I also want you to still be emotionally available for the meddling mother-in-law and all that stuff. Not getting treatment for maternal mental health, it can really break down the Black family, because of Black family is really relying on that Black mom to advance the family and keep a lot of things going. Whereas, I see with my white moms, they're just 'I'm crying',

'I'm sad' and people need to get it together." - Annette, Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor.

"So, one of my favorite questions that I ask all the parents that I work with is like, 'How are you feeling about parenthood these days?' And that's just the opening question. It allows them the space to say like, 'I don't know what the heck I'm doing. This baby crys all the time. I don't know the expectations that this kid have on me.' So, I allow them to vent, and then I say, 'Okay, what are you able to do right now? Are you able to just play with that kid when they doing tummy time? Do you sing? Do you like to sing?' And I had one mom, she loved to sing, and she thought she couldn't sing to the child. I was like, Sing your gospel songs. Sing to the child. That's a connection, because the baby'll probably start singing back with you. And just helping parents use their strengths to connect with the child. You don't have to be this Instagram, Pinterest-worthy whatever. Use your strength. If you like to build, get some LEGOs for the kid, even if it's a baby. Just like, 'Hey, look at this. It's yellow. It's red.' Use your strengths to connect with the child so it feels accessible. They don't have to do anything extra. They're using what they already have. And so I turn it to that way. 'What do you already have in your house? I'm not saying you got to build something or spend money. Let's use what you already have to connect with the baby. The baby don't care. The baby just wants to spend time with you. The baby just wants to learn from you.' And just breaking it down that way so they feel like they do have the skills that they need to connect with their child." -Morgan, Licensed Mental Health Therapist.

Suggested Practical Interventions for Health Services and Healthcare Providers

Participants emphasized that Black mothers and birthing people should be prioritized, centered, and valued in the hospital setting and at home to provide a nurturing environment for their children.

"So, I mean, it just shows you that all of this is happening in the womb while they're *in utero*. And so, that's why you want so much for a mom to be mentally well even in those preconception years so that, baby can be well. - Yvette, Birth and Postpartum Doula.

Several participants described the importance of examining root causes, and identifying social and structural factors that impact the experiences and care of Black pregnant and postpartum people and their families.

"It's how we automatically believe folks are inadequate and disposable. It's so deeply rooted in our society."

- Tayler, Certified Breastfeeding Specialist and Parenting Support Coach.

"Diversifying [the workforce] is one thing, but the reality is, we've all been socialized to uphold harm and oppression. That cultivation and socialization, even a lot of birthworkers who got training from white-led organizations, there's a lot of work that has to be done to decolonize and deconstruct how they have been taught. Same thing within the social sector within mental health and therapist, where literally your licensing is depending on you being harmful, toxic and oppressive and not knowing because you're so deeply rooted to that...Dr. Dorothy Roberts does a phenomenal job of looking at the connection to Child Protective Services (CPS) and it's connection to taking away families. How do you defund the systems that are connected to incarceration, that are connected to hyper-policing? It's not just the diversifying piece, we also have to have folks who are accountable and who have gone through the training and understanding." - Tayler, Certified Breastfeeding Specialist and Parenting Support Coach.

"There's this overuse of being trauma-informed. How are you trauma-informed and healed but just knowing that people have trauma, but not acknowledging where that trauma has come from and the root causes of that trauma? How can you still cast blame on individuals and not systems?" - Tayler, Certified Breastfeeding Specialist and Parenting Support Coach.

It was theorized by one practitioner that teaching all parents the signs and symptoms of mental distress and lack of maternalinfant bonding, and also equipping them with resources would help mitigate the lack of attachment and bonding for parents who are faced with maternal or perinatal mental health issues:

"I think if you are working with mothers and birthing people and helping them understand how to self-regulate their own emotions, they will be more capable and more responsive to respond to this infant's needs, because if you're working on your anxiety and you notice, okay, well, this is what I do when I get anxious so let me take some deep breaths, then when the baby comes and there's a whole bunch of stuff happening, and you feel anxious, you respond to yourself in a healthy way, and you take a deep breath, and the children learn that the infants see that. You're not going to be perfect, but you're going to teach resilience to an infant." - Yolanda, Licensed Clinical Psychologist.

Additionally, postpartum doulas and traditional healing practices were presented as potential solutions to support parents nurture healthy infant mental health by centering birthing people's healing postpartum:

"I think another resource that will be great, and then this goes back to the healthcare and health systems is having... If someone can't afford to have a postpartum doula come in and helping if you don't have family around. There are some insurances that will pay for a visiting nurse. But you usually get like one visit, but what if that was part of health care that you were provided with like that after care, that you had someone that was able to come in and again, do all the things so that you could really just be in that restful period, we talk about the 40 days. And those African traditions of mom is literally just in her bed, and everyone is bringing food to her, warming foods to her so that her body can heal, so that she can feed her baby and be able to love on her baby, without the mundane tasks of life." - Yvette, Birth and Postpartum Doula.

Above all, all practitioners and participants identified addressing maternal mental health care as the number one solution to mitigate infant mental health distress and disorders. "In line with a focus on centering Black mothers and birthing people, practitioners identified five pathways to improve and access to equitable and antiracist mental health care".

Pathways Toward Equitable and Antiracist Maternal and Infant Mental Health Care

The five key pathways identified are (a) educating and training practitioners, (b) investing in Black women mental health workforce, (c) investing in Black women-led community-based organizations, (d) valuing, honoring, and investing in the community and, (e) promoting integrated care and shared decision making.

Practitioners emphasized these five pathways would equip both practitioners and Black mothers and birthing people with skills to adequately address social and structural challenges faced by the birthing woman or person, such as racism, medical mistrust, and race-based treatment plans. The impact of racism on the mental health workforce and access to pathways to mental health careers was an identified barrier. Racism was identified as the underlying cause of Black maternal health inequities, as Black women are underrepresented in the perinatal mental health workforce and among clients receiving mental health treatment. Additionally, to identify structural and social determinants of health areas of education and training, practitioners noted that mental health professionals training should address trauma across a life course, including during pregnancy and the postpartum periods. Practitioners also expressed the importance of services that are informed by cultural humility and holistic care. Holistic care was described to encompass dignity, bodily autonomy, respect, humanity, and empathic care. Creating safe spaces, appropriate client referrals, and dismantling a providerpatient power dynamic were identified as essential solutions and strategies for trust-building and responding to client's needs.

In providing culturally congruent care, practitioners noted that the mental health workforce needs acceptable and accessible decolonized practitioners, who are transparent about historical trauma, relations and their own professional and institutional impact on the population being served (10). Stakeholders indicated that their clients wanted to receive care from providers who looked like them and could relate to their lives. Cultural congruence enables patients to trust their provider's shared lived experience and allows the provider to pinpoint the important elements of the client's experience in life for better diagnosis and treatment. For this, stakeholders emphasized the importance of investing in Black women mental health professionals, including birth workers, social workers, psychologists, and therapists. In addition to investing in culturally congruent practitioners of the next generation, stakeholders also emphasized the importance of investing in Black-women-led organizations that serve Black communities. Practitioners identified that funding should be prioritized for those organizations that commit to advancing Black maternal health for their infrastructure and capacity-building. This shift in funding allocation would allow organizations to meet the needs of their communities.

Several practitioners described the need for both workers to improve Black women's experiences in seeking and receiving maternal and maternal mental health services in disjointed health care settings. Black women and birthing people successfully navigate the mental health care systems by having advocates such as doulas and midwives. Practitioners emphasized the need to strengthen mental health care providers, advocates, and birth worker's partnerships for more accessible health care services and shared decision making. These five pathways emphasize the importance of investing in equitable and antiracist maternal health care to to optimize infant health and wellness.

DISCUSSION

The results from this research are grounded in the belief that pregnant and parenting people's rights, safety, and dignity are deeply tied to the wellbeing of infants and children. The objective is to continue an interdisciplinary dialogue around the ways in which reproductive injustices harm infant mental health and to encourage further consideration of what this means for infant mental health clinical practices. Investing in maternal mental health could have a transformative impact on infant mental health as it emphasizes the importance of the intersecting oppressions that shape the lives and wellbeing of infants for the rest of their lives. The results further suggest that clinicians should consider collective dialogue, organizing, and action between a multidisciplinary stakeholder group of maternal mental health and infant mental health practitioners, researchers, and individuals with lived experience.

Participants noted the importance of dismantling the false premise that Black women and birthing people are solely responsible and should bear the burden of adverse infant health outcomes and experiences. Social justice frameworks that situate inequities within social and structural systems of care help to reframe the narrative about how we collectively address maternal and infant mental health inequities.

Implications

Using Reproductive Justice and birth equity as theoretical frameworks and praxis to address perinatal mental health and wellness leads to a broadening of the scope of awareness, practice, and intervention for equitable antiracist mental healthcare for Black mothers, birthing people, and their families. To further unravel the complex challenges of Reproductive Justice and maternal mental health in infant mental health, case studies and cross-cultural comparative studies should be employed. Case studies in infant mental health would serve as a method to increase awareness and identify and address injustices and trauma. While cross-cultural studies would continue to direct the trajectory of developing services (14), including the lived experience of those most affected by trauma, gender oppression, sexism, and racism to be involved in program development and evaluation of the impact of services received, assures understanding and improvement of future practice (15, 16).

Five key pathways generated from this analysis included: (a) Educating and training practitioners, (b) Investing in Black women mental health workforce, (c) Investing in Black womenled community-based organizations, (d) Valuing, honoring, and investing in the community and, (e) Promoting integrated care and shared decision making. The five key pathways identified by Black women mental health stakeholders present key areas of focus to address barriers that impede access to maternal mental health care, but also strengthen community-systems of care and strategies that Black women and birthing people adopt to meet their mental health needs. Educating and training practitioners in how systems of oppression (e.g., racism, gender oppression, and classism) impact pregnant and postpartum people's perinatal experiences position them to be more effective in meeting their client's needs. Participants noted that Black women and birthing people often neglect their own needs to prioritize the needs of their families. These are the same systems that mental health practitioners are indoctrinated into which perpetuates the devaluation of Black women and Black bodies. Black women and birthing people want and deserve to see themselves reflected in the practitioners that care for them. Relatedly, Black women and birthing people are best equipped to fill in gaps that exist within their communities to prioritize healthy and fulfilling perinatal experiences. Sustainable investments in Black women mental health workforce and Black women-led communitybased organizations is critical. Traditional healing practices and approaches that support community cohesion are foundational to effective strategies for improved health and wellness for Black people. Postpartum doulas were referenced as components of potential solutions to provide support during a period in which many women and birthing people are vulnerable to developing or exacerbating a mental health condition. Lastly, the fractures in health care systems create barriers for accessing care and lack of shared decision making disempowers birthing people from fully and authentically actualizing their needs and desires.

Limitations

This study had several limitations. First, the bulk of the interview questions in the facilitators guide focused on maternal mental health, consequently we obtained less insight and resolution specific to infant mental health. Second, the pathways identified centered Black mothers, not capturing the specific needs of non-binary Black birthing populations. Third, the practitioners interviewed identified as cisgender Black women, with a majority of their population served identifying as cisgender Black women, despite recruitment for participants that provided care to Black mothers and birthing people. Lastly, limitations occurred during the recruitment process and strategy. The bulk of our recruitment was based on personal reference, and meeting criteria.

CONCLUSION

Instituting education on healthy and culturally appropriate ways to support infant development in parent education programs may support Black parents in establishing healthy attachment and bonds. Prioritizing strategies to improve maternal mental health and centering Black parents in the development of these educational parenting programs may optimize parenting experiences and infant's health, development, and wellness.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because our IRB does not allow for data sharing with external researchers. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to IM, imorgan@birthequity.org.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of the Institute for Women and Ethnic Studies. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IM, TE, and KM conceived the idea for the study and conceptualized the pathways from the data of the key stakeholders. KM facilitated interviews with TE or IM present to take notes for each interview. TE and IM were responsible for conducting a rapid and in-depth analysis of the raw data from the interviews. TE drafted the manuscript. IM, KD, and JC revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2005) 106:1071–83. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597. 31630.db
- Tandon SD, Cluxton-Keller F, Leis J, Le H-N, Perry DF. A comparison of three screening tools to identify perinatal depression among lowincome African American women. J Affect Disord. (2012) 136:155– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.07.014
- Woolhouse H, Gartland D, Mensah F, Brown S. Maternal depression from early pregnancy to 4 years postpartum in a prospective pregnancy cohort study: implications for primary health care. *BJOG.* (2015) 122:312– 21. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.12837
- Howell EA, Mora PA, Horowitz CR, Leventhal H. Racial and ethnic differences in factors associated with early postpartum depressive symptoms. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2005) 105:1442-50. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000164050.34126.37
- Aktar E, Qu J, Lawrence PJ, Tollenaar MS, Elzinga BM, Bögels SM. Fetal and infant outcomes in the offspring of parents with perinatal mental disorders: earliest influences. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:391. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019. 00391
- Guild DJ, Toth SL, Handley ED, Rogosch FA, Cicchetti D. Attachment security mediates the longitudinal association between child–parent psychotherapy and peer relations for toddlers of depressed mothers. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2017) 29:587–600. doi: 10.1017/S09545794170 00207
- Earls MF, Yogman MW, Mattson G, Rafferty J, Health CoPAoCaF. Incorporating recognition and management of perinatal depression into pediatric practice. *Pediatrics*. (2019) 143:e20183260. doi: 10.1542/peds.201 8-3260
- Pawluski JL, Lonstein JS, Fleming AS. The neurobiology of postpartum anxiety and depression. *Trends Neurosci.* (2017) 40:106–20. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2016.11.009
- 9. Goodman JH. Perinatal depression and infant mental health. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs.* (2019) 33:217–24. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2019. 01.010
- Ross LJ. Reproductive justice as intersectional feminist activism. Souls. (2017) 19:286–314. doi: 10.1080/10999949.2017.13 89634
- 11. Crear-Perry J Correa-de-Araujo R, Lewis Johnson T, McLemore MR, Neilson E, Wallace M. Social and structural determinants

FUNDING

This project was supported by funding from the Perigee Fund.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.807235/full#supplementary-material

of health inequities in maternal health. J Womens Health. (2021) 30:230–5. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2020.8882

- Matthews K, Morgan I, Davis K, Estriplet T, Perez S, Crear-Perry JA. Pathways to equitable and antiracist maternal mental health care: insights from black women stakeholders: study examines pathways to equitable and antiracist maternal mental health care. *Health Aff.* (2021) 40:1597– 604. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2021.00808
- Watkins DC. Rapid and rigorous qualitative data analysis: The "RADaR" technique for applied research. Int J Qual Method. (2017) 16:1–9. doi: 10.1177/1609406917712131
- Fortuna LR, Noroña CR, Porche MV, Tillman C, Patil PA, Wang Y, et al. Trauma, immigration, and sexual health among Latina women: implications for maternal-child well-being and reproductive justice. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2019) 40:640–58. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21805
- Leirbakk MJ, Magnus JH, Torper J, Zeanah P. Look to Norway: serving new families and infants in a multiethnic population. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2019) 40:659–72. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21804
- St. John MS. Reconceiving the field: infant mental health, intersectionality, and reproductive justice. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2019) 40:608–23. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21808

Author Disclaimer: The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of Perigee Fund.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Estriplet, Morgan, Davis, Crear Perry and Matthews. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated With Postpartum Depressive Symptoms Among Women in Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR

Amkha Xayyabouapha¹, Vanphanom Sychareun^{2*}, Bui Thi Tu Quyen³, Manivone Thikeo² and Jo Durham⁴

¹ Faculty of Public Health, University of Health Sciences and Hanoi University of Public Health, Vientiane, Laos, ² Faculty of Public Health, University of Health Sciences, Vientiane, Laos, ³ Biostatistics Department, Faculty of Fundamental Sciences, Hanoi University of Public Health, Vietnam, Laos, ⁴ School of Public Health and Social Work, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Heidemarie Kaiser Laurent, The Pennsylvania State University (PSU), United States

Reviewed by:

Nieto Lourdes, National Institute of Psychiatry Ramon de la Fuente Muñiz (INPRFM), Mexico Jesus Cobo, Consorci Corporació Sanitària Parc Taulí, Spain

*Correspondence:

Vanphanom Sychareun vsychareun@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 08 October 2021 Accepted: 04 April 2022 Published: 03 May 2022

Citation:

Xayyabouapha A, Sychareun V, Quyen BTT, Thikeo M and Durham J (2022) Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated With Postpartum Depressive Symptoms Among Women in Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR. Front. Public Health 10:791385. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.791385 Postpartum depression (PPD), the onset of depressive episodes after childbirth, is the most common psychological condition following childbirth, and a global public health concern. If undiagnosed and/or untreated, postpartum depression can have negative effects on maternal and child health, however, there are few studies on the prevalence of postpartum depression in low- and middle-income countries. To contribute to filling this gap, this study examined the prevalence and risk factors associated with postpartum depressive symptoms among women after delivery in Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR. The study was a cross-sectional design, with multistage sampling used to identify women between 4 and 24 weeks after giving birth (N = 521). The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale was used to identify women with postpartum depressive symptoms. Univariate and multivariate logistic regressions identified risk factors associated with postpartum depressive symptoms. The prevalence of postpartum depressive symptoms among participants was 21.3%. Associated factors were having at least 2-3 living children (AOR: 1.9, 95% CI: 1.1-3.0), experiencing mental health problems during pregnancy (AOR: 3.3, 95% CI: 1.4-7.6), experiencing conflicts with family members (AOR: 2.5, 95% CI: 1.5-4.0), the experience of intimate partner violence (AOR: 2.6, 95% Cl: 1.3-5.5), and receiving moderate social support (AOR: 5.6, 95% Cl: 3.2-10.0). In contexts where access to mental health specialists has severely constrained maternal and child healthcare providers at primary health care must be supported to develop the necessary skills to identify risk factors and symptoms and offer basic essential services for postpartum depressive symptom (PDS). The study identified a high proportion of mothers with postnatal depressive symptoms, highlighting the need to screen and treat mothers who present with PDS, as not doing so exposes mother and their children to a range of negative health and social outcomes. Addressing the stigma associated with mental health illness and mental health illness and domestic violence that prevents women from seeking healthcare, must also be developed, implemented, and evaluated.

Keywords: prevalence, risk factors, postpartum depressive symptoms, Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EDPS), low-income country, Lao PDR

INTRODUCTION

Postpartum depression (PPD), the onset of depressive episodes after childbirth, is the most common psychological condition following childbirth, and a global public health concern (1, 2). A recent review of 565 studies from 80 different countries or regions, estimated the global prevalence of PPD to be 17.22% (95% CI 16.00-18.51) (1). This estimate is higher than the oftencited prevalence rate of 13% (95% CI: 12.3-13.4%), derived from a meta-analysis of studies from higher-income countries (3), and lower than the 19% prevalence rate for PPD obtained from studies of low- and middle-income countries (4). The review also found significant differences between geographic regions and confirmed low- and lower-middle-income countries carry the greatest PPD burden (1). Within Asia, the study found that Southern Asia had the highest prevalence (22.32, 95% CI 18.48-26.70), followed by Western Asia (19.83, 95% CI 17.33-22.58), Eastern Asia (17.39, 95% CI 16.09-18.77), and South-East Asia (13.53, 95% CI 11.00-16.52) (1).

Postpartum depressive symptoms (PDS) may occur at any time up to a year after childbirth, often peaking 4–6 weeks postpartum and disappearing spontaneously 2–6 months after giving birth but can last longer (5). Symptoms can include sadness, nausea, anxiety, irritability, decreased libido, feelings of isolation, and disturbances in appetite, energy, and sleep (1, 6). Thoughts of hurting oneself and/or the infant, are also common symptoms of PPD, which can have negative impacts on family relationships (7–9). Negative long-term consequences to the infant can include delayed cognitive, social, emotional, and physical development with potentially long-term effects (10–14). PDS, however, are often overlooked, resulting in late diagnosis and increased chances of aggravating PPD.

A variety of factors, including demographic (4, 15, 16), obstetric (17), and environmental factors (18) and it is a complex interplay of these factors that create vulnerability to PPD. Sociodemographic factors associated with PPD include younger age of mothers (4, 15), low education (17), unemployment (19), low income (17, 20, 21), and previous experiences of mental health disorders (20, 22, 23). Obstetric risk factors include complications during labor, or immediately postpartum, such as obstetric hemorrhage (24), unplanned pregnancies (24), and having two or more children (25). The evidence related to a number of children and PPD, however, is mixed, and it is unlikely to be an independent factor for developing PPD. Regarding the social environment, poor social support including emotional support and empathetic relations with family and community members (26) and experience of violence (27) is associated with an increased risk of PPD.

Cultural and family factors may be risk or protective factors for PDD. Family support including from mothers and mothersin-law where the support provided meets the needs and expectations of the mother can be protective (28). Family and social support can however be a source of conflict, especially where there are differences in thinking and parenting concepts between older and mothers of more influential family members (28). In some countries, women are expected to go through a period of confinement postpartum, usually for a period of about 4 weeks during which there are often behavioral and dietary restrictions (29). In Southeast Asia, after giving birth mothers may rest for up to 1 month on a "hot bed" -a bed with a fire lit beneath it, which is thought to strengthen the health and accelerate the contraction of the uterus of a woman. During this time care is often provided by female relatives including mothers or mothers-in-law, often including the preparation of special foods and herbal tonics (29). This increased support temporarily changes the mother's role from caregiver to one who is cared for (30). The extent to which cultural practices in different countries are associated with PDD, however, is not well understood, with evidence on the role of confinement practices complicated by the heterogeneity of these practices (1, 30, 31). These cultural practices are also dynamic and influenced by factors such as changing economic systems, industrialization, globalization, and immigration (30).

Despite concern about PPD, an understanding of its prevalence in the Lao PDR, a lower-middle-income in South-East Asia, with few mental health services, is scant. A 2018 report on psychiatric services revealed there were 2,421 patients with a mental health condition, of which around 10% (240 cases) were diagnosed with depression, of whom 64% were women. The number of women with PPD specifically however was not reported (32). The reported number of cases is also likely to be significantly lower than the true number of people experiencing mental health disorders due to low awareness of mental health disorders, low health-seeking behaviors, stigma related to mental health disorders, and few mental health specialists or services in the country (32). There are, for example, only two hospitals in Lao PDR, both in the capital city of Vientiane, that have psychiatry departments, but neither of these departments has psychiatric specialists (32). The only available information on PDD comes from an unpublished study in 2017 conducted among women 6 weeks after giving birth in Odoumxay Province which indicated a prevalence of 15.2% PPD (21). To build on this work, this study was conducted to determine the prevalence and risk factors associated with PPD among women in Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR.

MATERIALS

This study was an analytical, cross-sectional, quantitative design, conducted among 48 communities in urban and peri-urban areas within Vientiane Capital. The Capital consists of nine districts, only three of which are entirely urban. A total of 77.9% of the population live in these urban districts, among whom are 22 births and 4.9 deaths per 1,000 population (33).

Study Participants

The inclusion criteria for participants were mothers between 4and 24-weeks postpartum and living in the selected communities at the time of the study. The sample size was calculated based on a single population formula, corresponding to a 95% confidence level at Z = 1.96, and an estimated prevalence of PDS from previous research of 15% (p = 0.15) (21). The absolute precision was d = 0.04, with 1.7 allowed for the design effect and 5% for the non-response rate, producing a sample size of 540 mothers. Multistage sampling was used to identify potential participants and maximize opportunities to recruit women from different socio-demographic backgrounds. One urban (Sisattanak) and one peri-urban district (Hadsayfong) within Vientiane Capital were selected using simple random sampling. Simple random sampling was then applied to select villages in each district, with 18 villages selected from the Sisattanak district and 30 from the Hadsayfong district. A total of 260 mothers from the Sisattanak district and 261 mothers from the Hadsayfong district were enrolled in the survey, with all interviews being completed within 1 month.

Measurement of Variables

The independent variables consisted of socio-demographic characteristics, obstetric, pregnancy and pediatric health factors, and family relationship factors. Socio-demographic variables included maternal age, level of education, occupation, ethnicity, religion, marital status, and self-reported household financial status. The obstetric, pregnancy, and pediatric health variables included number of pregnancies, number of deliveries, number of abortions, number of living children, history of stillbirths, pregnancy planning, number of antenatal care visits, complications during pregnancy, complications during the postpartum period, mental health problems during pregnancy, mode of delivery, gestational age of birth, infant feeding, and newborn health status. Family relationship factors included living arrangements, conflicts with family members, social support, and intimate partner violence (IPV).

Perceived social support was measured by the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (34). The scale consists of 12 questions, each with a 7-point Likert scale and questions related to family, friends, and significant other support. The overall average score for social support was determined as follows: <3 is low, 3–5 is moderate and > 5 is high social support (34). The Women Abuse Screening Tool (WAST) was used to assess IPV. The WAST includes 8 items, each scoring 1 for never or none, 2 for sometimes, and 3 for a lot or often. Total scores range from 08 to 24, with the recommended cut-off of 13 applied to indicate the presence of abuse (35).

The dependent variable was the occurrence of PPD derived using the Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (EPDS). The EPDS is the most common measure used to screen for depression related to childbearing (1), it is not, however, a clinical diagnostic tool and should be complemented with clinical assessment. The EPDS consists of ten questions each with four choices, scoring 0, 1, 2, and 3 for questions 1, 2, and 4, and reverse scoring 3, 2, 1, and 0 for questions 3, 5–10. The total scores range from 0 to 30, with respondents scoring \geq 10 considered as having depressive symptoms (36).

Statistical Analysis

This study used EpiData to enter the data and Stata 14 for analysis. Descriptive statistics were applied to analyze the frequency and percentage of the independent and outcome variables. Tests for significance were undertaken using univariate analysis, and the results of these with a p < 0.2 were included in the multivariate logistic regression. A backward stepwise

selection was applied with the level of significance for variables to remain in the final model set at p < 0.05, a 95% confidence interval for estimating the precision of the odds ratio, and the respective variables with significant associations.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Health Sciences in Lao PDR (No 190/19), and the Ethical Review Board for Biomedical Research, Hanoi University of Public Health (No: 431/2019/YTCC-HD3). The research objectives, methodology, and potential risks were made known to each respondent and written consent was obtained before the interview. Participants were free to withdraw from the study at any time. To respect the confidentiality of participants, the names of respondents were not included in any results, and the data was securely maintained.

RESULTS

Socio-Demographic Profile of Participants

A total of 521 postpartum mothers completed the survey (50.1% from the peri-urban district and (49.9% from the urban district. Just over half of the participants (53.7%) were aged 21 to 30 years, with a mean age of 27.5 (SD = 5.8). Most participants (97.7%) were married, and over half (58.8%) were unemployed at the time of the study (**Table 1**).

Obstetric, Pregnancy, and Pediatric Health Factors

Around half of the participants (51.4%) had two-three living children. The minimum number of children was one and a maximum of six. A total of 56.3% of the participating mothers were between 13 and 24 weeks after childbirth when interviewed. Over half (54.1%) had planned their last pregnancy, 6% reported mental health problems during their last pregnancy, and most (80.4%) reported a normal vaginal delivery. Almost all (94%) had healthy babies, 9% had a preterm birth (\leq 36 weeks), and 55% exclusively breastfed their babies.

Mothers' Relationships With Family Members

Nearly 40% of mothers reported sometimes having conflicts with family members. Over half (56.1%), reported receiving moderate social support, and just under 9% had experienced IPV (**Table 2**).

Prevalence of Postpartum Depressive Symptoms

Among the 521 mothers, 111 (21.3%) met the criteria of PDS as measured by an EPDS score of ≥ 10 (**Table 3**).

Risk Factors Associated With Postpartum Depressive Symptoms

The 18 independent variables that had a p < 0.2 in the univariate analysis—level of education, ethnicity, religion, financial status, planning of last pregnancy, number of antenatal care visits in recent pregnancy, complications during last pregnancy, mental health problems during last pregnancy, mode of delivery, number

TABLE 1 | Socio-demographic-economic profiles of the participants.

Characteristics (n: 521)	Frequency	Percentage
District		
Sisattanak (urban)	260	49.9
Hadsayfong (peri-urban)	261	50.1
Maternal age (Mean 27.5 years, SD 5.8 years, M	/lin: 16, Max: 4	2)
16–20	78	15
> 20–30	280	53.7
> 30–35	116	22.3
36–42	47	9
Level of education		
Never been in school/Primary school	128	24.6
Lower/ Upper secondary school	217	41.7
Vocational/Higher vocational certificate/Bachelor's	176	33.7
degree or higher		
Occupation		
Employed	215	41.2
Unemployed	306	58.8
Ethnicity		
Lao-Tai	443	85.2
Other ethnicity	78	14.8
Religion		
Buddhism	440	84.4
Other religion	81	15.6
Marital status		
Married	509	97.7
Other (single/divorced/separated/widow)	12	2.3
Financial status		
Enough with savings	198	38
Enough without savings	215	41.3
Not enough	108	20.7

TABLE 2 | Family relationship characteristics of participants.

Family relationship factors	Frequency	Percentage	
Living arrangement			
Living apart from family of birth/in-laws	219	42.0	
Living with family of birth	202	38.8	
Living with family-in-law	100	19.2	
Conflicts with family members			
Never	295	56.6	
Sometimes	208	39.9	
Often	18	3.5	
Social support (Min: 3, Max: 6.83)			
High support (6–max)	229	43.9	
Moderate support (3–5)	292	56.1	
Low support (min–2.9)	0	0	
Intimate partner violence WAST score (I	Vin: 12, Max: 24)		
Non-present IPV < 13	477	91.5	
Present IPV \geq 13	44	8.5	

of pregnancies, number of deliveries, number of abortions, number of living children, gestational age of birth, conflict with

	EPDS se	core < 10	EPDS scores \geq 10		
	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage	
Postpartum depressive symptoms in two districts	410	78.7	111	21.3	
Sisattanak district	202	77.7	58	22.3	
Hadsayfong district	208	79.7	53	20.3	

family members, living arrangement, intimate partner violence, and social support—were entered into the multivariate analysis. The variables significantly associated with depressive symptoms in the multivariate logistic regression were mothers who had 2– 3 living children (AOR: 1.9, 95% CI: 1.1–3.0), mothers who had mental health problems during pregnancy (AOR: 3.3, 95% CI: 1.4–7.6), mothers who experienced family conflicts (AOR: 2.5, 95% CI: 1.5–4.0), women who received moderate social support (AOR: 5.6, 95% CI: 3.2–10.0), and women who had experienced IPV (AOR: 2.6, 95% CI: 1.3–5.5) (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

This study investigated the prevalence of PDS and associated risk factors among women in Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR. The study revealed that around one-fifth of participants had depressive symptoms during the postpartum period as measured by the EPDS. This figure is higher than that found in Odoumxay in the north of Lao PDR (15.2%) (21) and findings from neighboring Thailand where the prevalence of PPD was reported to be 8.4% (37). These differences may be due to differences in study designs (e.g., sample size, parity, socio-economic class), and in outcome measurement (e.g., screening questionnaires used and the timing). The study in northern Lao PDR, for example was conducted among women from 1 to 6 weeks after delivery, whereas the sample in this study was postpartum mothers between 4 and 24 weeks. The study in Thailand used an EPDS score of \geq 13 as an indicator of having depressive symptoms, whereas in the present study we applied a score ≥ 10 (36). The prevalence of PPS in the present study is however comparable to a study in rural Bangladesh (22%) (38), studies in South Asia (39-41), although higher the those reported for South-East Asia reported in Wang et al. (1) global review (13.53, 95% CI 11.00-16.52) and in higher-income countries. Consistent with studies in higher-income countries and within Asia, postnatal depression was associated with antenatal experiences of poor mental health, family and marital disharmony, exposure to IPV, and not enough social support from partners, families, and friends (39-43). Having 2-3 living children was also associated with PDS which may be due to women with more children having many activities and financial concerns. This finding is contradicted in other research, however, including China (44) and Vietnam (45), and number of children may not be an independent factor for developing PDS and warrants further research.

TABLE 4 | Risk factors associated with PDS among participants.

Variables	EPDS < 10	EPDS \geq 10	COR	p-value	AOR	P-value
	F (%)	F (%)	(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
Number of living children						
1 child	203 (83.5)	40 (16.5)	1		1	
2–3 children	200 (74.6)	68 (25.4)	1.7 (1.1–2.6)	0.014	1.9 (1.1–3.0)	0.009*
4–6 children	7 (70)	3 (30)	2.2 (0.5–8.7)	0.2	2.6 (0.5–12.1)	0.2
Mental health problems during pregnancy						
No	395 (80.9)	95 (19.4)	1		1	
Yes	15 (48.4)	16 (51.6)	4.4 (2.2–9.2)	0.000	3.3 (1.4–7.6)	0.005*
Conflicts with family members						
Never	152 (85.2)	43 (28.8)	1		1	
Sometimes/Often	158 (69.9)	68 (30.1)	2.5 (1.6–3.8)	0.000	2.5 (1.5-4.0)	0.000*
Social support						
High social support	212 (92.6)	17 (7.4)	1		1	
Moderate social support	198 (67.8)	94 (32.2)	5.9 (3.4–10.2)	0.000	5.6 (3.2–10)	0.000*
IPV						
Non-present IPV	389 (81.5)	88 (18.5)			1	
Present IPV	21 (47.7)	23 (52.3)	4.8 (2.5–9.1)	0.000	2.6 (1.3–5.5)	0.007*

The symbol * indicates statistically significant values at p < 0.005.

This study indicates mothers who experience mental health problems during pregnancy are more likely to experience PDS. Similar findings have been reported in studies in Vietnam (46), Thailand (47), and South Korea (48). This finding may be due to hormonal imbalance during pregnancy and the postpartum period contributing to a relapse of depression (27). While results are mixed, an increasing body of research suggests PPD with onset proximal to childbirth, is a discrete depressive disorder, highlighting the importance of integrating screening, and mental health support into routine maternal care (49, 50). Integrating mental health into perinatal care requires providers are empowered with the skills necessary for them to offer basic but essential services for PDS, especially in lower- and middle-income countries where there is often very limited access to mental health specialists. Research indicates non-physician primary care providers and midwives, can deliver basic evidencebased interventions for depression occurring in perinatal women in non-specialist settings, as described in the mental health Gap Action Programme Intervention Guide (46-48, 50).

Affirming other studies, lack of social support and experience of frequent conflicts with family members was a risk factors for PDD (26, 51–53). It is possible conflicts occur in societies such as Lao PDR where patriarchal cultural norms are predominant and mothers-in-law may have a significant influence on how the newborn and mother should be taken care of. In countries amid a demographic transition, such as Lao PPDR, there may also be conflicts related to more traditional and more contemporary infant care, such as the feeding of colostrum to the newborn (54). Patriarchal cultural norms may also contribute to IPV, and as elsewhere, IPV was associated with PDS (24, 55) and is likely to be explained by the social, emotional, and physical isolation often felt by women exposed to IPV and the unpredictability of the abuser (55–57). This underlines the need for healthcare providers to include discussion of social support and family context in their consults with perinatal women. Low public awareness and stigma about mental disorders, and availability and acceptability of health services are also salient and symptoms of PDS may go unrecognized or be attributed to non-medical causes (49).

This study has some limitations. The study was conducted in only two districts, one urban and one peri-urban, within Vientiane Capital and cannot be considered representative of all districts in Vientiane Capital. As a cross-sectional study, we could only examine factors associated with PDS and cannot make claims about causality. Further, the EPDS provides an indicator of symptoms and is not a clinical diagnosis of depression, nor has the Lao version of the EPDS version been validated in Lao PDR, although in this study good internal consistency was demonstrated (Cronbach's alpha 0.75). We also recognize the limitation of self-report measures which may be prone to social desirability bias, especially given the stigma associated with mental illness. We also cannot exclude the possibility of recall bias. Also of note, this study was conducted before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, and it is possible that since then rates of PDS are higher (58, 59), underscoring the need for early detection and support for those at risk of, or experiencing, PPD.

CONCLUSION

The study identified a high proportion of mothers with postnatal depressive symptoms in a context where there is limited support for mental health disorders. This highlights the need to screen and treat mothers who present with PDS, as not doing so exposes mother and their children to a range of negative health and social outcomes. In contexts where access to mental health specialists has severely constrained maternal and child healthcare providers at primary health care must be supported to develop the necessary skills to identify risk factors and symptoms and offer basic essential services for PDS. Addressing the stigma associated with mental health illness and domestic violence that prevents women from seeking healthcare, must also be developed, implemented, and evaluated.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethic Committee of the University of Health Sciences, Lao PDR. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AX developed the research proposal, designed the instrument, collected data in the field sites analyzed the data, and wrote

REFERENCES

- Wang Z, Liu J, Shuai H, Cai Z, Fu X, Liu Y, et al. Mapping global prevalence of depression among postpartum women. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2021) 11:543. doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01663-6
- 2. WHO. Women and Health: Today's Evidence Tomorrow's Agenda. Geneva: World Health Organization (2009).
- O'Hara MW, Swain AM. Rates and risk of postpartum depression-a metaanalysis. Int Rev Psychiatry. (1996) 8:37–54. doi: 10.3109/09540269609037816
- Fisher J, Mello MCd, Patel V, Rahman A, Tran T, Holton S, et al. Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in lowand lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Bull World Health Organ.* (2012) 90:139–49. doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.091850
- Lee TSD, Chung KHT. Postnatal depression: an update. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. (2007) 21:183–91. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2006.10.003
- Robertson E, Grace S, Wallington T, Stewart DE. Antenatal risk factors for postpartum depression: a synthesis of recent literature. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2004) 26:289–95. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2004.02.006
- Howard LM, Flach C, Mehay A, Sharp D, Tylee A. The prevalence of suicidal ideation identified by the edinburgh postnatal depression scale in postpartum women in primary care: findings from the RESPOND trial. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2011) 11:57. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-11-57
- 8. Orsolini L, Valchera A, Vecchiotti R, Tomasetti C, Iasevoli F, Fornaro M, et al. Suicide during perinatal period: epidemiology, risk factors, and clinical correlates. *Front Psychiatry*. (2016) 7:138. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00138
- Wisner KL, Sit DK, McShea MC, Rizzo DM, Zoretich RA, Hughes CL, et al. Onset timing, thoughts of self-harm, and diagnoses in postpartum women with screen-positive depression findings. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2013) 70:490–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.87
- Madeghe BA, Kimani VN, Vander Stoep A, Nicodimos S, Kumar M. Postpartum depression and infant feeding practices in a low income urban settlement in Nairobi-Kenya. *BMC Res Notes.* (2016) 9:506. doi: 10.1186/s13104-016-2307-9
- Patel V, DeSouza N, Rodrigues M. Postnatal depression and infant growth and development in low income countries: a cohort study from Goa, India. Arch Dis Child. (2003) 88:34–7. doi: 10.1136/adc.88.1.34
- Paulson JF, Dauber S, Leiferman JA. Individual and combined effects of postpartum depression in mothers and fathers on parenting behavior. *Pediatrics.* (2006) 118:659–68. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2948

the draft manuscript. VS, MT, BQ, and JD contributed to the statistical analysis, interpretation of results, and commented and made revisions to previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Ministry of Health of the Lao PDR and the LEARN Project.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Ministry of Health of the Lao PDR, the LEARN Project, the University of Health Sciences, and the Hanoi University of Public Health, my thesis advisors, and all the teachers and reviewers who have supported my studies and research. I am most grateful to the headmaster, the directors and health workers of the Hadsayfong and Sisattanak Districts Hospitals as well as the village health workers and all participants who kindly agreed to participate in this research.

- Surkan PJ, Kawachi I, Ryan LM, Berkman LF, Carvalho Vieira LM, Peterson KE. Maternal depressive symptoms, parenting self-efficacy, and child growth. *Am J Public Health*. (2008) 98:125–32. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2006.108332
- Surkan PJ, Kennedy CE, Hurley KM, Black MM. Maternal depression and early childhood growth in developing countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bull World Health Organ.* (2011) 89:607–15. doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.088187
- Kheirabadi G-R, Maracy M-R, Barekatain M, Casey PR. Risk factors of postpartum depression in rural areas of Isfahan Province, Iran. Arch Iran Med. (2009) 12:461–7.
- Hidaka BH. Depression as a disease of modernity: explanations for increasing prevalence. J Affect Disord. (2012) 140:205–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.12.036
- Ghaedrahmati M, Kazemi A, Kheirabadi G, Ebrahimi A, Bahrami M. Postpartum depression risk factors: a narrative review. *J Educ Health Promot.* (2017) 6:60. doi: 10.4103/jehp.jehp_9_16
- O'Hare C, O'Sullivan V, Flood S, Kenny RA. Seasonal and meteorological associations with depressive symptoms in older adults: geo-epidemiological study. J Affect Disord. (2016) 191:172–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.029
- Sampson M, Duron JF, Mauldin RL, Kao D, Davidson M. Postpartum depression, risk factors, and child's home environment among mothers in a home visiting program. J Child Fam Stud. (2017) 26:2772–81. doi: 10.1007/s10826-017-0783-8
- Ghosh A, Goswami S. Evaluation of post partum depression in a tertiary hospital. *The J Obstet Gynecol India*. (2011) 61:528–30. doi: 10.1007/s13224-011-0077-9
- 21. Inphouvieng C. Prevalence of postpartum depression among women in Oudomxai Province (Master of Public Health Thesis). University of Health Sciences, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR (2017).
- Chojenta CL, Lucke JC, Forder PM, Loxton DJ. Maternal health factors as risks for postnatal depression: a prospective longitudinal study. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e147246. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147246
- Davey HL, Tough SC, Adair CE, Benzies K. Risk factors for subclinical and major postpartum depression among a community cohort of Canadian women. *Matern Child Health J.* (2011) 15:866–75. doi: 10.1007/s10995-008-0314-8
- Ahmad NA, Silim UA, Rosman A, Mohamed M, Chan YY, Kasim NM, et al. Postnatal depression and intimate partner violence: a nationwide clinic-based cross-sectional study in Malaysia. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e20649. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020649

- 25. Desai N, Mehta R, Ganjiwale J. Study of prevalence and risk factors of postpartum depression. *Natl J Med Res.* (2012) 2:194–8.
- Roomruangwong C, Epperson CN. Perinatal depression in Asian women: prevalence, associated factors, and cultural aspects. *Asian Biomed.* (2011) 5:179–93. doi: 10.5372/1905-7415.0502.024
- Adamu AF, Adinew YM. Domestic violence as a risk factor for postpartum depression among Ethiopian women: facility based study. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health.* (2018) 14:109–19. doi: 10.2174/1745017901814010109
- Callister LC, Beckstrand RL, Corbett C. Postpartum depression and culture: pesado Corazon. Am J Matern Child Nurs. (2010) 35:254–61. doi: 10.1097/NMC.0b013e3181e597bf
- de Boer HJ, Lamxay V, Björk L. Steam sauna and mother roasting in Lao PDR: practices and chemical constituents of essential oils of plant species used in postpartum recovery. *BMC Complement Altern Med.* (2011) 11:128. doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-11-128
- Dennis C-L, Fung K, Grigoriadis S, Robinson GE, Romans S, Ross L. Traditional postpartum practices and rituals: a qualitative systematic review. *Womens Health.* (2007) 3:487–502. doi: 10.2217/17455057.3.4.487
- Bina R. The impact of cultural factors upon postpartum depression: a literature review. *Health Care Women Int.* (2008) 29:568–92. doi: 10.1080/07399330802089149
- 32. Ministry of Health. *Report on Psychiatric Service Deliveries in 2018*. Vientiane: Ministry of Health (2018).
- Lao Statistics Bureau. Results of Population and Housing Census 2015. (2015). Available online at: https://www.lsb.gov.la/pdf/PHC-ENG-FNAL-WEB.pdf.
- Zimet GD, Dahlem NW, Zimet SG, Farley GK. The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. J Pers Assess. (1988) 52:30–41. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2
- Brown JB, Lent B, Schmidt G, Sas G. Application of the woman abuse screening tool (WAST) and WAST-short in the family practice setting. J Family Pract. (2000) 49:896–903. doi: 10.1037/t04577-000
- Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression: development of the 10-item edinburgh postnatal depression scale. Br J Psychiatry. (1987) 150:782–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.150.6.782
- Panyayong B. Postpartum depression among Thai women: a national survey. J Med Assoc Thai. (2013) 96:761–7.
- Gausia K, Fisher C, Ali M, Oosthuizen J. Magnitude and contributory factors of postnatal depression: a community-based cohort study from a rural subdistrict of Bangladesh. *Psychol Med.* (2009) 39:999–1007. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708004455
- Patel V, Rodrigues M, Gender DeSouza N. Poverty and post-natal depression: a cohort study from Goa, India. Am J Psychiatry. (2002) 159:43–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.1.43
- Rahman A, Iqbal Z, Harrington R. Life events, social support and depression in childbirth: perspectives from a rural community in the developing world. J Arch Gen psychiatry. (2003) 33:1161. doi: 10.1017/S00332917030 08286
- Regmi S, Sligl W, Carter D, Grut W, Seear M. A controlled study of postpartum depression among Nepalese women: validation of the Edinburgh postpartum depression scale in Kathmandu. *J Trop Med Int Health*. (2002) 7:378–82. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3156.2002.00866.x
- Gomez-Beloz A, Williams MA, Sanchez SE, Lam N. Intimate partner violence and risk for depression among postpartum women in Lima, Peru. J Violence. (2009) 24:380–98. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.24.3.380
- Sawyer A, Ayers S, Smith H. Pre-and postnatal psychological wellbeing in Africa: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2010) 123:17–29. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.06.027
- Xiong R, Deng A, Wan B, Liu Y. Prevalence and factors associated with postpartum depression in women from single-child families. *Int J Gynecol Obstetric*. (2018) 141:194–9. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12461
- Do TKL, Nguyen TTH, Pham TTH. Postpartum depression and risk factors among Vietnamese women. *Biomed Res Int.* (2018) 2018:4028913. doi: 10.1155/2018/4028913
- 46. Tho Tran N, Nguyen HTT, Nguyen HD, Ngo TV, Gammeltoft T, Rasch V, et al. Emotional violence exerted by intimate partners and postnatal depressive symptoms among women in Vietnam: a prospective cohort study. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0207108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0207108

- Petpornprapas E, Lotrakul M. Postpartum depression: its relationship to childbirth and child health at Ramathibodi Hospital. J Psychiatr Assoc Thailand. (2009) 54:29–36. Available online at: https://he01.tci-thaijo.org/ index.php/JPAT/article/view/7523
- Park J-h, Karmaus W, Zhang H. Prevalence of and risk factors for depressive symptoms in Korean women throughout pregnancy and in postpartum period. *Asian Nurs Res.* (2015) 9:219–25. doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2015.03.004
- Batt MM, Duffy KA, Novick AM, Metcalf CA, Epperson CNE. Is postpartum depression different from depression occurring outside of the perinatal period? A review of the evidence. *Focus.* (2020) 18:106–19. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20190045
- Gelaye B, Rondon MB, Araya R, Williams MA. Epidemiology of maternal depression, risk factors, and child outcomes in low-income and middle-income countries. *J Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:973–82. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30284-X
- Murray L, Dunne MP, Van Vo T, Anh PN, Khawaja NG, Cao TN. Postnatal depressive symptoms amongst women in Central Vietnam: a cross-sectional study investigating prevalence and associations with social, cultural and infant factors. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth.* (2015) 15:234. doi: 10.1186/s12884-015-0662-5
- Stapleton LRT, Schetter CD, Westling E, Rini C, Glynn LM, Hobel CJ, et al. Perceived partner support in pregnancy predicts lower maternal and infant distress. J Fam Psychol. (2012) 26:453. doi: 10.1037/a0028332
- Elsenbruch S, Benson S, Rücke M, Rose M, Dudenhausen J, Pincus-Knackstedt MK, et al. Social support during pregnancy: effects on maternal depressive symptoms, smoking and pregnancy outcome. J Human Reproduct. (2007) 22:869–77. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del432
- Lee HM, Durham J, Booth J, Sychareun V. A qualitative study on the breastfeeding experiences of first-time mothers in Vientiane, Lao PDR. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. (2013) 13:223. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-13-223
- Campbell JC, Lewandowski LA. Mental and physical health effects of intimate partner violence on women and children. J Psychiatr Clin North America. (1997) 20:353–74. doi: 10.1016/S0193-953X(05)7 0317-8
- Ludermir AB, Lewis G, Valongueiro SA, de Araújo TVB, Araya R. Violence against women by their intimate partner during pregnancy and postnatal depression: a prospective cohort study. *J Lancet.* (2010) 376:903–10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60887-2
- Zhang Y, Zou S, Cao Y, Zhang Y. Relationship between domestic violence and postnatal depression among pregnant Chinese women. *Int J Gynecol Obstet*. (2012) 116:26–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2011.08.011
- Zanardo V, Manghina V, Giliberti L, Vettore M, Severino L, Straface G. Psychological impact of COVID-19 quarantine measures in northeastern Italy on mothers in the immediate postpartum period. *Int J Gynecol Obstet.* (2020) 150:184–8. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13249
- Mariño-Narvaez C, Puertas-Gonzalez JA, Romero-Gonzalez B, Peralta-Ramirez MI. Giving birth during the COVID-19 pandemic: the impact on birth satisfaction and postpartum depression. *Int J Gynecol Obstet.* (2021) 153:83–8. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13565

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xayyabouapha, Sychareun, Quyen, Thikeo and Durham. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Faith Practices Reduce Perinatal Anxiety and Depression in Muslim Women: A Mixed-Methods Scoping Review

Shannon D. Simonovich¹, Nadia Quad², Zehra Kanji¹ and Karen M. Tabb^{3*}

¹ School of Nursing, College of Science and Health, DePaul University, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Department of Biological Sciences, College of Science and Health, DePaul University, Chicago, IL, United States, ³ School of Social Work, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL, United States

Higher rates of depression and anxiety are reported among women who belong to racial and ethnic minority groups, contributing to adverse birth outcomes, and remains a taboo topic within the global Muslim community. Non-pharmacological coping mechanisms such as prayer may be employed to reduce perinatal depression and anxiety, however the literature is sparse on the use of this intervention among pregnant Muslim women. Therefore, we aimed to conduct a scoping review examining the use of Muslim faith practices on anxiety and depression in perinatal period. Nine studies were identified that demonstrate that Muslim faith practices reduce perinatal anxiety and depression symptoms. These studies demonstrate that prayers and other faith-based practices, including reciting parts of the Quran, saying a Dua, and listening to audio recordings of prayers are all effective in decreasing anxiety, depression, stress, pain and fear in Muslim women during pregnancy, during childbirth, during an unexpected cesarean section, and when experiencing infant loss. Despite the scoping review's small sample size, findings confirm that incorporation of faith practices effectively reduces perinatal depression and anxiety among Muslim women and should be utilized in clinical settings for non-pharmacological management of perinatal mood disorders.

Keywords: pregnancy, postpartum, mental health, faith, Muslim

INTRODUCTION

Perinatal mental health disorders are experienced by 10% of pregnant women across the globe (1). Rates of both depression and anxiety are higher among pregnant women who belong to racial and ethnic minority groups, with 17% experiencing depression, and 19% experiencing anxiety, respectively (2). It is well-documented that depression and anxiety during the perinatal period are associated with an increased risk of adverse birth outcomes such as preterm birth and low birth weight, particularly among women from racial minority groups (3, 4). Risks for poor obstetric and neonatal health outcomes in perinatal populations with mental health concerns are exacerbated by "concomitant conditions" including substance use, poverty and domestic violence (5). Despite the significant personal and societal cost of perinatal mood disorders, identification and treatment of perinatal anxiety and depression remain sparse with less than half of women diagnosed with major depression receiving treatment (6).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Santosh K. Chaturvedi, National Institute of Mental Health (NIH), United States

Reviewed by:

Kornelia Zareba, Medical Centre for Postgraduate Education, Poland Gaia Sampogna, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli," Italy

> *Correspondence: Karen M. Tabb ktabb@illinois.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 December 2021 Accepted: 22 April 2022 Published: 24 May 2022

Citation:

Simonovich SD, Quad N, Kanji Z and Tabb KM (2022) Faith Practices Reduce Perinatal Anxiety and Depression in Muslim Women: A Mixed-Methods Scoping Review. Front. Psychiatry 13:826769. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.826769 Muslim women are part of the fastest-growing religious group in the world, with 24%, 1.8 billion people, identifying as Muslim (7). The mental health of Muslim women during the perinatal period is particularly important to address given the pervasive stigma surrounding mental health in this community which creates barriers to treatment (8). Muslim women may also be at increased risk for stress and anxiety during pregnancy by "easily being identified as different from others due to the observance of the hijab" (9). Muslims experience "ongoing discrimination and self-stigma" similar to that seen in other racial, ethnic and religious communities and report lower rates of accessing mental health services (10–12). The social stigma surrounding perinatal mental health in the Muslim community, paired with inequitable access to care, may further health disparities experienced by this community.

Islamic faith practices are impactful in the daily lives of the Muslim community and vary among individuals but are always performed with intention for Allah, the Arabic word for God. Common Islamic faith practices include structured prayers and rituals, reciting the Qur'an, remembrance of Allah referred to as dhikr, and saying a Dua in which individuals request guidance, make a personal appeal or invocation "either on behalf of another or for oneself" (13). In Islam, prayers and faith-based practices are used to help overcome difficult times, including times of pain and fear, and become closer to a higher power (14). While perinatal mental health may remain a taboo topic in the Muslim community, the use of Islamic faith practices to reduce anxiety and depression has been demonstrated in the general population studies and among cancer patients (15, 16). There has also been recent study of the relationship between perceived stress, religious coping and religiosity among migrant Muslim women (9). However, the relationship between Islamic faith practices and perinatal anxiety and depression has not been described to date. Therefore, the purpose of this scoping review was to examine and summarize the efficacy and utility of faith practices on perinatal anxiety and depression in Muslim women during the antenatal and postnatal periods.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Eligibility Criteria

This scoping review utilized Arksey and O'Malley's methodology to systematically review the literature pertinent to this topic (17). Eligibility criteria, databases, inclusion and exclusion criteria were developed with the full study team a priori. Measurement of utilization of Islamic faith practices and perinatal mood disorders including anxiety and depression directed our study design. The research question guiding our study was, "What effect do Islamic faith practices have on anxiety and depression in Muslim women during the perinatal period, including during pregnancy and the postpartum period?" For inclusivity in study design as the first scoping review to date on this emerging topic all published peerreview journal articles written in English were considered for inclusion in our scoping review. Measurement of Islamic faith practices was broad to capture all original research studies that focused on activities including both active and passive exposure to Qur'an recitation. Measurement of perinatal mood disorders included both formal assessment of anxiety or depression during pregnancy and postpartum via scale measures as well as self-report data.

Databases utilized for this scoping review included PubMed, and each of the five EBSCOhost databases: CINAHL Complete, Academic Search Complete, APA PsycInfo, Healthsource: Nursing/Academic Edition, and Women's Studies International. Search strategy in PubMed was completed using a combination of the following keywords: (mental health OR mental illness OR mentally ill OR depression OR depressive OR depressed OR anxiety) AND (pregnant OR pregnancy OR perinatal OR antepartum OR prepartum OR antenatal OR antenatally OR prenatal OR prenatally) AND [Muslim(my) OR Muslim(tiab) OR Islam(mh) OR islam (tiab) OR Islamic (tiab) OR Sunni (tiab) OR Shia (tiab) OR Quran (tiab)]. Search strategy in all other databases utilized a combination of the following keywords: (mental health OR mental illness OR mentally ill OR depression OR depressive OR depressed OR anxiety) AND (pregnant OR pregnancy OR perinatal OR antepartum OR prepartum OR antenatal* OR prenatal*) AND [TI (Muslim OR islam* OR Sunni OR Shia OR Quran) OR AB (Muslim OR Islam* OR Sunni OR Shia OR Quran) OR SU (Muslim OR islam* OR Sunni OR Shia OR Quran)]. Database searches were completed from July 2020 to September 2020. All peer-reviewed articles with publication dates through September 2020 were included for examination. The data collection and screening process began with a total of 249 abstracts and resulted in a total of 9 included peer-reviewed articles (Figure 1).

Literature Screening

Literature screening began with review of the abstracts, utilizing RAYYAN. Each abstract was reviewed independently by two content experts (NQ, ZKG) for the following inclusion criteria: (1) measurement of Islamic faith practices, (2) measurement of mood disorders, specifically anxiety and/or depression, including use of descriptive behaviors such as "anxious thoughts, worry, rumination, nerves" (3) population of pregnant women up until delivery, (4) original research study in peer-reviewed publication, (5) available in English. Discordant results for abstracts as well as "maybe" articles were reviewed in tandem by two perinatal mental health research scientists (SDS, KMT). For full text review, articles were obtained for all those which met the inclusion criteria. Full text reviews were conducted by SDS and KMT with no disagreements.

RESULTS

Following completion of the scoping review, nine articles were included for synthesis on this research topic. In sum, 6 articles were quantitative in methodology while three were qualitative. The results of this scoping review are organized by methodological approach, first broadly describing quantitative findings followed by qualitative. Among the quantitative studies included in this scoping review, results are discussed in sum based upon the Muslim faith practice utilized as the intervention in the study design.



Quantitative Studies Describing Islamic Faith Practices and Perinatal Mood

Across the six quantitative studies examined in this scoping review examining the relationship between perinatal anxiety and depression and Muslim faith practices as nonpharmacological interventions, four studies were completed in Iran, with the remaining 2 studies conducted in Indonesia from 2016 to 2020 (**Table 1**). All quantitative studies, 5 intervention-based and 1 cross-sectional design, were conducted during pregnancy.

Among the five intervention studies, including randomized control trials and quasi-experimental designs, various interventions were utilized including listening to Qur'an recitation recordings in three studies (19–21), and educational interventions around mindfulness, anxiety and Muslim faith in two studies (22, 23). Timing of interventions included 4 studies during the second and early third trimesters, ranging from 16

weeks gestation to 34 weeks gestation, and one study during the first state of labor (20).

There were various measures of anxiety, depression and stress present among these 6 studies including DASS-21, the Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale, EPDS, STAI, PSS, the Beck anxiety and depression questionnaire, the Spielberger anxiety scale, and RAS-R. There were no two studies that utilized the same measure of mental health in pregnant women. Among the 5 intervention studies, all utilized pre-test post-test design with two or more measures for mental health throughout pregnancy. Across these 5 peer-reviewed intervention studies, results consistently reported significant reductions in mental health scores from the pre-intervention to post-intervention time points. Hamidiyanti and Pratiwi (19) intervention of listening to Qur'an recitation recordings from 28 to 34 weeks, 3 times a week for 4 weeks found that HARS anxiety scores significantly reduced post-intervention with HARS mean post-intervention

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of quantitative studies.

Author(s), year	Study location	Study design	Sample size	Perinatal mood outcome examined	Type of Muslim faith practice	Timing of intervention	Intervention frequency	Formal measures	Outcomes and effect size
Pakzad et al. (18)	Iran	Cross- sectional	300	Depression, anxiety, stress	Islamic Lifestyle Questionnaire	N/A	No intervention	Islamic lifestyle questionnaire and DASS-21	Significant inverse relationship between DASS-21 mental health scores and Islamic lifestyle questionnaire ($r = -0.31$); mean score of mental health measure decreases 0.09 per unit increase in Islamic lifestyle score.
Hamidiyanti and Pratiw (19)	Indonesia	Non-blind RCT	30	Anxiety	Listening to Qur'an recitation recording	28–34 weeks	15 min, three times per week for 4 consecutive weeks	Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (HARS)	Anxiety scores significantly reduced post-intervention. HARS mean post-intervention 12.88 (1.31) in intervention group vs. 15.06 (0.77) in control group ($p < 0.01$)
Irmawati et al. (20)	. Indonesia	Quasi- experimental, pre-test post-test	40	Anxiety	Listening to Qur'an recitation recording	During first stage of labor	one time intervention, during labor	anxiety measure, also level of cortisol and time of labor	Friedman-test demonstrates significant reduction in level of anxiety ($p < 0.001$). Level of cortisol and time of labor were also significantly lower ($p < 0.001$).
Jabbari et al. (21)	Iran	RCT	168	Stress, anxiety, depression	Listening to Qur'an recitation recording	Second trimester	20 min sessions over 3 weeks	EPDS, STAI, PSS	After intervention, scores of perceived stress, anxiety and depression were significantly lower in both translation group and non-translation Qur'an group compared to control.
Aslami et al. (22)	Iran	Quasi- experimental, pre-test post-test	75	anxiety, depression	mindfulness protocol based on Islamic-Spiritual Schemes vs. cognitive behavioral therapy	16–32 weeks	8 weeks, maximum 2-hour session per week	Beck anxiety and depression questionnaire	Difference between average mindfulness group and CBT group in anxiety was -12.133 and in depression variable was -10.53 ($p = 0.001$).
Mokhtaryan et al. (23)	Iran	RCT	84	Anxiety	Religious teaching on anxiety	20–28 weeks	6 weekly 60–90 min sessions	Spielberger anxiety scale, RAS-R	Significant different between intervention and control groups both after the intervention and 2 months after the study ($P \le 0.001$).

12.88 (1.31) in intervention group vs. 15.06 (0.77) in control group (p < 0.01). Jabbari et al.'s (21) intervention study of Qur'an recitation recordings during the second trimester, in 20-min sessions over 3 weeks, scores of perceived stress, anxiety and depression were significantly lower in comparison to the control group. In Irmawati et al. (20) intervention study of listening to Qur'an recitation recordings during the first state of labor, Friedman-test demonstrates significant reduction in level of anxiety (p < 0.001) with significant reduction in cortisol levels and time of labor as well (p < 0.001).

The two educational interventions around mindfulness, anxiety and Muslim faith reported similarly significant results. Aslami et al.'s (22) study of the impact of a "mindfulness protocol based on Islamic-Spiritual Schemes" in comparison to traditional cognitive behavioral therapy exposed pregnant women to 8 weeks of 2-h per week session from 16 to 32 weeks gestation, utilizing the Beck anxiety and depression questionnaire to assess perinatal mood. Study findings demonstrated statistically significant difference between average mindfulness group and CBT group in anxiety was -12.133 and in depression variable was -10.53 (p = 0.001). Mokhtaryan et al.'s (23) study of perinatal anxiety focused on religious teaching on anxiety based upon Islamic principles, with pregnant women from 20 to 28 weeks including 6 weekly sessions lasting 60-90 min each, utilizing the Spielberger anxiety scale and RAS-R as formal measures of mental health. Pre-intervention to post-intervention found statistically significant reductions in anxiety both directly after the intervention as well as 2 months after the study (P < 0.001).

One study included was cross-sectional in nature, with a sample size of 300, in which pregnant women completed the Islamic Lifestyle Questionnaire and DASS-21. Correlation analyses noted that a statistically significant inverse relationship between mental health scores and responses to the Islamic lifestyle questionnaire (r = -0.31) with regression analyses demonstrating that a "mean score of mental health measure decreases 0.09 per unit increase in Islamic lifestyle score" (18). This study finding indicates that there may be an overall correlation between lower mental health scores in Muslim women who self-report a higher rate of Islamic faith practices.

Qualitative Studies Describing Islamic Faith Practices and Perinatal Mood

Qualitative results of the scoping review include three original research articles examining the relationship between Muslim faith practices and perinatal mood during the postpartum period (**Table 2**). Mutmainnah et al.'s Indonesian study published in 2019 reported that "doing dhikr and reciting Al Qur'an" were utilized as effective coping mechanisms to reduce perinatal anxiety in pregnant Muslim women, promoting how women felt "calm and peaceful doing so." The remaining two qualitative studies examining Muslim faith practices and perinatal mood were completed with postpartum women who had experienced loss of their child (25, 26). While the two studies were completed in Somaliland and Malaysia, respectively, both studies consistently reported that Muslim faith practices including recitation of the Qur'an and reading Dua reduced perinatal anxiety, fear and worries supporting the women in processing their grief and easing sorrow around loss, noting that "they overcame the hardship by praying to Allah" (25) and "felt calm" during Muslim prayer recitation (26).

DISCUSSION

This scoping review included nine quantitative and qualitative studies which consistently described the utility of faith practices in reducing perinatal anxiety and depression symptoms in a global sample of Muslim women. Specifically, the studies in this review, found overwhelmingly that prayers and other faith-based practices, including but not limited to reciting parts of the Quran, saying a Dua, or just the simple act of listening to prayers on a smart phone, aided in decreasing stress, pain, and fear in Muslim women before and during childbirth, when experiencing perinatal loss, and during an unexpected cesarean section surgery (19, 23).

Prayer, as a healing practice for mood disorders, has been well-documented in many religious groups (Kirk) (27). Literature to date reports the utility of faith-based coping mechanisms in perinatal populations with Lara-Cinisomo and colleagues' work describing religiosity as protective postpartum against depression in Latina women (28). Furthermore, Keefe and colleagues' qualitative examination of the relationship between faith and spirituality among Black and Latina mothers reinforces that faith practices can be a source of peace for postpartum women who have a history of postpartum depression (29). While nonpharmacological coping mechanisms such as prayer have been demonstrated to reduce perinatal depression and anxiety in Christian childbearing individuals, this scoping review is the first known mixed methods publication of the utility and efficacy of faith practices in reducing perinatal mood symptoms among Muslim women.

Research to date highlights the importance of investment in public health interventions paired with additional perinatal mental health services, to reduce mental health related maternal child morbidity and mortality (5). Non-pharmacological interventions that rely upon individuals' existing values and coping mechanisms, such as faith practices, may be one free and effective public health intervention to reduce perinatal anxiety and depression across numerous religious groups. With perinatal mental health disorders rarely being discussed among the Muslim community and other religious groups, healthcare providers can educate patients and their families about the use of faith practices to reduce perinatal anxiety and depression symptoms at the time of screening. This nonpharmacological intervention should be made available to both antenatal and postpartum populations when faced with periods of stress or difficulty, particularly among women uninterested in pharmacological interventions for mental health symptoms.

Increased cultural awareness around faith practices for diverse populations should be included in training for patient-facing members of healthcare organizations and public health systems including obstetricians and gynecologists, certified nurse

TABLE 2 | Characteristics of qualitative studies.

Author(s), year	Study location	Study design	Sample size	Sample characteristics	Outcomes	
Mutmainnah Indonesia and Afiyanti (24)		One-on-one interview, single session	7	Postpartum women, youngest child 2 months to 1 year, age 24–31, self-identified as Muslim	5 of 7 participants reported that doing dhikr and reciting Al Qur'an as a coping mechanism for reducing perinatal anxiety.	
Osman et al. (25)	Somaliland	One-on-one interview, single session	10	Postpartum women, within 6 months of birth experienced stillbirth at or after 28 weeks gestation, age 17–43, 5 primipara, 5 multipara	Participants reported Muslim prayer reduced anxiety, fear and worries around stillbirth and child loss.	
Sutan and Miskam (26)	Malaysia	Multimethod: One sample completed series of one-on-one interviews, one sample completed a single focus group interview, a third sample completed an in-depth interview within a week following a perinatal loss	16 individual women, 5 women in focus group, 10 sets of parents	Postpartum women, within 6 to 12 months following perinatal loss, as well as couples within a week following a loss.	Religious practices of reciting the Qur'an and reading Dua described as notable aspect of support during grief to ease sorrow of perinatal loss.	

midwives, nurses, social workers, public health providers and patient care support staff. Future research should consider testing the utility of audio or visual recordings of prayer, from different global faith traditions, in the reduction of perinatal anxiety and depression symptoms during in-patient hospital stays. Integration of faith practice recordings on hospital televisions would allow bedside clinicians and support staff to make this intervention readily available to those interested and enhance the utilization of this coping mechanism when preparing for birth or experiencing perinatal loss. Discussion of faith practices as public health screenings may increase a sense of community support around this issue, as faith-based multimedia is available for download directly onto individuals' personal mobile devices.

Limitations

Despite the number of strengths in this review, a potential limitation of this scoping review includes the limited number of studies to date, that discuss the correlation between perinatal mood disorders and faith-based practices used by Muslim women. Additionally, most studies included in this review paper take place in primarily Muslim countries. More research is needed to understand perinatal mood disorders in Muslim women who have moved and assimilated in new areas.

REFERENCES

- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. *Ann Intern Med.* (2018) 169:467–73. doi: 10.7326/M18-0850
- Katz J, Crean HF, Cerulli C, Poleshuck EL. Material hardship and mental health symptoms among a predominantly low income sample of pregnant women seeking prenatal care. *Matern Child Health J.* (2018). 22, 1360– 1367. doi: 10.1007/s10995-018-2518-x
- 3. Simonovich SD, Nidey NL, Gavin AR, Pineros-Leano M, Hsieh W, Sbrilli MD, et al. Meta-analysis of antenatal depression and adverse

CONCLUSION

Consideration of this study's findings should also include creating in-patient hospital environments that are respectful of women and their families during prayer. Supporting the utilization of faith practices in Muslim women, and others, during the intrapartum period may include thoughtfully allowing privacy during prayer, temporary removal of continuous monitoring devices, and asking if patients would like to request religious service support from the hospital directory of faith leaders. Acknowledging to antenatal and postpartum individuals that their faith practices are available to them as a resource and may be helpful in relieving perinatal mood symptoms may create an opportunity building trust and rapport with pregnant patients and their families.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SDS, NQ, and KT conceived and designed the study. NQ and ZK performed the search strategy and abstract review process, with supervision by SDS and KT. SDS, NQ, ZK, and KT wrote the first draft and contributed to the final draft. SDS and NQ wrote the introduction and wrote the methods. SDS wrote the results. SDS, ZK, and KT wrote the discussion. All authors viewed and approved the final version.

birth outcomes in US populations, 2010-20. *Health Aff.* (2021) 40:1560– 5. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2021.00801

- Ding XX, Wu YL, Xu SJ, Zhu RP, Jia XM, Zhang SF, et al. Maternal anxiety during pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. J Affect Disord. (2014) 159:103– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.02.027
- Howard LM, Khalifeh H. Perinatal mental health: a review of progress and challenges. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:313–27. doi: 10.1002/wps.20769
- Ko JY, Farr SL, Dietz PM, Robbins CL. Depression and treatment among US pregnant and nonpregnant women of reproductive age, 2005–2009. J Women's Health. (2012) 21:830–6. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2011.3466

- 7. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/08/09/muslims-and-islam-key-findings-in-the-u-s-and-around-the-world/
- 8. https://quod.lib.umich.edu/j/jmmh/10381607.0007.102?view=text;rgn=main
- 9. https://journals.publishing.umich.edu/jmmh/article/id/265/
- Ahmed L. Women and Gender in Islam: Historical Roots of a Modern Debate. New Haven: Yale University Press (1992).
- Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health. Guidance for Commissioners of Mental Health Services for People From Black and Minority Ethnic Communities. (2014). Available online at: http://wcen.co.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2016/11/JCP-BME-guide-May-20141.pdf (accessed November 1, 2021).
- Mushtaq SB, Ayvaci ER, Hashimi M, North CS. Bringing Psychiatry into the Mosque: analysis of a community psychoeducation intervention. J Psychiatr Pract. (2020) 26:249–57. doi: 10.1097/PRA.00000000000464
- Gardet, Du'a". Encyclopaedia of Islam. 2nd ed. Available online at: https:// referenceworks.brillonline.com/browse/encyclopaedia-of-islam-2
- Charles C, Daroszweski E. Culturally competent nursing care of the Muslim women. *Ment Health Nurs.* (2012) 33:61– 3. doi: 10.3109/01612840.2011.596613
- Saad NK, Sannam KR, Anam W, Rashid H. Impact of Islamic practices on the mental health of Muslims. *Int Dent Medical J Adv Res.* (2019). Available online at: https://www.academia.edu/20811677/IMPACT_OF_ISLAMIC_ PRACTICES_ON_THE_MENTAL_HEALTH_OF_MUSLIMS
- Basri NA, et al. Islamic religiosity, depression and anxiety among muslim cancer patients. *IAFOR* J Psychol Behav Sci. (2015) 1–12. doi: 10.22492/ijpbs.1.1.04
- Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol. (2005) 8:19– 32. doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616
- Pakzad M, Dolatian M, Jahangiri Y, Nasiri M, Emami Zeydi A. Relationship between Islamic lifestyle and mental health in pregnant women: a cross-sectional study. *Bangladesh J Med Sci.* (2020) 19:394–400. doi: 10.3329/bjms.v19i3.45854
- Hamidiyanti B, Pratiwi I. Effect of listening to the Quran on anxiety level in primipara. *Health Spiritual Med Ethics*. (2019) 6:52–6. doi: 10.29252/jhsme.6.1.52
- Irmawati V, Syamsuddin S, Arundhana A. The effect of listening to the recitation of Qur'an (Murottal Ar-Rahman surah) on the level of anxiety of pregnant women in Siti Fatimah maternal and child hospital. *Enfermeria Clinica*. (2019) 30:238–42. doi: 10.1016/j.enfcli.2019.07.097
- Jabbari B, Mirghafourvand M, Sehhatie F, Mohammad-Alizadeh-Charandabi S. The effect of holy Quran voice with and without translation on stress, anxiety and depression during pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. J Relig Health. (2020) 59:544. doi: 10.1007/s10943-017-0417-x

- 22. Aslami E, Alipour A, Najib FS, Aghayosefi AR. A comparative study of mindfulness efficiency based on Islamic-spiritual schemes and group cognitive behavioral therapy on reduction of anxiety and depression in pregnant women. *Int J Community Based Nurs Midwifery*. (2017) 5:144–52.
- Mokhtaryan T, Yazdanpanahi Z, Akbarzadeh M, Amooee S, Zare N. The impact of Islamic religious education on anxiety level in primipara mothers. J Family Med Prim Care. (2016) 5:331–7. doi: 10.4103/2249-4863. 192314
- Mutmainnah M, Afiyanti Y. The experiences of spirituality during pregnancy and child birth in Indonesian Muslim women. *Enfermeria Clinica*. (2019) 29:495–99. doi: 10.1016/j.enfcli.2019.04.074
- Osman H, Egal J, Kiruja J, Osman F, Byrskog U, Erlandsson K. Women's experiences of stillbirth in Somaliland: a phenomenological description. Sex Reprod Healthc. (2017) 11:107–11. doi: 10.1016/j.srhc.2016.12.002
- Sutan R, Miskam H. Psychosocial impact of perinatal loss among Muslim women. BMC Women's Health. (2012) 12:1–9. doi: 10.1186/1472-6874-12-15
- Robert KH, et al. I find peace there': how faith, church, and spirituality help mothers of colour cope with postpartum depression. *Ment Health Relig Cult.* (2016) 19:722–33. doi: 10.1080/13674676.2016.1244663
- Lara-Cinisomo S, Wood J, Fujimoto EM. A Systematic review of cultural orientation and perinatal depression in Latina women: are acculturation, Marianismo, and religiosity risks or protective factors? Arch Womens Ment Health. (2018) 22:557–67. doi: 10.1007/s00737-018-0920-4
- Johnson KA. Prayer: a helpful aid in recovery from depression. J Relig Health. (2018) 57:2290–300. doi: 10.1007/s10943-018-0564-8

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Simonovich, Quad, Kanji and Tabb. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in **Psychiatry**

Explores and communicates innovation in the field of psychiatry to improve patient outcomes

The third most-cited journal in its field, using translational approaches to improve therapeutic options for mental illness, communicate progress to clinicians and researchers, and consequently to improve patient treatment outcomes.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



